

This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of a project to make the world's books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was never subject to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domain books are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that's often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book's long journey from the publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belong to the public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have taken steps to prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

- + *Make non-commercial use of the files* We designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these files for personal, non-commercial purposes.
- + Refrain from automated querying Do not send automated queries of any sort to Google's system: If you are conducting research on machine translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encourage the use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.
- + *Maintain attribution* The Google "watermark" you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping them find additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.
- + *Keep it legal* Whatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume that just because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users in other countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can't offer guidance on whether any specific use of any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book's appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in any manner anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google's mission is to organize the world's information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps readers discover the world's books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on the web at http://books.google.com/



Ala C



MHMANYWOOD JOS



400 , T563 v, I

Digitized by Google

Hinny Harding

THE

FIELD ENGINEER;

O R

INSTRUCTIONS UPON EVERY BRANCH

0 E

FIELD FORTIFICATION:

Demonstrated by Examples which occurred in the Seven Years War

BETWEEN THE

PRUSSIANS, the AUSTRIANS, and the RUSSIANS;

WITH PLANS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES.

Translated from the Fourth Edition of the GERMAN ORIGINAL of Gold Heb E. K. E.

Late Captain of Artillery in the Service of H. S. H. the Elector of SAXONT,

EDWIN HEWGILL,

Ensign and Adjutant an the Coldstream Regiment of Foot Guards,

IN TWO VOLUMES.

VOL. L

LONDON:

PRINTED FOR THE TRANSLATOR,

AND SOLD BY

J. WALTER, AT HOMER'S - HEAD, CHARING - CROSS.

M.DCC.LXXXIX.

351748



TO

THE DUKE OF YORK,

BISHOP OF OSNABURGH,

LIEUTENANT GENERAL IN HIS MA-JESTY'S SERVICE,

COLONEL OF THE COLDSTREAM REGIMENT OF FOOT GUARDS, &c. &c. &c.

SIR,

5-13-8 79.7

HEN I SOLICITED THE HONOUR OF BEING PERMITTED TO DEDICATE THE FOLLOWING SHEETS TO YOUR ROYAL HIGHNESS, I WAS IMPRESSED WITH AN IDEA THAT THERE WOULD BE PECULIAR PROPRIETY IN SUBMITTING THEM TO YOUR PROTECTION: NOT ONLY BECAUSE I HAVE THE HONOUR, BY MY COMMISSIONS, OF SERVING MORE IMMEDIATELY UNDER YOUR ROYAL HIGHNESS'S COMMAND; BUT BECAUSE YOUR PERFECT KNOWLEDGE OF THE LANGUAGE FROM WHICH THEY

ARE

W DEDICATION.

ARE TRANSLATED, ENABLES YOU TO FORM A JUDG-MENT, HOW FAR THE SENSE OF THE ORIGINAL HAS BEEN FAITHFULLY PRESERVED, AND YOUR SKILL IN THE MILITARY PROFESSION, HOW FAR THE MANNER IN WHICH THE SUBJECT HAS BEEN TREATED, MAY DESERVE THE ATTENTION OF A MILITARY STU-DENT.

IF MY ENDEAVOURS SHOULD BE HONOURED WITH YOUR ROYAL HIGHNESS'S APPROBATION, AND IF THEY SHOULD BE FOUND TO CONTRIBUTE TO THE INFORMATION OF MY BROTHER OFFICERS, I SHALL THINK MYSELF ABUNDANTLY REWARDED.

I AM, WITH GREAT HUMILITY,

SIR,

YOUR ROYAL HIGHNESS'S

EVER FAITHFUL,

OBEDIENT,

AND DUTIFUL SERVANT,

Manchester Buildings, Jan. 20, 1789.

EDWIN HEWGILL.

THE

TRANSLATOR'S PREFACE.

HE Translator of the following Treatife was induced to undertake the work by two confiderations: first, that the subject of it, which is very important, is acknowledged to be judiciously and skilfully discussed, and the science itself confiderably improved; and fecondly, that the language in which it is written is not generally understood in this country: a circumstance equally to be admired and regretted; fince it was originally the fame, and still bears a strong likeness to our own, and abounds in fenfible and ingenious writers.—It might further be added, that fuch a Translation was the more necessary, because the Author was less happy in his mode of conveying his ideas than could have been wished; being less conversant a 3 with

THE TRANSLATOR'S vi

with polite literature, than with the military science: so that they who most admire his knowledge and abilities, do yet complain of the uncouthness and obscurity of his diction.

The Plans have been drawn on an enlarged scale, with the addition of three plates; which will illustrate the meaning of the Author better than any verbal defcription. The two former of which, with a note on the 126th paragraph, will be found ufeful to explain a mode of encamping an army in certain, and particularly in confined fituations.

As it has been already mentioned, that the Author has, in some instances, been cenfured for expressing his thoughts obfcurely; to remedy this inconvenience, fuch notes are subjoined as it is hoped will answer that purpose. Nor has the liberty been taken of omitting any part of the original, fome few paffages excepted, which were plainly repetitions, and as fuch, unnecessary; nor even this, without proper notice being taken of it, wherever fuch

9

fuch omiffions were thought expedient. In the first and second Parts every paragraph is preserved faithfully and exactly; but in the third it has been thought proper, for the reasons given above, to compress what was too diffuse into a narrower compass; with a strict attention however to the sense of the Author, and in a manner that it is hoped will be more useful and satisfactory to the English reader.

It feems hardly necessary to make any apology for having omitted the 25th chapter of the third Part of this work, which describes only a method of preparing water-colours, neither very curious nor useful; and which indeed, the Author himself suffered to retain its place in the second edition, contrary to his own judgment, in compliance only with the importunity of some of his friends.

As the principles of the following work are founded on experience, and the rules laid down in it contain a great variety of military information, it is to be hoped that they will in some measure engage the a 4 attention

viii THE TRANSLATOR's

attention of military men.—The Translator flatters himself he may reasonably be thought not altogether unqualified for the task he has undertaken: not only from his long residence in Saxony, and the care and affiduity with which he studied the German language; but particularly, from the great advantage he enjoyed of being intimately acquainted with the Author, to 'whom he communicated his design, and received from him an explanation of every difficult paffage, and every information that could possibly be defired.—These he has endeavoured to communicate to the reader in a flyle plain and intelligible; elegance and ornament being neither proper to a work of this kind, nor to be expected from the pen of a foldier.

It may not be improper to conclude this short Preface with some account of the Author, who was equally respected for his professional knowledge and readiness to communicate it, as for his virtues in private life. By an uncommon application to the Military Science in his early youth,

and the advantage of considerable abilities, he merited the reputation of an excellent Officer and of a complete Field-Engineer.

—This honour he obtained not with impunity: his unwearied attention to his studies having brought on him many and grievous disorders, which put an untimely end to a life that cannot be sufficiently valued, or the shortness of it too much regretted.

DIREC-

DIRECTIONS TO THE BINDER,

THE Plans are to be bound at the end of each Volume; and Plate XIII. terminates Vol. I.

The four Tables of Measures are to precede Pl. I.; the Translator's first and second Plans are to be bound between Pl. I. and II. and his third Plan between Pl. III. and IV.

The blank paper of the Plates is left for the purpose of extending them from the volume, when opened.

THE

AUTHOR'S PREFACE.

year 1769, it was the only book of instruction for a Field Engineer: excepting those of M. M. de Clairac and Marquard, on Field Fortification. The contents of the first and third Parts had never been explained.—Since that time however several publications have appeared on all these branches of the Military Science, but most of them are either had or very moderate copies and compilations. The works of Gaudi, Struensee, and Zach have undoubted merit, and even in some of our Military fournals there are passages highly deserving of commendation.

By the help of such books, and an application of above eighteen years to this my most favourite

favourite study, my readers might reasonably have looked for a more enlarged publication; but my health will not now permit me to undergo much fatigue; and, if that had not been the case, I should have been unwilling to have made any considerable additions; lest those who are already in possession of the work, should have been led to suppose that the former editions of it were incomplete. Whatever may have been left short, is fully explained in my "Account of the most remarkable events of the late War," &c. to which I have made references wherever they seemed to be expedient.

The four tables have been carefully revised and augmented by M. Liebe of Freyberg.

Young officers, who are desirous of studying my works with advantage, especially if they are not under the eye of a military instructor, may proceed in the following manner:

Ist. I recommend it to them to read the Field Engineer till they understand it thoroughly, without regarding the references.

2dly. I

2dly. I advise them to study the six volumes of the "Account of the War," &c. with great attention, and to refer to the Field Engineer whenever they may meet with similar passages.

3dly. I advise them to read one chapter of the Field Engineer after the other, and to consider every reference till they are completely masters of the subject before them; and,

Lastly. To study good plans of positions and encampments, to compare them with the rules that are laid down in these works, to take up ground according to my directions, to consider how troops ought to be posted, retrenched, or defended in every possible situation, and in what manner the dispositions must be made for the march and manœuvres of an army.

To acquire a competent knowledge of the attack and defence of places, the last volume must be studied with the greatest care, as well as the third part of Struensee's Military Science *.—By these means, they cannot fail

of

^{*} This is an excellent German work, of which no English translation has hitherto appeared.—Translator.

xiv THE AUTHOR'S PREFACE.

of being distinguished, and of rendering themselves of essential service during a siege*.

• As the few remaining lines of the Author's Preface contain nothing more than a complaint against the Austrians for having printed a piratical edition of his works, I did not think them worthy of insertion.—Translator.

CONTENTS

OF THE

FIRST VOLUME.

PART I.

MARCHES AND CAMPS.

CHAPTER I.

OF the Duties of a Field Engineer. - Page 1

CHAPTER II.

To reconnoitre a Country, or the Position of the Enemy, and to give Intelligence to the General. 5

CHAPTER III.

To reconnoitre an Enemy's Fortress.

19

CHAPTER IV.

To order and conduct the March of an Army, to repair Roads, form Bridges, &c. - 29

CHAP-

xvi	Ċ	Ò	N	T	Ė	N	T	S.

CHAPTER V.

Of the Passage of Rivers. - - Page 48

CHAPTER VI.

Of the Formation of Roads and Bridges. - 87

CHAPTER VII.

To choose and mark out a Place of Encampment, or the Position of an Army. - 107

CHAPTER VIII.

Of the Distribution of Posts, Guards, and Detachments. - - 153

CHAPTER ÎX.

Of Alarm - Posts. - - - 170

PART II.

FIELD FORTIFICATION.

CHAPTER I.

Of Retrenchments in general. - - 177

CHAPTER II.

Rules concerning Retrenchments. - 187

С н а Р-

COV	1 T	E N	\mathbf{T}	S.	XVII
	АРТ				
To retrench a Ca	imp or P	oft.	-	Page	191
Сн	APT	ER	IV.		
Of Workmen.				-	198
· c	нарт	ER	v.		
Of the Material.				in the	For-
mation of a Re					
C	нарт	ER	VI.		•
Of Artillery and				-	222
C	нарт	ER	VII.		
Of Heights com	manding	eacb o	ther.	•	230
C 1	нарт	E R	VIII	•	
Observations up	pon Lin	ies, A	Ingles,	and	Poly-
gons	-	-	•	-	234
С	нарт	ER	IX.		
Of the Profile.	-	-	,	-	244
C	НАР	T E R	X.		
Of the Methods	of marki	ing out	Lines,	Angl	es, and
Figures upon	the Gro	und.	-	-	271
Vol. I.	,	b		Св	1 A P-

xviii C O N T E N T S.

CHAPTER XI.

To regulate the Construction of Parapets and Retrenchments, according to the Number of Men intended for their Defence; to distribute the Workmen, &c. - Page 288

CHAPTER XII.

Of Batteries. - -

ERR'ATA.

Vol. I. Page 72, line 19, for them, read him.

Page 76, line 18, for or of the, read or the.

Vol. II. Page 137, first line, for it, read them.

301

THE

FIELD ENGINEER.

PARTI. MARCHES AND CAMPS.

CHAPTER I.

Of the Duties of a Field Engineer.

§ 1. IT would be supposing that my readers had but very little judgment or military knowledge, were I to dwell too long in pointing out the use and importance of this commission.

In the field it is particularly necessary that the Engineers should possess much perseverance, personal courage, and ability: for, if I was not unwilling to give offence, I could prove by repeated instances, that the best and most prudent Vol. I.

B measures

measures have been totally defeated by their inattention, their hurry, or their ignorance.

§ 2. In France the service of the Field Engineers (Ingénieurs Geographes) is entirely different from that of the Ingénieurs-de-place, and they are properly under the minister of war. Some account of their duty and appointment is to be found in a small work, entitled, L'Art de lever les plans, par Mons. Dupain de Montesson.

In Germany they are generally taken from the corps of Engineers, and whenever their numbers are found to be infufficient, especially during the attack and defence of fortresses, more are selected from the different regiments, and charged with the duty. — Upon such occasions, every officer who has even a moderate knowledge of mathematicks, and of the duties of an Engineer, may be certain of recommending himself to the particular notice of his General and his Sovereign; because the study of this essential part of

the military profession is almost univerfally neglected.

In the Austrian service there is a corps of Field Engineers, confisting of Field Officers, Captains, and First Lieutenants, who are immediately under the Quarter-Master-General. This corps has no connection with the corps of Engineers, but the officers who compose it are charged with the fame duty; and whenever a detachment is formed, some of them are sent with it.—This arrangement was made in the feven-years war by Count Lacy, who was at that time Quarter-Master-General; and it was found to be extremely beneficial to the fervice.

The officers of whom I have hitherto treated, and who I shall in future distinguish by the name of Engineers, are of two kinds, viz. those who properly perform the duties of Quarter-Masters and Engineers, and those who are merely attendant upon Generals and Volunteers of high rank, for the purposes of taking up ground, of drawing plans, and of ferving B 2

Digitized by Google

them

4

them occasionally as Engineers, when detached from the main army.

- § 3. The feveral duties of a Field Engineer confift principally:
- 1. In reconnoitering a country or the position of the enemy, and in giving in a report *.
- 2. In directing and leading the march of an army +.
- 3. In repairing and making roads, in forming bridges, &c.
- 4. In choosing, directing, and marking out encampments.
 - 5. In retrenching camps or posts.
- 6. In furveying and drawing plans of a country.
- 7. In making the detailed dispositions for the attack or defence of a post or retrenchment, according to the general arrangement given by the Commander in Chief of the army.
 - Vol. I. pages 20, 21; and Vol. II. fect. 3.
- Tol. I. pages 20, 21; Vol. II. fect. 4; and the order of the 28th of November, Vol. V. fect. 2.

§ 4. AFTER

§ 4. AFTER what has already been faid, I think it is sufficiently evident, that an Engineer can never discharge the duty of his profession with credit to himself, or with advantage to the service, unless he possesses great strength of constitution, great application, great presence of mind, and undaunted courage. Those therefore who are not blessed with such qualities had much better make choice of any other line, than embark in one that is attended with so much danger and satigue.

CHAPTER II.

To reconnoitre a Country or the Position of the Enemy, and to give Intelligence to the General.

§ 5. A LL correct maps tend very much to facilitate the difficulty of this employment; especially such as show the ravines, the shape of the villages, and the principal windings of the rivers: because they enable the Engineers to draw the

outlines of their sketches at home, and to go prepared with a general idea of the country that is to be reconnoitered. And if their scales are, at the same time, sufficiently enlarged, they can express the nature of the ground, and every material object that may present itself, with much ease and expedition.

§ 6. It is of great consequence that a reconnoiterer should be provided with a good horse, and attended by a few dragoons or huffars; whom he will order to patrole in his front and on each fide, to give a fignal and to retreat to him whenever they discover an enemy's party.—Too numerous an efcort is by no means advifable on fuch occasions, because the dustand glittering of arms may attract the enemy's attention, and tempt him to fire from his batteries: whereas a few difperfed men will probably pass unobserved, or at any rate they need not be apprehenfive of danger as long as they keep out of the reach of musket or grape-shot.

§ 7. HE

§ 7. He must follow the high ground as much as possible, and be particularly cautious of entering ravines or hollow ways, for fear of being suddenly attacked or cut off. And whenever such places are unavoidable, he must allow one of his men to advance two or three hundred paces, with orders to fire as soon as he sees any of the enemy's troops.—Upon this signal, the whole party will make an expeditious retreat; for, in such a situation, it would be highly improper to engage with them.

§ 8. He must have a guide who is well acquainted with the country, and if such a man can be prevailed upon to attend him voluntarily, much will be gained; if not, he must be taken by force. In which case, he must never be trusted out of sight, and threatened at the same time with immediate death, if he should be either detected in telling a lie, or in misleading the party. Too much severity, however, ought to be avoided, lest it should

B 4

create

create in him a spirit of revenge or de-spair.

In general, money and good usage will be found to have great influence over the minds of such people, even in an enemy's country: especially if they have not been much accustomed to military men.—Or if you can procure a proper person, who has a house and family in your power, the strictest considence may be reposed in his sidelity.—But this subject is more fully explained by the King of Prussia, in the 12th Article of his "Instructions to his Ge-" nerals."

§ 9. It is a duty incumbent upon every reconnoiterer to examine the country as he advances, particularly from the heights, to make diligent inquiry into the nature of the ravines, to learn the state of the ground behind every hill that he cannot ascend, to find out the names of the places to which the different roads lead, and to ascertain the position of all morasses, ponds, rivers, fords, and bridges. He must also know

know whether the bridges are built of stone or of wood, if ditches are cut through the villages, if there are churches or walled church-yards in them, if and where there are abbatis or retrenchments, how and where the enemy's advanced posts are situated, &c.

All these circumstances must be accurately expressed on his sketch; and, that he may be certain of gaining true intelligence, it will be necessary for him to suit his conversation to the capacity of his guide, to be patient and circumstantial in all his inquiries, and frequently to put the same questions to him in different words.

§ 10. WHENEVER he meets with a hollow way, a ravine through which a road passes, or a village (especially if it is situated in a ravine) he must see whether or not it will be possible for an army to march round them. For in such places, troops are always subject to delay, and the more so, when attended by baggage-waggons or artillery.—This information will be of the greatest

greatest importance: therefore, if he has not examined the ground himself, it would be much better that he should make no mention of it, than deliver an incorrect report; for which he would afterwards become responsible.

§ 11. He must measure the depth and breadth of every ford; he must observe whether the rivers are rapid or otherwise, if there is a probability of their being easily overflowed, and if there are trees or houses near them with which bridges might be expeditiously formed; and lastly, he must describe the height and nature of the banks on each side. From these circumstances, the General will be able to judge if infantry can pass without danger, and how they ought to be formed for that purpose.

Whenever he finds a bridge, he must also describe its length and breadth, the materials of which it is built, and the probability of its being strong enough to bear loaded waggons and artillery.

§ 12. IT

§ 12. It frequently happens that there are two villages in a country, which, in the corrupted language of the peafants, have almost the same names: therefore, to avoid the serious consequences of a mistake, the name of the nearest town, or of a well-known place, ought, in such cases, to be annexed to each by way of distinction.

In the 535th year after the building of Rome, Hannibal was thrown into the greatest embarrassment by an error of this kind. He had directed his guide to lead him into the district of Cassina, that he might occupy the only road of communication between the Romans and their allies: but the man, supposing he meant Cassilin, conducted him through Allisia, Callatia, and Cales, to the plains of Stella, before he was aware of the mistake.

§ 13. WHENEVER the Commander in Chief of an army is determined to make a general attack, he must have an accurate description of the country, and particularly

larly of all the defiles, roads, hollow ways, fords, and bridges that lie between him and the enemy, before he can make the necessary dispositions for the march of the columns.—In fuch a case, as many Engineers as can be spared must be immediately fent out, with orders to reconnoitre and draw sketches of the ground that is occupied by the enemy. This business must be completed in the course of one day; and, as it cannot be carried on with fecrecy, they must ride through the outposts, and advance as near as possible to the encampment.—To fome, fuch an undertaking may bear the appearance of impossibility, but I can assure them from my own experience, that it is by no means attended with difficulty: for, in the first place, every possible precaution is taken to enfure its fuccess; and secondly, so many officers are usually employed, that there is but a fmall share of labour allotted to each individual.

§ 14. As

§ 14. As foon as the Engineers have received orders for such an expedition they must affemble together, draw a general plan of the country from a map, divide the ground into as many shares as its nature or the situation of the enemy may require, and agree with each other upon the method of joining their respective sketches. When they are in the field, they will work entirely by the eye; because it would neither be possible for them to measure the ground with accuracy, nor to give up the time that would be requisite to such a purpose.

Every Engineer must be attended by a guide on horseback, who must be constantly watched by a careful dragoon or hussar, lest he should make his escape.

§ 15. As this method of reconnoitering is frequently attended with skirmishes, and the necessity of repelling the enemy's out-posts; those on our side ought to be augmented before day-break: in order that they may have driven them back before

fore the Engineers begin their work. At the same time it is to be remembered, that too much engagement, or too rapid a purfuit, would be equally imprudent.—If the enemy can be made to retire by degrees the end is gained; and, for that reason, I would strongly recommend the use of a few field pieces.—Commanding officers fometimes refuse their cannon on such occasions, lest they should fall into the hands of the enemy: but, with submisfion to their superior judgment, I must beg leave to observe, that the loss of two or three guns can never be an object of confideration, provided the undertaking is properly executed.

§ 16. Each Engineer must have an escort of ten or twelve light-horse, and he will order three of the bravest of them to remain near him; otherwise an enemy's hussar may come unexpectedly upon him, and cut him down while he is engaged in drawing.—The remainder must be sent out as patroles.

§ 17. IF

§ 17. If the enemy has intrenched the villages in his front, or defended himself by abbatis, the Engineers must not advance beyond those posts: for, an attempt at taking them would engage the troops too much, and cost the lives of many brave men to no purpose.—It is sufficient that they should be able to see their situation, the approaches to them, and their batteries.

- § 18. If an Engineer should be killed, his escort must give immediate intelligence to the next; who will then become charged with the additional duty of his unfortunate comrade.
- § 19. That intelligence which a General gains by this method of reconnoitering is undoubtedly of use, and it would be more frequently practised, if it could be done without the loss of men, or without informing the enemy that an attack is intended.—But whenever it is determined that he is at any rate to be dislodged, such

X

means

means are advisable, provided the attack is made before he can have had time to change or strengthen his position;—for that is a rule which must be invariably adhered to.

§ 20. WHENEVER an Engineer is employed in either of the methods of reconnoitering and taking up ground, which I have now described; he must neither dismount his horse, nor go into a house upon any pretence whatever, while he is beyond the out-posts of his own army; for many have been taken prisoners through such imprudence.—When he returns he will re-examine his sketch and his guide, and if he can find any people who are well acquainted with the country, he ought also to question them with much attention, before he completes his plan for the inspection of the General.

§ 21. If an enemy's corps is posted five, ten, or perhaps fifteen miles from us, and the General wishes to know its exact distance, tance, which cannot be meafured; an Engineer must be upon the watch about sunfet, and if he can fee the fire of the evening gun and hear the report, it may be eafily ascertained.—The Academy of Arts and Sciences at Paris have proved, by repeated trials upon a space of 14,636 toises, that found travels, in clear and in rainy weather, by day, and by night, at the rate of 173 toises in a second; and that a strong fide-wind does not affect its progress. This being admitted, the Engineer will observe the flash or smoke, and count the number of feconds that elapse before he hears the report. Confequently, if he multiplies them by 173, the distance will be found. If, however, the wind and found are either in the same, or in contrary directions, its course will be confiderably hastened or retarded: but, even in that case, a just calculation may be made. For, if he knows the exact distance of a place on the fame line, he can order a cannon or rocket to be fired from thence; and if he obferves the number of feconds between the flash Vol. I.

flash and the report, (§ 26.) he will have a new scale which will give him the distance required. And, that he may know how much the wind has hastened or retarded the course of the sound, he must either substract 173 toises from the number found, or add them to it *.

If a corps is upon the march to join our army, or to relieve a befieged town, its distance may be learned by the same means: for, if it is not too far off, intelligence may be conveyed to us, provided

* I will suppose for instance, that a cannon is fired at the distance of 5,318 Parisian seet from me, and that I hear the report in 3".—Therefore 5,318: $3 = 1772 \frac{2}{3}$; thus the found has travelled 1772 2 Parisian seet in each second, instead of 173 toiles or 1,038 Parisian seet: which would have been its course had there been either a fide-wind or none at all. Hence 1772 - 1,038 = 734 2, the increased rate per": consequently 173 toises or 1,238 feet are here substracted from the number sound. But, if I suppose the sound to have reached me in 7", instead of 3"; I find, by the fame means, that it has only travelled at the rate of 759 3 Parisian seet: consequently 1,038 - 759 3 = $278\frac{2}{7}$, or the delay it has experienced in each second. In this case the number found is substracted from 173 toiles or 1,038 Parisian seet.—I have added this example with a view of giving a fuller explanation of the author's meaning; and my calculations are made in Parisian feet, because they are more immediately connected with the original work .- Translator.

the

the wind is not contrary, by a few twopound or four-pound rockets; which will always answer this purpose better than cannon.—It must be remembered, however, that the seconds are only to be counted from the time of their bursting in the air, and not while they are on their ascent.

CHAPTER III.

To reconnoitre an Enemy's Fortress.

§ 22. WHEN a fortress is to be attacked with advantage, and with a view of saving men, time, and expence, a good plan of the place and its outworks will be extremely necessary: otherwise, the principal attack may be directed against the strongest, and not against the weakest part.

At the fiege of Colberg in 1758, the Russians carried on their approaches against the horn-work near the gate of Munde, which was so high that the ramparts

Digitized by Google

ceffarily tempted to fire upon them from the batteries.

At the before-mentioned fiege of Colberg, the Quarter-Master-General Stoffeln was in great danger of losing his life by this piece of imprudence. His red cloak served as a mark for one of the enemy's bombardiers, who immediately fired two shot at him; and one of them came so near the place where he stood, that his horse reared up, and fell upon him. By this accident he was obliged to walk a considerable distance along the side of a bank, where he was totally exposed to the fire from the batteries.

At prefent I shall not say more upon this subject; because part of it has already been mentioned in the preceding chapter, and the remainder will be more minutely explained when I treat of the methods of taking up ground.

§ 25. WHEN a fortress is blockaded, and the trenches opened, the Engineers must reconnoitre on foot.

Cannon

Cannon are seldom fired at a single man, unless he is known to be an Engineer, or a person employed either in reconnoitering or in drawing a plan of the country round the place. And indeed, if a few shot were to be fired, it would probably be to no purpose; because, as it is well known that the artillery must take their aim before him at some object upon the line on which he is going, and that they must fire when they suppose him to be at a proper distance from the spot; I can affert, from my own experience, that an observance of the following rules will afford him effectual security.

- 1. He must never remain long in the same place.
- 2. He must neither continue the same pace nor in the same track, whether on foot or on horseback.
- 3. A watchful eye must be kept upon the enemy's batteries; but as that cannot be done by one person, whose attention will be taken up with other objects, I would recommend that two officers should

C 4

go out at the same time; that they should always remain about eight paces as under; and, that while one is employed in reconnoitering or in drawing, the other should observe the batteries and call to his companion the instant a gun is fired.

It will not be necessary for me to make any mention of small arms; for, when a reconnoiterer is within their reach, he must rely entirely upon chance.

§ 26. As light is known to travel at the rate of 38,000 German miles in a second *, it is evident that I must see the slash of a cannon as soon as it is fired, however distant I may be from it: but after I have seen the slash I can count 6, 12, 16, or perhaps more, before the ball strikes the ground where I am standing.

An Engineer who is intent upon drawing his plan near the batteries, may poffibly suppose he will have time to avoid the shot after he has heard the report;

• 38,000 German miles are = 184,966 * English miles.

Translator.

but

but in this he will be deceived, for the report and the ball generally come together, (§ 21.)—I shall therefore point out the methods by which the danger may be avoided.

If he is advancing on horseback, he must stop and draw back his horse as soon as he observes the flash or the smoke, for the reasons which I have given in the last paragraph: but if he has been any time upon the fame place, he must immediately gallop forward.—When he is reconnoitering on foot, the methods are still more easy. For, in that case, he can either run forward a few paces, or, by throwing himfelf upon the ground, allow the ball to pass over him. This may be done with great fafety, whether the shot is fired point blank, or en ricochet ...

§ 27. If there are heights or high buildings near the fortress, the Engineers must endeavour to reconnoitre from thence,

and,

[•] A cannon-shot never flies quicker than at the rate of 600 feet per ".--Vide Semler's Astrognosia nova.-- Author.

and, when the suburbs of the town are occupied by our troops, the tops of the houses or a church steeple will be still more advantageous *. In such a situation they need not be disturbed if a cannon-shot should accidentally come near them; nor will they have any danger to apprehend except from the enemy's risle-men.

§ 28. In the year 1656, the Chevalier de Ville published a work at Paris, under the title of "Charge des Gouverneurs:" from which I shall quote a passage that treats of the subject of this chapter.

"When a fortress is to be reconnoitered in the night, either a very clear or a very dark one are equally disadvantageous. For, in the first case, the reconnoiterer will be too easily discovered, and in the second, he cannot make his necessary observations.— As soon as he arrives within a mile of the place, he must leave his escort in a wood, or wherever it may be most convenient; and having detach-

● Vol. II. sett. 4. pages 378, 379, &c.

"guards nor fentinels in the outworks, they must not hesitate to enter them.—

« In

"In this manner they will proceed round the fortrefs."

An officer who has never been charged with fuch employment, will be apt to fuppose that it is attended with the most imminent danger; but he may fafely rest affured of the contrary. And, in support of my affertion, I will even imagine him to be discovered by a sentinel, who fires off his piece and calls to the next post. I fay, even in this case, he can easily place himself in security, and he may consider the uproar which this event will have occasioned in the town, rather as a subject of amusement than of apprehension; because they neither can, nor dare, attempt to take him. The guards are not intrusted with the keys of the gates, and at fuch an hour the Governor will not allow them to be opened till the garrison is affembled. It is probable, however, that some men may be fent out through the fecret doors, and that fire-balls may be thrown for the purpose of making a light near the place; but,

To order and conduct a March, &c. 29 but, before that can be done, he will have fufficient time to make his escape.

I should not have said so much upon this subject, unless I had thought it necessary for the encouragement of those officers, who might not have been aware of the worst consequences of such an undertaking. And, before I conclude, I will beg leave to recommend the employment of quick and sensible men, who are capable of judging distances with accuracy, and who understand the rules of sortification, as well as the effects of light and shade: otherwise they will not be able to form a just opinion of the position, strength, or weakness of the several works.

CHAPTER IV.

To order and conduct the March of an Army, to repair Roads, form Bridges, &c.

§ 29. I T refults from what has already been faid, that an exact know-ledge of a country is of the greatest importance

portance in military operations. Here it is almost indispensably necessary.

We have found by experience, that the march of an army must be made in columns; and, that it will be more or less expeditious and easy in proportion to their number: provided they do not cross each other. For that can never be done without some delay, and frequently not without disorder and confusion.

When two columns meet, the fault is generally to be attributed to the inattention of the officer who has planned the march: but, as it may be fometimes unavoidable, I shall explain the methods by which the inconveniences are in great measure to be removed.

We will suppose, for instance, that the corps B in Pl. 1. fig. 1. has covered the left of A, and that, according to the new order of battle, it is under the necessity of passing over to the right, and of joining the main army precisely at the same time.—
In that case, the battalion which arrives first at the intersection of the roads, must advance

advance as quick as possible, and both columns will immediately halt; then the leading battalion of the other column will march forward: and thus they will advance alternately till the whole have croffed each other. If the head of either of the columns should meet with a defile or obstruction before this is completed, those battalions which have not reached the place, will, if possible, march out of the road and form themselves as described at a.—By these means all confusion will be avoided, and the heads of the columns will remain parallel to each other. staff-officer of rank ought also to be posted at the interfection of the roads, for the purpose of enforcing regularity and obedience to the orders *.

It may fometimes happen, that two roads are joined together, and feparated again at the end of a few paces. In that

case,

This is a very old idea: for we find that Cyrus posted two officers at a place where his companies were obliged to file off, to prevent irregularity and consumon.—Vide Xenophon de Cyri Expeditione. Book II. Chap. V.—Author.

case, the columns can march by the side of each other, provided there is sufficient room, as shown by c and D. Or, if the nature of the country will admit of it, they can leave the road, and return to it at the most convenient place. For which purpose, conspicuous marks should be set up, as at cc.—Thus the order of battle will not be changed: the column c will remain upon the lest, and the column D upon the right.

§ 30. Two columns of the French army had once the good fortune to cross each other upon the march, without the least delay or inconvenience, by means of the following expedient: the dryness of the season enabled one of them to march along the bed of a river, while the other was passing over the bridge.—This circumstance has led me to suppose, that a bridge might be occasionally thrown over a hollow way with equal utility. And if the road should not be of sufficient depth to allow the loaded waggons a free passage,

it

it would only be necessary that a little earth should be taken from the bottom, and thrown upon that part of the banks where the bridge is intended to be made.

- § 31. In general the number of columns will be regulated by the nature of the country and the roads. The best and shortest roads are given to the heavy artillery and baggage-waggons, and the longest to the cavalry: except when there may be particular reasons to the contrary.
- § 32. WHEN the enemy is to be attacked, the Commander in Chief of the army will regulate the orders of march and of battle: therefore, it is not my business to treat of those subjects.
- § 33. If there are no particular reasons for obliging the columns to follow the roads, they will gain time by marching cross the country: because they can then extend their front, and proceed in a more direct line to the place of their destination.

Vol. I. D Hollow

Hollow ways, ravines, and villages, must be carefully avoided; especially when an enemy is near. Because, in such situations, the commanding officer will be under the necessity of contracting his front, and of course the march will be retarded. In the next place, because disorder will be unavoidable if he should then be attacked. And lastly, because every village will give a savourable opportunity for desertion **.

1

§ 34. WHEN an enemy is near, the march must either be covered by a corps of light troops, or the whole army must march in order of battle; the encampment cannot be marked out till the troops arrive upon the ground; and the place will be frequently chosen by accident or necessity.

§ 35. If the roads, defiles, &c. have not been previously repaired, the Engineers

must

^{*} See the march on the 12th of December, 1761, Vol. V. fect. 2.

must go forward with the pioneers some hours, or, if possible, the day before the march of the army; that they may be put into as good a state as time and circumstances will allow. Or, if there should be no pioneers, they must take some carpenters with them, and a fufficient number of peafants or foldiers, who will receive the necessary utenfils from the park of artillery.

§ 36. Before the Engineers and their parties fet out, they must make themselves acquainted with the height and breadth of the loaded baggage-waggons and artillery, as well as the exact length of their axle-trees. For, if the columns are obliged to march through woods, all the branches or trees that are likely to be in their way must be cut down.—They must widen all deep and narrow ruts, and, wherever it is necessary, they must slope off the fides of the hollow ways, except when they happen to be very hard or rocky. In that case they may raise their D 2 bottoms

bottoms with stones, rubbish, or the stems of young trees laid crofs-wife.

§ 37. EVERY hole must be filled up with stones and gravel; or, if a sufficient quantity cannot be eafily procured, strong fascines will answer the same purpose, provided they are laid across them, and fufficiently covered with earth.

When an army is thus circumstanced, this is the most expeditious, and indeed the only method of putting roads into temporary repair; and as fuch I mean it to be understood: for, if more durable repairs or new roads are necessary, other rules are to be attended to, which I shall explain in the fixth chapter: with rules for the formation of bridges.

§ 38. If there are ditches and moraffes that have not been repaired, the artillery will be subjected to much delay, unless they are provided with fome expedient, by which they may be enabled to pass them in fecurity. Therefore, before they begin

Digitized by Google

begin their march, I would recommend that a fufficient number of green trunks of trees should be collected, that a groove should be cut along the centre of each of them, and that their ends should be sloped off, for the purpole of being conveniently joined together. If the park is large, as many of them should be taken as will load two or three waggons; and whenever the artillery may have occasion to cross a ditch, a swamp, or an old wooden bridge, two rows must be placed so as to allow the wheels to pass along the grooves. -Such an expedient will always be of great fervice, especially when a forced march is to be made.—I recommend green trunks of trees for fuch a purpose, in preference to dry pieces of timber; because they can be more expeditiously prepared, and are to be met with in all places.

§ 39. Instead of trusting too readily to a ford, which may have been destroyed either by a late flood or the enemy, it is better that one or two bridges should be formed: D_3

formed: because, if it is afterwards found to be safe, one part of the column can pass through the river, while the other is marching over them.—Consequently much time will be gained.

§ 40. WHENEVER a column is unexpectedly obliged to crofs a brook or river, (provided it is not too broad) the nearest trees will enable you to make a bridge. And a column of infantry will only stand in need of a few rafters or planks, which. are to be found in every village. It must be remembered, however, that those planks are to be laid double, and covered with turf: otherwise their elasticity and fmoothness will be dangerous to the troops. -But as it may fometimes happen, that there is no village within a confiderable distance of the place, I shall proceed to explain the best methods of using trees on fuch occasions.

Two, three, or four trunks of trees must be laid over the water at equal distances, and fixed with pegs to the ground; others others of about three inches in diameter are then placed cross them, and close to each other, the first and last being also fastened in the same manner; and, if it should be necessary, they may be bound together by means of a few laths.—Lastly, the whole must be covered with turf.

If circumstances will admit of more bridges than one, the passage will of course be completed with the greater ease and expedition.

§ 41. ALL bridges ought to be broad enough to allow the platoons to march over them without filing off; and it must be considered as a general rule, that the regularity of the march will be in great measure proportionate to their breadth.

§ 42. When a bridge is to be made for baggage-waggons and artillery, the principal beams or trunks must be very strong; and at least four of them will be necessary, even if it should not be above fix or eight feet in breadth. As soon as they

are properly placed at equal distances, rafters or planks must be laid cross them, and fixed to the ground as before explained: but with this additional caution, that the centre of the upper planks must cover the joints of those below; and if there is reafon to apprehend that the pressure of the wheels may be too great, they must have their usual covering of earth, and a sufficient quantity of straw under it. The fame precaution may be taken before they trust to old or weak wooden bridges; because the elasticity of the straw will add as much to their fecurity, as the trunks of trees which I have mentioned in the thirty-eighth paragraph.

In the year 1707, when Charles XII. found that the Weissel (Vistula) near War-faw was not entirely frozen up, he ordered wet straw to be thrown upon it; which, in the course of a few hours, became so hard, that his whole army, baggage, and artillery marched over it *.

Before I conclude this paragraph, I have

* Vide Nordberg's History of Charles XII.—Author.
only

§ 43. WHEN the beams are either too short for the breadth of the river, or of such length that they bend in the centre; the Engineers must collect as many boats as may be wanted, and by fastening them together they can either lengthen or support their bridges.

If there are no anchors, they must fill large baskets with stones till they are of a sufficient weight to resist the stream, and tie one at each end of every boat;—or, pyramidical gabions may be easily made for the occasion, and if enclosed at one end, they can be used in the same manner. By these means a bridge may be thrown over a river of considerable breadth without the help of pontoons.

§ 44. IN

§ 44. In the camp near Zeithayn, M. Pappeti, who was then a Captain of Pontoneers in the Saxon fervice, made a bridge of casks, which bore a very considerable weight: and, as such a bridge would be of much use to an army, in case the pontoons should have been lost, and easily formed, on account of the abundance of the necessary materials in every town or village; I shall proceed to explain its construction.

In the first place, all the holes were stopped up with great care, that no water might penetrate. A cord was then tied to the middle of a piece of wood, which was dropped through the bung-hole, and the bung was driven in again, Pl. 1. fig. 2; part of a rafter de was laid cross each pair of casks, fastened with the cords x x, and sawn off at both ends that it might not project beyond the sides of the barrels. When they were thus prepared, as many pairs of them as were thought necessary for the breadth of the bridge were placed lengthwise,

lengthwise, with a single cask at each end; and stronger rafters a b were bound upon those described by de.—Upon these, the beams f were laid, as well as a covering of planks.

Hence it appears, that the construction of this kind of bridge differs but little from that of a bridge of boats: except that the rows of casks are nearer to each other than pontoons, lest they should be pressed into the water.—Consequently the number of casks must be in proportion to the weight they will have occasion to bear.

§ 45. In Herodianus's Roman History, we find the following account of a bridge of casks:

"When Maximus had fet himfelf up as "Emperor, and was haftening with his "army into Italy to take possession of "Rome, he met with a river near Aqui-"leia, which was too deep to be paffed "without a bridge, and he could neither "procure wood nor boats. However, a " confiderable

"confiderable number of empty wine casks
"were found near the place, and the car"penters gave it as their opinion, that, as
"they were hollow, they might be used
"instead of boats: and, that if they were
"fusficiently loaded with gravel, strength"ened with iron-hoops and pliant branches
"of trees, and made fast to each other,
"there would be little reason to suppose
"the stream could carry them away."—
Maximus embraced the idea with eagerness, and his army marched over in
safety.

In General Munich's campaign in the Ukraine, in 1736, each company was obliged to take a large barrel of water, on account of its extreme scarcity in the deferts.—And he also gave orders that every regiment should carry with it eight or ten thick planks, that the necessary materials for a light bridge might be always at hand. His pontoons were only used for the baggage and cavalry*.

• Vide General Manstein's Account of Russia. - Author.

§ 46. IF

§ 46. If the water is not too deep, the two following methods of forming a bridge are by far the most expeditious.

First, in proportion to the breadth of the river and the weight of the artillery, two, three, or more waggons may be placed from fix to twelve feet asunder, and covered with beams and planks as described in Pl. 1. fig. 3.—Or, if it should be more convenient, the strong wooden trestles which are used by carpenters, may be taken instead of waggons.—In either case, the beams must be fastened together with cramp-irons and ropes.

The fecond method is with gabions, casks, or trestles.—If gabions are used, they must be made at least fix feet in length by four in diameter, and as strong as possible; a sufficient weight of large stones must be tied to them, that they may be sunk to the bottom of the river (fig. 5. xx); and the spaces on each side must be filled up with dung, turs, or fascines: the gabions themselves remaining empty,

that the stream may have a free passage through them.—The beams and planks must be laid as usual.

If there should be any reason to apprehend that the artillery may be too heavy, smaller gabions may also be made; and, by putting them within the others, you will give them an additional strength, that will resist a much greater pressure.

Casks will also answer the purpose of gabions; and, if they are covered with fascines almost as high as the surface of the water, it will only be necessary to lay clods of earth upon them. In this case, therefore, the use of beams and planks will be avoided.

The method of making a bridge with treftles is explained in fig. 4.

Whenever an unufual degree of strength is requisite, a covering of straw may be added (§ 42.); and before I conclude this paragraph, I will observe once for all, that neither the baggage-waggons nor artillery must be suffered, on any account, to halt

halt upon fuch bridges; but, on the contrary, that they must pass over them with the greatest expedition *.

§ 47. When the banks of a dike or rivulet are high, a bridge may be thrown over it by means of a pair of strong folding doors; provided they are placed in fuch a manner that the wings rest against them, and join each other at the bottom of the water, as shown in Pl. 1. + fig. a. Or it may be formed with beams, extending from the top of one bank to the bottom of the other, as in the + fig. b.—This method is preferable to the former: first, because the bridge will be stronger; and fecondly, because the stream will have a free passage under the centre as well as on each fide: whereas in fig. a, it can only pass under the sides. The upper part

must '

^{*} I suppose the author means that the horses should be allowed to walk steadily and without stopping: for, if they were to proceed with great expedition, the bridges would be materially injured, if not altogether destroyed, by the first carriages that passed over them. - Translator.

must be formed with fascines or earth, as explained in the two plans.

§ 48. If the banks are too high, they ought to be floped off near the bridges, and the earth carefully thrown up on each fide; that the baggage-waggons and artillery may march over with ease and fafety.

CHAPTER V.

Of the Passage of Rivers.

\$49. A Sthis is now become one of the most difficult and important undertakings in the march of an army, on account of the general and increased use of artillery; it is incumbent upon every Engineer to be careful and circumspect in this part of his duty, and in procuring all the intelligence in his power from the people of the country: especially of those places which he cannot reconnoitre himself.

The

The chief objects of his examination will be:

- 1. The depth and rapidity of the river.
- 2. Whether it will be easily overflowed in wet weather or not.
 - 3. If and how it winds.
 - 4. The height and nature of the banks.
- 5. The fize, fituation, and appearance of every island.
 - 6. The fords and shallow places.
- 7. If the bottom is muddy or gravelly, and if there are large stones or quickfands.
- 8. The breadth of the river; or rather, the distance between its banks.
- 9. If there are heights near the banks, and at what distance; and if the opposite shore is within cannon-shot of them.
- 10. How and with what front the infantry must be formed for the passage.
- 11. If there are forests in the neighbourhood, &c.
- § 50. WHEN a river is neither very deep nor rapid, it may be passed without bridges; provided it should appear, upon Vol. I. E careful

careful examination, that the fords have not been destroyed by the enemy, and that their bottoms are sufficiently hard: for I have known instances of their having been found so soft, that the troops in the rear of the columns have been unable to march over, particularly when they were headed by cavalry.

Alexander passed the Granicus in fight of Memnon;—but, instead of marching in column, and in a straight line, he advanced one of his wings and went obliquely down the stream, that he might present as large a front as possible to the enemy, and be in readiness to form his army in order of battle when he reached the shore.

The Chevalier Folard fays, in his Commentaries on Polybius *, that, in marching through rivers, the ranks ought to be somewhat opened, for the purpose of letting the stream pass with as little interruption as possible, and that cavalry should be posted above the infantry: because, by

* breaking

^{*} Book IV. Chap, XIV. - Author.

breaking its force, the passage will become less difficult and dangerous.

When Cæsar passed the Segra, he made ditches of ten seet in breadth to conduct part of the water aside: and, during the passage of his army, he posted cavalry above and below the place where the infantry marched; that the horses above might break its rapidity, and that the men below might save all those who were in danger of being drowned.

During Marshal Belleisle's passage of the Var in 1747, a row of countrymen were posted in the water, to save the soldiers who were carried down by the stream. And, in a similar manner, the Prince of Orange crossed the Maese in the year 1586.

Charles XII. marched through the river or canal near Holowitz, in the face of the Ruffians, notwithstanding a great part of his army was obliged to swim *.

§ 51. In general, it was more the custom among the ancients to pass large rivers

• Vol. VI. Chap. XXII.

E 2

without

without bridges of boats, than it is in our days; of which I will produce a few fingular inflances.

Xenophon fays, in his retreat of the 10,000 Greeks *; that, when they were hemmed in on one fide by inacceffible mountains, and on the other by a river, whose bottom was scarce to be reached by their spears, the officers assembled for the purpose of considering how they might extricate themselves from so dangerous a fituation. At this meeting a Rhode came forward, and offered to carry the army over the river, if they would give him what was necessary, and a talent (equal to about 1,000 dollars †) for his trouble.—Upon being asked what he meant; "he told "them he only wanted 2,000 hides, which "he would fow together by pairs, that the "water should not penetrate, and then " make them completely fast with the reins " belonging to the packfaddles; that he

" would

[·] See the third Chapter of the third Book .- Author.

[†] A thousand German dollars are worth between 165 and 170 pounds sterling.—Translator.

"would tie large stones to them for the purpose of keeping them in their proper places; that he would cover them with earth, for the security of the soldiers in marching; and that, as each skin could bear the weight of two men, he would be able to transport 4,000 at the same time." The invention was thought to be ingenious; and as the 2,000 hides might have been easily taken from the beasts of burthen and cattle that were then in the camp, it would have been put to the trial, if the position of the enemy's cavalry on the opposite side of the river, had not rendered it impracticable.

We also find in Arianus's account of the campaigns of Alexander, that, upon his arrival at the Oxus, he ordered the skins of which the soldiers tents were made to be filled with dry branches of trees; and, when sowed together, that the water should not enter them, to be laid cross the river instead of a bridge.—This contrivance answered his purpose so well, that the whole army passed in the course

E 3 of

of five days: notwithstanding the water was very deep, very rapid, and six stadia * in breadth.—He also made use of the same expedient, when he crossed the Tanais * in sight of the Scythæ.

§ 52. ARIANUS has also given us so good and so clear an account of the bridges of boats that were used by the ancients, that I shall add a literal translation of it 1.

"The Roman method of forming a bridge of boats, is perhaps the most expeditious. — Their pontoons are first fixed at equal distances from each other; but above the spot where the bridge is to be made, each is attended by a small boat with one man; who, by rowing against the stream, counteracts its rapidity, and guides the pontoon into its proper place; where it is made fast by means of a large pyramidical basket

According to our measure a feadium was equal to 625 feet, Author.

^{*} Rollin calls this river Taxartes. - Author.

[‡] See the seventh Chapter of the fifth Book .- Author,

[&]quot; filled

"filled with stones, and thrown over the upper end of it. As soon as the first has been anchored in this manner, the se-cond is brought down; then the third, &c.; and the planks are laid over them as they arrive. Their distances from each other are regulated by the weight they will have occasion to carry; and rails are set up on both sides, which is a considerable addition to the strength of the bridges, and a security to the horses and beasts of burthen."

§ 53. WHATEVER relates to the passage of troops over a bridge of boats, does not properly belong to this treatise; because it is founded on tactics, and of course regulated by the Generals and not by the Engineers. But, as I have been desired by some of my friends to introduce the subject; I will, in compliance with their wishes, give a short explanation of the most material parts of it.

An army may either be obliged to pass a river, (1) in advancing towards an ene-

E 4 my,

my, when he is on the opposite side of it; or (2) in retreating from him.

In both cases the following circumflances are to be considered.

- a. If the river is croffed in fight of the enemy.
- b. If it is done in a country that is not occupied by the enemy; but into which a forced march may bring him.
- · c. If both the banks are within the reach of small arms.—Or,
- d. If they are only within the fire of cannon-shot.
- § 54. a. If the enemy's Generals have any idea of their business, if his train of artillery is superior to our own, and if his troops have even a moderate share of courage, it is almost impossible that we should be able to pass a river in his presence: because he has it completely in his power to destroy our pontoons, and to drive our cavalry back into the water. And indeed if the superiority of artillery was on our side, such an undertaking must ever be extremely

extremely hazardous, and the success of it extremely doubtful. Therefore, whenever a passage is to be effected under these circumstances, parapets ought to be thrown up in the night for our cannon and infantry (provided the river is not too broad); as shown by a. b. c. d. and e. in Pl. 17. fig. 2. The first must be occupied by all the heavy cannon and howitzes; and, if some of the floating batteries which I have described in the 290th paragraph, could be placed above and below the bridge, they would be of great service to the undertaking.

- § 55. In this case the river must be passed in the day-time, that the artillery may fire with the greater accuracy and effect, and that all disorder or irregularity may be avoided.
- § 56. WHEN every thing is ready for the formation of the bridge, and the troops prepared for the passage, the heaviest fire will be made from all the batteries and parapets,

parapets, with a view of filencing the enemy's artillery, of clearing the opposite bank of his troops, and of compelling him to retreat. — For such a purpose howitzes loaded with case-shot will be extremely ferviceable.

As foon as the enemy's batteries are filenced, the bridge must be formed with the greatest expedition; and in the mean time some grenadiers, who have voluntarily offered their services, may be sent in boats with a few field-pieces (§ 290), to assist the pontoneers, and to keep the enemy at a distance. If it should be necessary, two of the boats may be tied together and covered with planks, that the troops may be the more elevated.

§ 57. WHEN the bridge is almost completed, some squadrons of light-horse should be ordered to pass the river at the most convenient places above and below it; provided the banks are neither too high nor too steep: because the enemy cannot oppose their landing without detaching

taching a body of troops for that purpole, and of course he will weaken his front. And, on the other hand, if he suffers them to form, they will make a vigorous attack upon his flanks, and by driving back all they meet, render the greatest assistance to the passage of the infantry.—At the same time, the boats must endeavour to land the volunteers, and the floating batteries will get as near the shore as possible, and keep up an incessant fire.

§ 58. The infantry must march over in one deep column, with as large a front as the bridge will admit of; and the head of this column must be composed of the best and most resolute troops, who will be ordered to reserve their fire, and to repel the enemy with fixed bayonets as soon as they have passed the river. When the first division is sufficiently advanced beyond the bridge, the others must form up to the right and left with great expedition: but the fire must not be begun till several divisions are in line, and it must then be

kept up with regularity; lest the enemy's cavalry should return to the attack after the ammunition is expended; for in that case a total deseat would ensue.—While the leading troops are gaining ground, to make room for those in the rear, they must preserve a semicircular form, that both wings may remain close to the bank of the river.

FIRST REMARK.

§ 59. THAT part of a river which forms a curve, is of all others the most convenient for such an undertaking; because the batteries can effectually defend the bridge, as well as the passage of the troops. A. b. Pl. 17. fig. 2.

SECOND REMARK.

§ 60. As it is of great confequence that a confiderable body of troops should be able to march over the river with expedition, there ought to be more than one bridge, bridge. Those for the infantry might be made with casks, boats, or floats of timber: the last however are sometimes dangerous.

§ 61. As foon as our first troops have gained an advantage, and are likely to maintain their ground, the artillery ought to be brought up; that the enemy may not be able to rally or make a second attack. And, as there will be no time for the formation of a retrenchment, chevaux-de-frise will be of great use in securing them from the attacks of cavalry.—Whenever there are woods, villages, heights, or any other advantageous posts on the enemy's side of the river, they ought to be taken possession of without delay.

§ 62. A REGULAR and close engagement ought never to be hazarded till all the troops have marched over: and, although the infantry may be unable to gain as much ground as is requisite without the

use of the bayonet, a rapid pursuit must be equally avoided. That part of the business ought to be left to the cavalry; whose attacks must be made with great regularity, and conducted in such a manner, that in case of a repulse, they may be able to retreat round the slanks of the infantry. For if they were to be driven back upon them, the whole would fly in consusion to the bridges, the passage would be effectually stopped, and of course they would be either forced into the water, or cut down by the enemy's cavalry.

Whenever an old bridge is to be repaired, or a new one built, great care must be taken that it shall be strong enough to bear the weight of the troops.—The want of proper attention to this particular had nearly cost Charles XII. his life when he passed the Vistula near Warsaw *.

§ 63. If the cavalry can neither march nor swim through the river, some regiments must go over the bridges as soon as

eight

[•] See Nordberg's Hiftory of Charles XII. - Author.

eight or ten battalions of infantry are formed, and endeavour to make the enemy retreat.

When the passage of the whole army is completed, the regiments of cavalry will post themselves upon the right and left of the infantry, and appuyer their flanks to the bank of the river.

FIRST REMARK.

§ 64. WHEN an army is advancing, the baggage-waggons, ammunition, and stores must be left behind, till a secure position has been taken on the other side of the river: but in a retreat, they are to be sent before the columns. In both cases, however, they must be under a sufficient guard.

SECOND REMARK.

§ 65. WHEN an army is passing a river in sight of the enemy, retrenchments are not formed; and for two reasons: first, because

because there is a chance of his retreating, especially if he finds himself too weak: and secondly, because he may make an immediate and decisive attack, for which all the necessary dispositions will have been arranged before-hand.—But, if he should not begin an attack, I would by all means throw up a retrenchment, and continue at work during the night; on account of the repeated missortunes that have happened to armies, merely because, under an idea of their own superiority or safety, they have neglected to take the requisite precautions.

§ 66. b. If the enemy is not actually in fight, but at such a distance that he can oppose us in the course of a few hours; the intended passage of our troops must be kept a prosound secret: and while our real design is hid by false marches, by throwing up retrenchments, and by using all apparent means of strengthening our position, we must be making every necessary preparation; that there may neither

be

be diforder nor hesitation when the army receives orders to march. In such a case, there ought never to be less than two bridges: that, if one of them should be destroyed by the stream or the enemy's artillery, an entire sacrifice may not be made of those who are gone over.

§ 67. WHENEVER there are islands in the river, great advantage may be derived from them: for, if we march over them, we can both shorten our bridges and form works upon them for our defence; or, if our bridges are made above and below them (which in some cases is more advifable), they will enable us to erect batteries to cover the passage of the troops, and to command the country in our front. -If the opposite shore is higher than the islands, it will of course be necessary that our batteries should be proportionably raised. But this can never be attended with much difficulty, especially when there is a fufficient supply of wood: because, by placing the trunks of trees cross each Vol. I. other,

other, a kind of blockhouse may be made, which will effectually answer our purpose.

§ 68. The march towards the river must be conducted with the greatest regularity and precaution.—All the grenadiers must be in the front, and the pontoons will follow in their rear, with some extra waggons and horses; that the troops may not be delayed by any unexpected accident.—The time that will be required in bringing them to the appointed places, in forming the bridges, and in the passage, must be calculated with accuracy; that the army may neither begin the march too soon nor too late.

§ 69. THE troops must begin to march over the river in the night, that they may be entirely formed before day-break; and every obstacle must be well considered. Because the least oversight or delay might destroy the undertaking, and occasion a total deseat of the army.

§ 70. BEFORE

§ 70. BEFORE the bridges are begun, strong patroles of cavalry ought to be formed, and select troops sent up and down the river in boats, for the purpose of stopping all travellers, vessels, and spies till the passage of the army is completed.

REMARK.

§ 71. Upon all fuch occasions, and particularly when an army is retreating, a General Officer ought to be posted at each bridge, to see that the troops are strictly obedient to the orders, and that the waggons advance with regularity and in their proper turns.

§ 72. The leading troops must begin to intrench themselves as soon as they have crossed the river; for it is always to be supposed that the enemy will march to attack them, when he receives intelligence of what has happened.

The nature and construction of the F 2 works

works will be hereafter explained in the fourteenth Chapter.

§ 73. Nor more than half the troops are to be allowed to work at the same time, and they must ground their firelocks two paces in their front. For, if they were to place them in bells of arms, as was formerly the custom, each man would be at a loss to find his own, and confusion might ensue.—The working men must be relieved every two or three hours; and the rest of the troops will form themselves in line, and remain under arms.

If an attack should be made before the parapets are completed, the working men must seize their firelocks and take post in the ditches, from whence their fire will be of great service: the rest of the army will be formed in line between the works*; and

• This is practicable notwithstanding the retrenchments are intended to be enclosed, because every intelligent Engineer will begin by putting the most material parts of his works into as good a state of desence as possible. That is to say, he will first throw up the salient angles for the desence of the ground in his front.

and the batteries will do so much execution from the other side of the river, that the enemy must soon sind his situation extremely dangerous, and the maintenance of it equally difficult.

§ 74. As it is here the principal intention that the army should be expeditiously defended; slêches may be thrown up with a parapet between them, as in Pl. 14. sig. 4. and 5; or indented lines may be made use of, according to Pl. 11. sig. 9; Pl. 12. sig. 3, 4, 5, and 6; and Pl. 25. sig. 3, 4, and 5.

In either case, the works in front of each bridge must be formed as soon as possible, and joined together when a sufficient number of men have marched over *.

M. de Clairac has also said much upon this subject, in his tenth Chapter.

front, or fimple flèches for 100 or 200 men, upon a weak profile of fix feet, which will afford him a temporary defence. And, if an attack should not be made, the lines may be continued between them in any direction, and wherever it is necesfary, the profiles can be afterwards increased to twelve feet.

Tranflator.

• Vol. VI. Chap. XIX.

If

If the direction of fuch works depended upon me, I would only make use of redouts whose rear sides were either very weak or merely formed with palisades; which I would prepare beforehand, and float cross the river.

§ 75. If we suppose an army of fortytwo battalions and fixty fquadrons to be obliged to march over two bridges, which are twelve hundred paces afunder; the four leading battalions of both columns, must throw up a redout some hundred paces in front of each bridge, in the manner explained in the 73d paragraph, and capable of containing at least one battalion, with fix or eight pieces of cannon. The two next battalions of each column must then join themselves together between these two redouts, and throw up a third. The feventh, eighth, ninth, and tenth battalions will branch out: those of the right hand column marching to the right, and those of the left hand column to the left: and when they are 600 600 paces from the first and second redouts, and not far from the banks, they will form two more.—The remaining battalions must advance beyond these works, and about 800 or 1,000 paces in front of the spaces between them, they will throw up six other works, of the same dimensions, and 600 paces asunder.

At first, the heavy artillery must be drawn up between the redouts; but, when they are completed, as many guns as are necessary will be placed within them, and the remainder will occupy the intermediate spaces.

§ 76. In case of an attack, eleven battalions will defend the eleven redouts, fifteen will be drawn up between those in the front, and fixteen will form a second line in the rear.—The fixty squadrons will be upon each wing in one or two lines, as their strength and the nature of the ground may require; their slanks being appuyed to the redouts on one side, and to the banks of the river on the

other. But if any of the works should be unfinished, the battalions which were ordered to occupy them, will immediately throw themselves into the ditches; and, at the same time, the cavalry will charge with the utmost vigour, that the enemy may be repelled; or, at all events, that a general engagement may be avoided.

§ 77. WITH such retrenchments, it is evident that the troops will be soon covered; that they will be at liberty to extend their front as they march over; and that they will be enabled to manœuvre with freedom, and to attack the enemy whereever they please. Which are the greatest advantages they can possibly attain.

REMARK.

§ 78. WHETHER the enemy advances in line or in column, the cavalry must wheel up and take them in flank.—If this manœuvre is performed with regularity, intrepidity, and firmness, it cannot fail of being attended with success; because their oblique

oblique position behind the redouts will have kept them in great measure out of fight.

§ 79. c. Ir small arms will carry cross the river; and if the opposite bank is either lower than our own, or of equal height, parapets for the infantry ought to be thrown up in the night on each side the places where the bridges are to be made, and between the batteries. The best for this purpose are formed with ditches in their rear; as explained in the 291st paragraph; in Pl. 17. sig. 2. a; and in Pl. 8. n; for by these means we shall be able to keep back the enemy, while the passage of the army, and the têtes-de-pont are completed with ease and in security.

But if the flanks of those parapets should be laid near the bridges, the infantry behind them must not be permitted to fire; lest they should hit the men who are marching over, or at work on the opposite bank. And indeed, if it should even be probable

probable that the shot would pass above them, that part of our fire ought to be equally reserved; lest an idea of extreme danger should strike a damp into the perseverance and courage of the troops below.

§ 80. d. WHENEVER a river is too broad for musket-shot, great use must be made of our heavy artillery and howitzes; because they will be particularly excellent in clearing the opposite bank, and in creating havock and disorder among the enemy's cavalry.

§ 81. The rules which have been laid down in the foregoing paragraphs, are to be equally attended to, when an army passes a river without a bridge; and the undertaking is then much more difficult and dangerous. If boats or floats are made use of, the first men who have made good their landing, are in some measure cut off, and perhaps totally lost, if any accident should retard the passage of the rest.

But

But this is not to be confidered as the only inconvenience; for, if the foldiers are unable to govern them, watermen must be taken for that purpose; and it is highly probable they will either return, or throw themselves into the water, as soon as the enemy begins to fire at them.

I have pointed out these difficulties, because they will be generally met with: but, if floats are well made, and governed by soldiers, they will be of great service; particularly when much expedition is required,

§ 82. CHARLES XII. who was very well acquainted with the methods of passing rivers, generally made use of floats for that purpose; which were composed of thick pieces of timber, bound cross each other, and large enough to carry some hundred men, with one or two pieces of cannon, who could also fight during their passage. Those with which he carried his army over the Sound to Frederick's Hall, in the year 1713, were very complete.—

plete.—They confifted of beams laid four times cross each other, and surrounded by strong rails: and every float contained 500 soldiers, with two eight-pounders.

His passage over the Dwina, upon the ninth of July 1701, was also remarkable. It was made by means of floats and boats, in sight of the Saxons and Russians, who occupied the opposite shore.—The leading infantry defended themselves with chevaux-de-frise, till sive regiments and seventeen squadrons had effected a landing: when they attacked and repulsed the enemy.

§ 83. (2). No undertaking is so dangerous, or of such importance, as a retreat cross a river: because it is generally done on account of the loss of a battle, or of the superior strength of the enemy. And, in either of those cases, there will be as much difficulty in counteracting his advantages, as in obviating the ill effects of timidity on our side. Particular care must here be taken, that an attack is not made

upon

upon us during our retreat, that the bridges are not destroyed when a part of the army has crossed the river, and that the enemy's cavalry shall not be sent over; lest they should charge our troops, and drive them back, before they can have had time to form themselves. For that must either throw us into the greatest confusion, or occasion our total destruction.

§ 84. WHENEVER we can get the start of the enemy, either by means of a false or secret march, and pass the river without his knowledge, the greatest advantage will be gained, either in an advance or in a retreat.—With a vigilant adversary, however, this will never be very probable, particularly in the latter instance: but, if we should happen to succeed in the attempt, we must be constantly prepared for an attack; lest he should make a forced march and come up with us.

§ 85. When a retreat is to be made without the help of retrenchments, the army

army must advance as near as possible to the river, and choose ground that will be thoroughly convenient for the passage, and, in case of an attack, equally proper for a field of battle: remembering at the same time, that it ought not on any account to be higher, but, if possible, lower than that which is opposite to it.—Here the troops must post themselves in order of battle, and the cannon will be placed to the best advantage.

§ 86. The infantry regiments of the reserve will march first over the bridges (for in such a case there must always be more than one), and they will be followed by those of the second line, with a considerable part of the heavy cannon and all the howitzes.—When the passage of these regiments is completed, they must post themselves opposite the slanks of the first line, and the artillery must gain such a situation as will enable it to cover them, and at the same time to rake the ground in front.—This is a matter of great importance,

portance, and an advantage which cannot be gained, except by making choice of a large bend in the river.—The infantry regiments of the first line must then begin to retreat from both wings, while those in the centre and the cavalry keep drawing themselves by degrees towards the bridges, that their flanks may be constantly appuved to the river. The fire from the opposite side must also become heavier as the front diminishes, otherwise the enemy may fall upon the last regiments and drive them into the water.—At the conclusion of the retreat, the few remaining battalions must form themselves into columns, and continue their fire till they are upon the bridges; when they will either cut away two or three of the last pontoons* or fet them on fire.—These battalions are usually chosen on account of their known courage and good conduct.

regiments

^{§ 87.} THE cavalry, or at all events some

[•] I suppose the author means those pontoons which are nearest to the enemy.—Translator.

regiments of dragoons, must remain near the last battalions till they are upon the bridges, and then swim over the river.

- § 88. Such an undertaking cannot but be attended with much difficulty and the loss of many lives, particularly when it is executed in the day-time; and perhaps the last regiments must be altogether sa-crificed.—Therefore, whenever it is possible, retrenchments and têtes-de-pont ought to be thrown up for the security of the army; and, if the enemy is near us, half or two-thirds of the infantry should remain under arms, while the rest are at work.
- § 89. These retrenchments may either be enclosed (a), or they may confift merely of detached works or redouts (b).
- (a). In this case the army must throw up as many sleches along its front as the nature of the country or the position of the enemy may require, and then join them together with parapets; as shown in

Pl. 14.

Pl. 14. fig. 4, 5, 6, and, 7; or indented lines may be made use of, according to Pl. 11. fig. 9, and Pl. 12. fig. 5 and 6.

M. de Clairac has given us an accurate description of the excellence and construction of these lines.

§ 90. WHENEVER there is a wood near the river, I am of opinion that at least one wing of the army should be posted in it, and defended by single or double abbatis: because the formation of them is less troublesome than that of works, and they give the troops at the same time a favourable opportunity of retiring from one to the other, and of crossing the river without being either discovered or pursued by the enemy.

§ 91. WHEN the retrenchments are completed in front of the army, the bridges must be formed, and each of them defended by a convenient tête-de-pont with two sorties.

VOL. I.

G

REMARK.

REMARK.

§ 92. The baggage must be sent first; and, if the opposite side of the river should not be in our possession, it must be attended by a strong escort of infantry and cavalry, to secure it from the attacks of any of the enemy's cavalry that may have been sent through the river for that purpose.

§ 93. As foon as we have fent over all those things, which are either likely to be useless or troublesome in case of an attack; a considerable part of the cannon and howitzes must follow, and take post according to the rules laid down in the 86th paragraph.

§ 94. When this is done, one part of the fecond line or referve must defend the tetês-de-pont, while the other marches through them, over the bridges, and posts itself along the banks and between the batteries, for the support of the first line.

—The first line must then face about, and keep

keep up a constant retreating fire, provided the enemy should follow; and when it arrives near the works, the different battalions must break off, to allow the troops within to act with vigour, and afterwards post themselves between them in as many small lines as the nature of the ground may require.—These lines will also begin their retreat from the rear, through the têtes-de-pont and over the bridges; and as soon as they have gained the opposite bank, they will take the most advantageous positions.

When all these troops have passed the river, the battalions of the second line or reserve, which have been in possession of the têtes-de-pont, will retreat over the bridges; leaving only a few men with some pieces of cannon, who must necessarily fall into the hands of the enemy *.

§ 95. The bridge itself may be wheeled

G 2

^{*} See the fixth Vol. and nineteenth Chapter of my Account of the WAR, &c.—Author.

by experience, that this is not to be done without much difficulty, or indeed, feldom with fuccess; it will in general be more advisable to proceed according to the 86th paragraph: notwithstanding the loss of any of the pontoons may be severely felt.

While the bridge is moving away, the foldiers who remain behind must fill the entrances into the têtes-de-pont with wood or fascines steeped in pitch; and when they have set them on fire, they must take refuge in the boats or pontoons, and endeavour to gain the opposite shore in the best manner they are able.—Sometimes ropes are fixed to them for that purpose, and in that case a few men can easily draw them cross the river.

§ 96. As enclosed lines are not to be formed without much labour and difficul-

Digitized by Google

This is done by cutting away all the anchors, but without separating the pontoons from each other: consequently the whole bridge moves at the same time, and is brought by the stream dose under the shore.—Author.

ty, and are, after all, easily penetrated; I should rather give the preference to such detached works as have been described in the 74th paragraph *.— I would also add a circle of redouts in the rear of the army, where the passage is intended to be made; and each bridge should be covered by a small tête-de-pont with two convenient entrances.

REMARK.

§ 97. LITTLE objection can be made to the labour which is necessary in this, or in the foregoing instances, when it tends to the safety of a whole army.—Every man must exert himself to the utmost of his ability: and if half, or even one third of the troops are employed at the same time, and relieved once in two hours; the work will be in great forwardness at the end of the day.

G3

The

[•] I have here omitted some lines of the ariginal work, to avoid an unnecessary repetition of the seventy-fourth paragraph.

Translator.

The formation of the intrenched camps of the ancients, and particularly those of Cæsar, must have been extremely laborious; and if the soldiers in those days had not worked with less reluctance than our own, I believe they would seldom have been completed.

§ 98. If detached works are made use of to cover our passage of a river, they must be well occupied, and the remaining battalions posted in one or more lines in the intervals between the first chain of redouts. — When the retreat is begun (and in this case it is greatly facilitated); the rear lines march first through the têtes-de pont, and over the bridges; and, as foon as they are formed, the battalions of the first line follow them.—The works which compose the first chain, are then abandoned from both ends towards the centre; that the batteries on the opposite fide of the river may keep off the enemy, in case he should attempt to break in upon either of the flanks, or to attack those

Digitized by Google

in

Of the Formation of Roads, &c. 87 in the rear.—The fecond chain is also quitted in the same manner *.

REMARK.

§ 99. THE battalions may either take their own cannon as they retreat from the redouts, or fend them out beforehand. With this precaution, none will be lost; except perhaps from the têtes-de-pont: and, when the army has made good its retreat, the troops which occupy them, will conduct themselves in obedience to the 95th paragraph.

CHAPTER VI.

Of the Formation of Roads and Bridges.

§ 100. WHAT I have faid upon this fubject in the fourth Chapter, relates only to cases, which, on account of the necessary expedition, do not admit

More may be found on this subject in the fixth Vol. and nineteenth Chapter of my Account of the WAR.—Author.

G 4 of

of good or durable roads and bridges: but, if workmen and materials are to be had, and more time allowed, other methods are to be followed.—In military operations it is never intended that they should last above one campaign: however, as an officer may be sometimes charged with the formation of a durable road, I shall proceed to give a short explanation of the rules which are then to be attended to, and to describe the qualities of the different materials.

§ 101. RED CLAY, which generally contains a certain proportion of fand and gravel, and BLUE CLAY of a flaty or limy quality, are equally useful in the formation of roads; either to bind together the stones which are laid for the foundation, or as an upper covering: because the water cannot penetrate them. But black, red, and yellow earth, of a glutinous quality, or white clay, without sand and stone, are unserviceable; for, instead of throwing off the wet, they keep it upon the road.

§ 102. SAND

§ 102. SAND is always necessary towards the formation of a road.

Common fandy earth cannot be used alone; because, as it consists entirely of a large proportion of earth with a little sand, it must either turn to mud or dust, according to the wetness or dryness of the weather.

Sand below the furface of the earth, is either black, gray, red, shining, or gravelly. The first kind is the worst, the fecond and third are better, and the two last are the most useful.—The sand that is found near brooks is good, notwithstanding it may not be mixed with gravel; because it is of a much harder quality than any of the preceding forts. But river fand or gravel is superior to any other; and, if stones are not to be had, an excellent road may be made with it: provided it is well rammed down, and the old ruts carefully filled up. For, in the end, it will form itself into a mass, too solid for the water to penetrate.

§ 103. STONE

§ 103. STONE may be of greater detriment than use, if sufficient care is not taken in the choice and application of it.

The generality of hewn stone retains moisture, and is apt to moulder away in very cold or wet weather: consequently it ought never to be laid upon the road, without having been some time exposed to the air for trial. The hardness of stone is ascertained by the force that is required in breaking it: and its durability may be proved by steeping a piece of it in water; for, if it then acquires an additional weight, suffers itself to be cut with ease, or becomes muddy by friction, little service is to be expected from it.

Every species of soft quarry-stone, as well as slaty or yellow lime-stone, are unfit for the foundation of a road: because, as they cannot resist the pressure of loaded carriages, the centre must become hollow. And if they are used for the purpose of covering it, they will moulder away, and terminate in mud, as soon as they have been exposed to frost and rain.

SAND-

SAND-STONE is better; but not fufficiently durable for the covering of a road, and ought never to be used till it has been properly seasoned.

The following kinds are best adapted to every purpose; viz. Pebble-stone, rock-stone, (which may be blown in pieces with gunpowder), that species of lime-stone or marble from which lime is burnt, and well-seasoned quarry-stone.—The hardest of these may be used for the soundation, but not for the covering of a road: because they can neither be broken by workmen without extreme difficulty, nor by the constant pressure of carriages. Consequently as soon as the earth is washed away, the road will be full of holes.

The splinters that are made in quarries, or such stones as are deemed unsit for the foundation, can always be used for the purpose of levelling the road; provided they are of a hard quality.

§ 104. THERE

§ 104. THERE cannot be a better covering for a road than the crusts of metal and coal, which are found near furnaces or kilns; especially for a clayey or limy soil: and it is only to be lamented, that they are not to be met with in greater abundance. Whenever they are used they must be carefully broken into small pieces and rolled; otherwise they will be highly injurious to the horses and cattle that pass over them.

§ 105. Rubbish may be used in a case of necessity: but, upon great roads, it will never be very durable.

§ 106. All deep ruts and holes ought to be filled up, when they are perfectly dry, with stones or gravel; and not with earth, if it can possibly be avoided.—Whenever there is a scarcity of these materials, the people of the country may be ordered to pick them up in the fields; and, when put into the ruts, they must be well rammed down, and covered with sand or earth.

To

To make a hand-rammer for this purpose, you must take a piece of hard wood, of such weight that a man may lift it without inconvenience; the upper part of which must be smaller than the lower, and a round piece of wood put through it, that it may be raised with both hands: this however is not otherwise necessary than for the ease of the workmen *.

§ 107. If a road is to be carried cross a slough or bog, or, if there are any in an old road which is to be repaired, much labour will be necessary: for, as they are generally occasioned by a stoppage in the course of a spring, brook, or drain, there would be but little use in filling them; and the evil would become still greater, unless the cause of it was altogether removed. Therefore it is first to be considered, how the water can be let off; and, when that has been determined, a deep ditch must be

continued

[•] In this paragraph I have found it very necessary to compress the Author's meaning into a narrower compass: and indeed I might have entirely omitted the latter part of it, without depriving my readers of any information.—Translator.

continued from the place, as far as may be required. In the formation of this ditch. it will be necessary that its sides should be floped, lest the earth should again fall into it; and, that the whole should be completed, before the part which joins to the flough or bog is cut away. As foon as the ground is dry, the road may be continued; and, although it will be confiderably raifed, the course of the water must remain free and uninterrupted. -Whenever there is a fpring in a bog, upon which a road is to be formed, a deep hole must be made, and conduits laid for the purpose of carrying away the overflowing water: or, if a road is injured by a stream which runs over it, fuch a drain will be necessary as I have described in the 110th paragraph.

§ 108. WHENEVER a road is made in dry weather, the work must be regulated according to the state of the ground in winter: therefore, if the person under whose direction it is carried on, is not well acquainted with the country, he must make

make inquiry among those who are able to give him the best information.

§ 100. A ROAD cannot be effectually repaired or kept in good condition, unless a ditch is made on each fide of it with a descent of about an inch and a half in every rood; which may be easily ascertained by means of a common level. Too great a descent would be improper; because the rapidity of the current might iniure the banks at every angle, or wherever it met with particular refistance.-With regard to the ditches themselves, I need only observe, that the fides of them must be well sloped off, and that they ought to be at the least four feet in depth, by four or fix feet in breadth.—But this is not to be confidered as a general rule: for their dimensions will be regulated in all cases by the nature of the soil, and the probable quantity of water they will have occasion to carry away *.

§ 110. IT

Experience has shown that these ditches are unnecessary, except in a morass; and, that a road will be better, drier, and fafer, without them.—Translator.

§ 110. It frequently happens that the water in one ditch cannot run off, unless it is conveyed into the other.—In such cases, drains must be laid in a straight line cross the road, and of any dimensions that may be required.—Their fide-walls ought to be made of large stones cemented with moss; and, if a small slope is given them, they will be the better able to support the weight that passes over them.—If their tops are covered with pieces of wood or flat stones, they will require a rest of ten or twelve inches upon each fide, to prevent their giving way; and if they are arched over, mortar must be used instead of moss.

§ 111. THE centre of the road must be raised either with gravel, or the soil that is pared away from the sides, and then rammed down into a compact body.

§ 112. WHEN a road passes over a hill, simall breaks or resting-places must be made for the ease of the horses in ascending;

ing; to check the rapid descent of loaded carriages; and to conduct the water into the ditches, which might otherwise run down with violence and wash away its surface. There must be a gentle slope to and from each of those places: the upper slope may be made entirely of gravel; but; for the lower, there must be a soundation of stone, with a covering of sand and gravel; otherwise they will soon be destroyed.—Large stones ought also to be placed on each side, to oblige the drivers of carriages to keep upon the road.

The trunk of a tree might be occasionally laid cross the road for the same purposes, and covered in a similar manner.— In either case, if these breaks have an oblique direction, they will carry off the water better, and be more durable, than when formed in a straight line.

§ 113. SMALL gutters ought to be made from the centre of every road, to convey the water from the ruts into the fide ditches.—Their numbers will depend in Vol. I.

H great

great measure upon the descent of the road, and if it is to be well preserved, they must be frequently cleaned.—In general they are made at the distance of ten or twelve yards from each other.

§ 114. WHEN the banks of hollow ways are so hard that they cannot be widened, the bottoms of them ought to be raised, and such stones as are likely to obstruct the carriages must be blown up with gunpowder.—But if their sides are sloped off, the earth must be carried away, especially if it is of a soft or limy quality *.

The following table will show the spaces between the ruts in different parts of Europe, and my readers may rely on its accuracy t.

- * Here some lines of the original are omitted, to avoid a repetition of the 36th paragraph.—Translator.
- † This table will be found to contain much useful information. For, in many cases, the artillery and baggage would be subjected to frequent accidents and delay, where the roads are very bad, if their carriages were not constructed in such a manner, that the wheels could pass along both the ruts.

Translator.

NAMES

NAMES of the COUNTRIES and TOWNS.		DRESDEN.		LONDON.	
		Inches.	Feet.	Inches	
Austria	2	_	3	8,44	
Berlin, and in all parts of BRANDENBURG }	2	8	4	4,645	
Вонеміа	2		3	8,44	
Brunswick	2	12	4	8,3	
Breslaw, and in all parts of Silesia	 I	18	3	3, 18	
Denmark	2.	101	4	6,17	
Danzig	1	18	3	3,45	
Dresden	2	_	3	8,44	
EMPIRE	2	12	4	8,	
Frankfort on the Mayne -	2	6	4	2,3	
France	2	12	4	8,2	
Hamburg	2	11	4	7,270	
HANOVER	2	11	4	7,77	
Hungary	2	_	3	8,44	
Leipzig	2	3	3	11,7	
Lubec	2	11	4	7,270	
Moravia	2	_	3	8,44	
Mecklenburg	2	_	3	8,44	
Moscow	2	101	4	6,22	
Netherlands	2	_	3	8,44	
Nurenberg -	2	6	4	2,3	
			1		

H 2

PETERSBURG

NAMES of the COUNTRIES and TOWNS.		DRESDEN.		LONDON.	
		Inches.	Feet.	Inches.	
Peterbsurg	2	101	4	6,22	
POLAND	2	_	3	8,44	
Pomerania	2	-	3	8,44	
RIGA	2	17	5	0,49	
Sweden	2	101	4	$6,\frac{2}{3},\frac{2}{7}$	
SWITZERLAND -	2	. 6	4	2,3	
THORN	I	. 18	3	3,16	
Thuringia	ı	221	3	72735	
•	2		3:	8,44	
Wurtemberg {	2	12	4	8,2	
ZITTAU	1	21	3	6, :	
•		J	Ħ	1	

REMARK.

THE wheels are in general three inches in breadth: but the above calculations include only the distance from the inside of one rut, to that of the other *.

§ 115. WHEN

This

^{*} A Dresden ell is = two Dresden seet; and when a London soot has 1350 parts, a Dresden soot contains 1265:—consequently 1350: 1265:: 56 = 2 ells 8 inches: x, &c.

§ 115. When a road passes along the fide of a hill, with a precipice below it, care must be taken that it shall not incline that way: but, on the contrary, that it shall be higher on that side; on account of the danger to which all carriages would be otherwise exposed. And, that it may not be injured by any torrents of water from above, a ditch ought to be made close under the hill. At every corner, the road must be broad enough to allow carriages of every description to pass without danger or inconvenience.

§ 116. In Poland, the roads are generally made with the stems of trees, and are called *Klippel-daemme* or *Klippel-bruecken*. There are but of short duration, and require frequent repairs.—However, they are by no means useless in forests, morasses, or slats, where the water cannot be carried

This comparison is made upon the supposition of M. de Cassini, that a degree of the spherical figure of the earth contains 57,060 toiles = 342,360 feet.—Vide Memoires de la Société royale de Paris, 1718.—Translator.

off,

off, and on account of the expedition with which they can be made: especially in fuch countries as Poland, where wood is to be had in the greatest abundance. are two ways of making them, according to the nature or state of the ground. is not very wet, trunks of trees may be laid in two rows lengthwise, from three to four feet afunder, according to the breadth between the ruts, and smaller stems are then placed cross them, close to each other, and fastened to the ground. But, if the morass is deep, their construction is usually reversed: that is to fay, the large trunks are laid across them from six to twelve feet afunder, and the smaller stems lengthwise.

§ 117. If the morass is of such a depth, that both these methods are likely to be desective, you must harden strong oaken piles in the fire, and drive them first into the ground.

§ 118. As fuch piles cannot be driven into the ground without the help of a ramming

ming machine; I shall proceed to explain one or two kinds, which may be made use of in a case of necessity, and refer my readers for the construction of such as are more complete to Belidor's Hydraulics.

Let three or four straight stems of trees be tied together at the top, and separate their legs from each other at the bottom, that they may remain firm: or, if the foftness of the morass should make it neceffary, rest them upon planks of wood. -This will enable you to raife a heavy log of wood with a common pulley and rope, and by letting it fall fuddenly upon the piles, you will drive them with tolerable ease.—Or, if two beams are placed upright, and a third laid over them with a weight fuspended from its centre, it will answer the same purpose.—Every miller and carpenter can make fuch machines, or they may be taken out of the park of artillery, where they are constantly used in raising cannon, mortars, &c.

The principal beams or trunks are laid upon these piles; and, in every other re-H 4 spect, fpect, the formation of such a road will be similar to that which is described in the 116th paragraph.

When any part of a morass is so deep that the men are unable to work upon it, a bank of earth must be raised on each side, and continued as far into the place as may be necessary for the formation of a wooden bridge in the centre.—On such an occasion, the driving machine must be placed upon two boats with planks laid over them, and the heads of the piles must be prepared beforehand to receive the beams, which are afterwards to be fixed upon them.

§ 119. A DAM may be made through the deepest morass by means of water fascines (§ 235), and a covering of rubbish or gravel of at least a foot in thickness *.

§ 120. WHEN a new road is to be made, either for the purpose of keeping up a

communication

The remaining lines of this paragraph, as they stand in the original, are precisely similar to the 235th.—Translator.

communication between two corps, or to fecure a retreat, the country through which it will pass must be carefully reconnoitered.—If any low grounds or moraffes are in the way, it should be carried round them, rather than in a straight line: because, in such places, a foundation cannot be made without much labour and expence. And, if there are steep hills which cannot be avoided, it must wind up them.—In that case, the road ought never to be less than fixteen feet in breadth at the corners; and if the whole cannot be made fo as to allow two carriages to pass each other, there must be as many openings for that purpose as the nature of the ground will admit of.

§ 121. THE construction of durable bridges which consist of more than one arch, or of such as are to be supported and strengthened by the rules of mechanism or geometry, must be entirely regulated by builders, carpenters, &c.: and of course

it cannot come within the limits of this treatife.

§ 122. WITH timber or long trunks of trees, a bridge may be made over a river of confiderable breadth: provided the principal beams are either let into a wall at each end, or otherwise well fixed; and asterwards crossed by rafters of equal thickness.

§ 123. If the river is of such breadth, that the beams either bend in the centre, or are supposed to be too weak, piles must be driven into the ground for their support.

In all places there are carpenters, and perhaps feveral other countrymen, who may be equally ferviceable in this inftance, and in the formation of roads. Therefore, whenever an Engineer is intrufted with fuch employment, he will find it to his advantage to converse freely with fuch people, and to pay attention to their advice:

for

for it frequently happens, that they have learnt by experience, what may have escaped the observation of a man of the greatest theoretical knowledge *.

C. HAPTER VII.

To choose and mark out a Place of Encampment, or the Position of an Army.

of a good position is one of the most important branches of the art of war, and many a General has acquired the greatest reputation by his prudence and foresight in this instance: because it is entirely founded on professional knowledge, and requires an accurate coup d'wil, which can only be formed by long experience and attention. Consequently my readers

Translator.

must

[•] As we have found it advisable to reject many of the rules which are laid down in this Chapter, I fear it will not be very instructive to an English reader.—That opinion of its utility has induced me to give only the substance of each paragraph, particularly in the latter part of it, and in as few words as I could, without deviating from the author's meaning.

must not expect me to lay down rules for the immediate attainment of such an advantage.

The choice of a place of encampment is generally made by the Commander in Chief of the army, or by the Quarter-Master General. But, as it may sometimes become the duty of an Engineer, who is low in rank; particularly in small corps: I will explain, as well as I am able, what is principally to be attended to on those occasions.

- § 125. The troops may be encamped in two ways, viz.
 - 1. In the usual manner with streets; and
 - 2. In order of battle.

The first is the most common method of forming an encampment when an army is affembled for exercise; and the second is adopted only under particular circumstances: as for instance, when there is not a sufficient depth of ground, or when it may be suddenly obliged to be under arms, and in order of battle.

§ 126. IN

§ 126. In the last Silesian war the armies were frequently encamped in order of battle; when they were confined in the rear by hills, woods, &c. and particularly when they were in expectation of a sudden attack.—In that case, it was usual to send back the baggage, and subaltern Officers made use of the tents of private soldiers.

- § 127. The principal objects of consideration in all encampments are these.
- 1. If it is to be formed entirely for parade or exercise.
- * That this mode of encamping an army might be clearly understood, I have found it necessary to make an addition of two plans.—In the first of which the troops are thus distributed.—c is the quarter-guard.—The tents from H to o are occupied by the non-commissioned officers and drummers, as well as by the private soldiers of the three ranks; I I by the Captains and Lieutenants; K K by the staff-officers; and L I by the batmen. M m are the horses, n n the baggage-waggons, p p the mess tents, q q the kitchens, r r the rear-guard, and z z the necessaries.—Every soldier has his firelock in his own possession. Hence it is obvious that a regiment of infantry will not require half the usual depth of ground, when encamped in order of battle, and that the lines can be formed at any time with the greatest expedition.

In the fecond plan, which represents the encampment of a regiment of cavalry, the distribution of the troops, &c. may be seen on the margin. But as the horses must be in front of each row of tents, there cannot in this instance be a saving of more than 100, or 120 paces,—Translator.

2. If

IIO PART I. CHAP. VII.

- 2. If the enemy is at fuch a distance that he cannot reach us by a forced march.
- 3. If the enemy is so near, that an immediate attack is to be apprehended.
- OF ENCAMPMENTS IN GENERAL; AND PARTICULARLY THOSE WHICH ARE FORMED FOR PARADE OR EXERCISE.
- \$ 128. A LEVEL country, abounding in wood and water, is preferable to any other for this purpose, and the encampment is generally formed in two lines.—The Hussars and Dragoons must be posted at each wing, the Cuirassier regiments next to them, and the Infantry in the centre according to their rank; the first or oldest regiment upon the right wing, the next in seniority upon the lest, and so on. The Grenadier companies are usually formed into battalions, and either encamped upon the slanks, or formed into a separate corps: and, if there are horse-grenadiers or carabineers,

To choose an Encampment, &c. 111 rabineers, they may be also detached or placed upon the flanks of the cavalry.

The encampment must be accurately marked out, and levelled wherever it may be necessary; but the Engineers need only show the ground which each regiment will occupy.

§ 129. WHETHER the front of the encampment is open or retrenched, there must be a space of at least 300 paces between the tents and the quarter-guards, that the troops may have room to form themselves in order of battle, and that the cavalry may be able to make their movements without difficulty. In some situations, and frequently in hilly countries, it may be necessary to pitch the tents nearer the retrenchments. In that case, if the enemy should make an attack, they must be immediately struck, the pegs taken up, and every hole made as level as possible.

§ 130. The length of the front or parade of each regiment, will depend upon the number

number of men it contains; because the tents are to be entirely covered when they are under arms, and the intervals between the regiments must neither be too great nor too fmall. One pace is generally allowed for each infantry foldier, and one and a half for each cavalry foldier.—For instance, a battalion of 200 men in front will require 200 paces, and a fquadron of 50 men in front, 75 paces; the intervals between the battalions must be equal to, one-eighth of their front, and those between the fquadrons to one-third. Hence the front of each regiment, and that of the whole army, may be easily regulated. The streets between the battalions must be 20, 25, or 30 paces in breadth, as circumstances may require, and in general there must be a space of about 300 paces between the front of the first and second lines. The intervals between the fquadrons of cavalry ought never to be less than 20, nor more than 50 paces.—In this respect, however, no established rule can be laid down: because their exact length will always be proportioned

proportioned to the nature and extent of the ground that is to be occupied. Towards the end of a campaign, when the regiments become weaker, the front of the lines ought to be contracted; otherwife the intervals will be too great, and of course dangerous against an enterprising and an active enemy; which was once fufficiently proved, to an Imperial corps, by the refult of an attack which was made upon it by the Turks. We also find, in Feuquier's account of the battle of Ramillies, that the Duke of Marlborough beat Villeroi owing to the largeness of the intervals between his fquadrons. For he fays the fquadrons of the fecond line of Marlborough's cavalry fronted the intervals between those of the first, and when they attacked the French cavalry, it appears that the fquadrons of the fecond line rode through the enemy's intervals, wheeled to the right and left, took them in flank, and gained a complete victory.

Vol. I.

I

§ 131. IF

§ 131. If the ground and other circumftances will admit of it, troops ought always to march and encamp in order of battle. The Engineers must therefore take
care not to commit any mistake in the extent of ground which is to be allotted to
each regiment. In the German and French
armies, the regiments encamp according
to feniority: consequently, the order of
battle cannot be altered, except when the
army is reinforced by other regiments, or
when some are taken away.

§ 132. Too rigid an adherence however to this mode of encamping, according to the feniority of regiments, is perhaps a bad custom, and may be sometimes productive of mischief.

The day before the battle of Nerwind* was fought, some regiments in the French army were diffatisfied at not being posted

for

^{*} This battle was fought July 19th, 1693, between the allies under king William III. and the French under F. M. Luxemburg.—Vide Feuquier's Memoirs, and the 14th Vol. of the Theatr. Europ. page 463.

Translator.

for the action according to their rank; and, in confequence of their request, the order of battle was changed. This delay gave the enemy an opportunity of throwing up works in the night, which were not taken till three attacks had been made upon them, and many lives lost.

At the battle of Torgau, the King of Pruffia marched round the Austrians and came in their rear; in consequence of this movement they countermarched, in order that they might change their front, and the fecond line then flood upon the ground which the first had occupied, and the first upon that of the second. The discipline of the Austrians enabled them to perform this evolution in a short time; but, if the Prussians had left the wood sooner, and made an attack before it was completed, they would have had fufficient reason to repent of this attention to the rank of their regiments. In my opinion, it would have been much better if each regiment had faced to the right about upon its own ground; especially as seniority is not T 2

not given to any corps on account of its fuperior courage or fervices, but according to the rank of its General.

§ 133. THE Russians frequently change their order of battle, particularly when they are apprehensive of a general engagement; from a persuasion of its being advantageous, that the enemy should be ignorant of the position of the different regiments, and that he may therefore make his attacks against the strongest and best corps in their army.

The Austrian order of battle is always in two lines with a referve; but, as the Russians are accustomed to fight in squares, they regulate it accordingly.

The annexed plans will show the diftribution and breadth of the streets, and the position of the tents, guards, kitchens, &c. both for the infantry and cavalry, in the Saxon service. In other armies there is some little difference.

. Vol. II. Pl. 3 and 4.

§ 134.

§ 134. PL. 2. represents the encampment of a regiment of infantry of three battalions. The whole front a, b, is 570 paces; the depth of the parade a, c, 30; and c, d, e, f, show the space which the battalions occupy when drawn up. The front rank is fix paces in the rear of the line of Officers c, d; the three ranks are four paces afunder; the non-commissioned officers are two paces behind the rear rank; and fix paces behind them, are the Second Lieute-The Colours are 16, and the Bells of Arms eight paces in front of the line of tents g, b; the first tent of each company fronts the parade, and the last, towards the rear: the rest front their respective o streets. The depth of g, i, and b, k, depends of course upon the number of men, and, in general, each tent contains five foldiers, their wives included *.

The

^{*} In the original work, the author has given the grenadiers b, k, and g, i, four tents less than the other companies; because their establishment was proportionably smaller. But, as they have all been upon an equality in point of numbers since the year 1778, I have described them according to their present strength.—Translator.

The Captains tents p, q, are behind their companies, 15 paces from those of the Lieutenants n, o, and are 10 paces in depth.— The Lieutenants tents are fix paces in depth, and four from the private foldiers; the First-Lieutenants are upon the right of their refpective companies, the Second or Enfigns upon the left; and, unless two Subalterns fleep in one tent, there must be another row of Sub-Lieutenants behind the Captains.— τ , t, are the tents of the Majors; the Colonel's tent is marked u, 1, and that of the Lieutenant-Colonel u 2: these five tents are 12 paces deep, and 20 from the Captains.—The Adjutants are behind their o respective Majors in the tents 1, 2, and 3; the Quarter-Master behind the Colonel in 4; the Auditor in 5, the Chaplain behind the Lieutenant-Colonel in 6, and the Surgeon in 7; all these tents are 20 paces in the rear of the Field Officers.

The Drum-Major and the Quarter-Mafter-Serjeant are in one of the tents v, v; the regimental Provost, and the Waggon-Master in the other; these tents are seven paces

paces behind the Adjutants, &c.—The Servants and Batmen are in the line w, w, fix paces in the rear of v, v, the horses x, x, two paces in the rear of the Batmen, and 10 paces in front of the Waggons y, y; the Mess-tents are 20 paces behind the Waggons, and the Kitchens 26 behind the Mess-tents.

A, a is the Quarter-Guard, and b, b the Rear-Guard.—The Rear-Guard is fix paces from the Mess-tents, and the Necessaries tz, tz are 150 behind the Kitchens.

§ 135. PLAN 3, shows the encampment of a regiment of Cavalry of four squadrons, and one company of carabineers.—When the regiment is drawn up, the front of each squadron is 50 paces, that of the carabineer company 25; the space between it and the squadron upon the right 10 paces, and those between the squadrons 20 each: consequently the whole front is 295 paces in length. The place d'armes from a to c, and from b to d, is 30 paces; the breadth of each rank, or the length of

Digitized by Google

the horses, is estimated at three, and the space between each rank at seven. The depth of the company's streets will depend upon the number of horses.

The tents are five paces in depth, the diftance between them and the pickets two, and the length of the horses three. When the ground is divided, the space between the carabineers f, b, i, k, and the squadron upon the right must be 25 paces, and those between the squadrons 33, that the streets may remain 16 paces in breadth *.

There must be two Lieutenants in each tent: the size of their tents, and the distance from them to those of the Captains, Major, Lieutenant-Colonel, and Colonel is the same as in the Infantry.—N is the Colonel's tent, m that of the Lieutenant-Colonel, and I that of the Major; the Adjutant is in the tent o, six paces in the rear of I, the Surgeon in p, the Auditor and

Translator.

Chaplain

[•] According to this calculation, the author seems to allow one pace for the length of each horse's halter from the picket; otherwise the streets would be 18 paces in breadth.

To choose an Encampment, &c. 121 Chaplain in q, and the Quarter-Master in r*.

The Servants and Batmen are lodged in the tents v, v, five paces in the rear of s, t, u, and two in front of the Horses w, w; the Waggons x, x, are fix paces in depth, and 10 behind the Horses; the Mess-tents are 20 paces behind the Waggons, and 20 in front of the Kitchens. The Standard - Guard, Rear-Guard, and Necessaries tz, tz, have the same situation as in a regiment of infantry.

§ 136. If the enemy is at a great diftance, the encampment of an army may be formed in whatever manner may be most convenient for the troops. It may be in three, four, five, or more lines, according to the nature of the ground; and the cavalry, instead of being upon the flanks, may en-

camp

^{*} As an explanation of s, r, u, are omitted in the Original, it may not be unnecessary to observe that these tents should be six paces in the rear of o, p, q, r; and that they contain the Kettle-Drummers, Trumpeters, Quarter-Master-Serjeant, Waggon-Master, and Provost.—Translator.

camp near a river, or wherever they can get a supply of good water.

Upon the 2d of July 1759, the Austrian army was encamped near Reichenberg in fix lines, one behind the other, with the cavalry of the right wing in the rear of the whole, near the river Neisse; and, if it was necessary, I could give many more instances of the same kind.—Under such circumstances, the ground need not be divided with accuracy in the front; and, as it is better that the intervals should be too large than too fmall, they may be measured by the eye. The Generals and Volunteers may also pitch their tents in the front of the army, or remain in the nearest villages. - It seldom happens, however, that an army is in a fituation to admit of fo much liberty: for, if the enemy should not be within the distance of 30 or 40 miles, it would be improper, from a principle which I have already mentioned, and which indeed cannot be too well remembered, viz. that nothing is more dangerous in military operations than than to place too much confidence in the strength or security of any position whatever.

- § 137. When the enemy is near, every idea of ease and convenience must be laid aside, and there cannot be too much caution in the choice of a camp or position. The following circumstances are then to be attended to, and I shall treat of each of them in its proper turn.
 - 1. The flanks must be well defended.
 - 2. The country in front must not be disadvantageous, in case of an attack.
 - 3. The rear must be free, and at the fame time covered.
 - 4. The different kinds of troops must be posted in a manner that will enable them to manœuvre with freedom, and to fupport each other.
 - 5. The head-quarters must be well defended, and every General as near as poffible to his respective brigade.

§ 138. THE

§ 138. The flanks are the weakest parts of every position, therefore great attention must be paid to their security, that they may neither be turned nor commanded.—That is to say, they ought to be appuyed to woods, rivers, morasses, heights, valleys, villages, or retrenchments, according to the nature of the country: and, as the King of Prussia has said in his "Instructions to bis Generals," that upwards of 200 different positions may be taken in the square of five miles; the Commanding Officer of every army ought to know, at first sight, how each object may be turned to the best advantage.

§ 139. It is not to be confidered, however, that all woods will afford a good defence, either for the flanks or front of an army; notwithstanding abbatis may be formed in them with the greatest ease: for I scarce remember an instance of their not having been carried by a judicious and resolute attack.—In such a situation, the fire of the defending corps will be also greatly

greatly obstructed, while the strength and movements of its affailants are effectually concealed. - Nor are these the only disadvantages: for, the increased echo and rattling of cannon-shot among the trees will be apt to magnify the fears of the private foldiers, and to facilitate their repulse.— In which case, openings can be made with much greater ease than is generally imagined, as well for the divisions as for the artillery: because, on these occasions, the enemy will be attended by a fufficient number of workmen with axes, faws, &c. for that purpose.—And I can affert from my own experience, that the bravest troops will never make fo good a defence from . an abbatis, as when they are covered by a parapet.

The use of abbatis, and the different methods of forming them, will be explained hereafter.

§ 140. THE flanks of a position cannot be so easily or so effectually covered, as by a lake, morass, inundation, or unfordable river: river: because they neither stand in need of artificial defence, nor give the enemy an opportunity of concealing his movements. But even these protections demand a cautious and constant attention on our part; lest he should find means to pass undiscovered, and fall upon our rear*. Such an event befel the Russians at the siege of Custrin, and the battle of Zornsdorff was the result of it †.

Whenever our front or flanks are defended by a river, all the bridges and fords must be well guarded or destroyed. But I shall explain this subject more particularly in the 21st Chapter.

§ 141. HEIGHTS, mountains, and ravines afford a convenient defence to the flanks of a position; and, as the means of improving them by art, will be explained

5

Digitized by Google

in

[•] The fuccess of the late important attack upon Amstelveen, will be an ever memorable instance of the truth and propropriety of this observation.—Translator.

⁺ See the second Volume and second Section of my Account of the WAR, &c.—Author.

If there are heights in front of those to which our flanks are appuyed, which are as high or higher than our own, and within cannon-shot of them; our position must be extremely dangerous. Because, if an attack should be made, the enemy will not fail to take possession of them, and we shall then be so much galled by the fire of his artillery from thence, that our army will probably be beat or thrown into confusion. Commanding heights in the front of a position are not so disadvantageous: for, in most cases, they may either be enclosed within a part of our lines, or rendered less formidable by a judicious formation of them.

It frequently happens that a good position may be taken, notwithstanding there are one or more heights in the front, which may be favourable to the enemy, if taken: in that case they ought to be well intrenched, and defended by grenadiers or other picked troops, with an abundant

abundant supply of cannon.—See Pl. 28,] N° 23, and the 25th Chapter.

§ 142. As the choice, attack, and defence of positions are to be regulated by the shape and situation of the different heights, I think it incumbent upon me to give a more particular description of them.

When one height is faid to command another, it is understood that they are within cannon - shot, and that the one is higher than the other. Some are able to determine the relative height of two hills at the first coup d'œil: but such an advantage is not to be attained without much practice; and those who have not had fufficient experience, are apt to be misled by the height of the eye above the ground, and the more fo, when they are on horseback. I would therefore advise every beginner to lay himself upon his belly, and to direct his fight horizontally to the opposite hill, that he may form an opinion with greater accuracy: or, before he makes his final determination, he may

To choose an Encampment, &c. 129 may place himself upon a third hill and examine them again from thence *.

If the heights which lie opposite to our position are somewhat lower than our own, we have a great advantage; because our artillery will then be able to rake them by firing horizontally or en ricochet. But, on the other hand, if there is a considerable difference, the shot will be uncertain, and bury themselves as soon as they strike the ground. Pl. 30. fig. 3+.

§ 143. THE next object of confideration is, whether the fides of a height are steep and rocky, or whether there is a continued and gradual slope from the top of them to the bottom.—For, if we wish to intrench ourselves so as to make an attack impracticable, the first are to be preferred: but, if

Author.

Vol. I. K we

[•] See the First Volume of Tielke's Account of the WAR, pages 91, 92, and 93, with Messrs. Crausurds' note on this subject.—Translator.

⁺ See the description of prof. 2. in the second Section of the first Volume, and the use of artillery in the third Section.

we only intend to gain an advantage over the enemy by the superiority of our position, the latter kind will be best adapted to our purpose. At the battle of Torgau the Austrian batteries occupied ground of this description, which gave them so complete a command over the Prussian columns, that they moved down whole ranks upon their coming out of the wood; and the grenadiers, notwithstanding their uncommon sirmness and intrepidity, were totally incapable of forming themselves for the attack *.

Hence it is evident, (1), that our cannon and grape-shot must have their sull effect when the descent is gradual; and (2), that our infantry and cavalry will be able to manœuvre with freedom, either for the purpose of taking the enemy in slank, or of lending assistance wherever it may be required.

§ 144. When detached troops occupy a

height

For the consequences of an attack upon steep heights, see Vel. I, pages 28 and 29.—Author.

height whose side next the army is either very steep, or separated from it by a ravine, the means of a retreat must be secured and pointed out to them: notwithflanding it may be impossible to keep up a direct communication by making or repairing roads. — For the bravest troops would confider their fituation extremely unpleasant, if, in case of a repulse, they were under the necessity of giving up their baggage and artillery, and of running headlong down a precipice. Such was the position of a brigade of Austrian grenadiers near Hohen-Giersdorff in the year 1760, and fuch were the melancholy confequences of its defeat.

fending the wings of an encampment, is to appuyer them to villages; because they are generally strong without the affistance of art.—If they contain ditches, gardens, walls, and walled church-yards, it is extremely difficult to drive a body of determined troops out of them; and indeed,

K 2

if

if we were not so well acquainted with the methods of setting them on fire, I think I may venture to say, it would be almost impossible to attack them with success.—
On this account retrenchments seem to deserve a preference.

In the course of my campaigns with the Austrians, I have known but very sew instances of their having retrenched villages, or indeed, of their having made use of them at all for the desence of their slanks: provided their positions were strong in other respects.—When there were any in front, or upon the wings of their encampments, works were thrown up at some distance from them, that their troops might maintain their ground after they had been set on fire.

In the year 1760, the Prussians covered the village of Jauernig, near Schweidnitz, with very strong works.

§ 146. When the flank of an army cannot be appuyed or defended after any of the foregoing methods, or, when the declivity

declivity of the height upon which it lies, admits the probability of an attack in that quarter; part of the troops may be formed en potence.—That is to fay, some battalions may post themselves so as to make a salient, and generally a rect-angle with the main line.—It is at the same time of the greatest consequence, that this slank of the position should not be enfiladed.

§ 147. No ground is so favourable for the front of an encampment as that which exposes the enemy to the fire of our artillery, keeps him always in our sight, and enables us to dispute every inch of his advance.—These advantages are only to be acquired when we occupy a height from whence there is a gradual descent.

§ 148. Another advantage is to be derived from having a river in the front, whose banks are exposed to the fire of our batteries. For in that case, if a resolute enemy should effect a passage, it cannot be done without much loss; and after all,

K 3

he

he will be obliged to attack our position, with fatigued troops.

§ 149. A RAVINE in the front of an encampment is also a very confiderable addition to its strength; especially if the enemy is under the necessity of passing it before he can make an attack.

The Austrian General Brentano had fuch a position near Adelshach, on the 6th of July 1762, where he was attacked with the utmost vigour by a corps of Prussians: but their efforts were unsuccessful.

As many officers have defired me to give a particular account of this action, I shall proceed to describe it in such a manner as will enable my readers to form a correct idea of it, by referring to that part of Schubart's provincial map of Silesia which comprehends the circle of Schweidnitz*.

As this map of Silefia is not much known in England, I have added a small plan of the ground in question, with the different positions of both the corps; and, although I cannot vouch for its extreme accuracy, I may reasonably suppose it will convey a more clear and satisfactory idea of the action, than the method proposed by Captain Ticke.—Translator.

^{§ 150.} GENERAL

\$ 150. GENERAL Brentano's corps, confifting of 18 squadrons, 7 battalions, and 2 companies of Jagers, was posted near. Adelfbach for the purpose of covering the rear and left flank of the Austrian army, while it was encamped near Freyburg and Kunzendorff, under the command of Field Marshal Daun.

\$ 151. THE ground which this corps occupied, viz. from the Zeiskewald to Liebersdorff, was about 8,000 paces in length, and the village of Adelfbach lay in a deep ravine in its front. The rivulet of Zeiske passed through this ravine, and above it the heights rose amphitheatrically on each fide.—The fummit, especially towards Salzbrunnen, was composed of feveral hillocks; which, from their vicinity to each other, formed small hollows or valleys, and in some of them there were running streams.-From the end of the village of Adelfbach to the ruins of the old castle of Zeiske (Zeiske-Schloss), and to the stone-bridges, the sides of the ravine K 4

vine were very steep, particularly at the Zeiskewald. - At the junction of Adelsbach and Liebersdorff, there were two woody hills of great height on the oppofite fide, called the Lerchenberg and Engelsberg. Upon the last-mentioned hill there was a battalion of Croats*, and between them a road which came from Liebersdorff, went behind the opposite fide of the ravine and the Zeiske-Schloss, and led to the village of Zeiske-berg.— This road was croffed by three others from Quolmsdorff to Adelsbach. The first of them passed through the right end of the village near the last mill, and divided itself at the Zeiskéwald; one branch going to Zeiskeberg and the other to Pilsnitz and Furstenstein.—On the right of this road one company of Jagers was posted at the ravine; and near the last mill there were two round heights covered with trees: that on the right was occupied by two companies of Croats, and the other by one battalion and a half with four pieces of

[•] Inhabitants of Croatia, who act as light infantry.—Translator.

Cannon.—

cannon.—The fecond road from Nieder-Salzbrunn, left these hills to the right, and paffed through Adelfbach to Quolmfdorff.—To the left of that road there were two other high hills, which ascended gradually from the village: upon one of them stood a battalion of grenadiers with four pieces of cannon, and upon the other, one battalion of Arberg with two pieces of cannon. Between these hills there was a hollow way, which came from Salzbrunn, passed through the yard belonging to a large house in Adelsbach, and went to Reichenau. - Lastly, there was another high and steep hill covered with trees, which had a break near the bottom; and upon this hill there were two battalions of Bethlem with four pieces of artillery. To the left of this post there was another road leading from Liebersdorff to Conradsdorff and Neu-Salzbrunn. - Here the ground was rather flat, the woody hill upon the left excepted. On this fide, the huffars of Kalnoki, St. Ignon, and the dragoons of Darmstadt were posted during the attack, to cover the left flank of the corps; and,

at the junction of Adelfbach and Liebers-dorff, there was one company of Jagers.

§ 152. In the evening of the 4th inft. the King of Prussia, who was encamped near Jauernig, ordered the left of his rear line, in which there were some Russian troops, to march and join General Neuwied; whose corps, consisting of 14 squadrons and 22 battalions, was then cantoned near Striegau. This reinforcement augmented the whole body to 30 battalions and 60 squadrons; and with them the King advanced against General Brentano.

If this expedition had been successful, he would have gained the rear of the main army of the Austrians, he would have cut them off from Landshut, and he would have obliged them to undertake a very difficult retreat over a mountainous country; probably with the entire loss of their baggage and heavy artillery.

§ 153. On the 6th, at four o'clock, A. M. the Prussians began to drive back. General Brentano's advanced posts, and attacked attacked the battalion of Croats, which was posted near the Engelsberg, with free parties *, hussars and Cosacks †. This battalion retreated through the village; but orders were immediately given that it should again advance and maintain the Engelsberg.—These orders were obeyed, for it remained in the wood between Liebersdorff and the Engelsberg as long as the action continued, under the support of the company of Jagers that was posted at the junction of Adelsbach and Liebersdorff. The two companies of Jagers were continually skirmishing with the Prussians, and took one colour.

\$ 154. THE Prussians, who had suffered much from Brentano's artillery during their advance, established five batteries upon the opposite heights, and formed behind them in two lines. When the cannonade had been maintained for some

hours

[•] See a Note in Messirs, Crausurds' translation, Vol. I. pages 19 and 20.—Translator.

⁺ Cosacks are inhabitants of the Ukraine, who were originally vagabonds from Poland, Russia, Hungary, Turky, Tartary, &c. and are at present a formidable people.—Translator.

hours with confiderable heat on both fides; fix battalions advanced crofs the ravine in three columns, and marched against the hill on which the two battalions of Bethlem were posted. This hill covered and entirely commanded the left of General Brentano's position; and it was at the same time so steep, particularly the upper part of it, that an attack in that quarter was thought to have been impracticable.

§ 155. ONE of these columns marched through the large yard in Adelsbach, and the other two upon the lest of it. The first advanced directly against the battalion of Arberg; while the third went up the lest side of the hill to attack the second battalion of Bethlem; but they were both driven back by the bayonet and grape-shot.

§ 156. THE fecond or centre column marched in a straight line up the hill, gained the break or projection, and advanced under cover of the trees and smoke to the summit; directing its course against the

the interval between the two battalions of Bethlem. Fifty or fixty men were regularly formed for the attack, and more were endeavouring to crawl up, when Colonel Tillier fortunately discovered them as he was riding to the fecond battalion. He immediately wheeled one division and a half to the left, and made so sudden a charge upon them with fixed bayonets, that they were driven headlong down to their own battalions, which were then formed upon the projection below. the Austrian battalions immediately slid down the hill after them, holding their fwords in the right and their firelocks in the left hands, drove them to the bottom. purfued them cross the ravine, and took one colour.

§ 157. In the mean time H. R. H. Prince Albrecht of Saxony came from the main army with two regiments of cuiraffiers, to reinforce the Austrians. He posted himself in the rear of the infantry, between the second and third roads. First, that he

might

142 PART f. CHAP. VII.

might be ready to charge the Prussians, in case they should have forced their way through Brentano's position; and secondary, that he might not be unnecessarily exposed to their sire.

§ 158. THE Pruffians then made a movement as if they meant to attack Brentano's right wing. A column advanced along the second road towards Nieder-Adelsbach; but the fire of the Austrian artillery, and of the company of Jagers upon their flank, obliged them to retreat.

§ 159. When this attempt proved ineffectual, the whole Prussian corps retreated, and encamped behind Reichenau;
where they received from the main army
a reinforcement of two regiments of infantry, one battalion of grenadiers, and
one regiment of hussars. But these did
not arrive till the fate of the action had
been decided. A battalion of grenadiers
was also sent and posted behind the ravine
of Furstenstein, to cover the retreat of the
Austrians:

Austrians: for when the enemy's strength was made known to Field-Marshal Daun, he had no doubt but that General Brentano would lose the day.

§ 160. The heavy cannonade from the Prussian batteries killed 300 Austrians: and, as the ground was fo difadvantageous, that their battalions could not fire during the attack, it may be reasonably supposed that the loss on their fide, in killed, wounded, and deferters, must have exceeded 1,000 I am notwithstanding of opinion, that General Brentano's excellent position, the good conduct of his troops, and the peculiar bravery of the Hungarian regiment of Bethlem, would scarce have enabled him to have maintained his ground, if the Pruffians had been able to attack with their whole front.—But it is now time for me to finish this digression, and to return to the regular fubject of the prefent chapter.

§ 161. When hollow ways and ditches are parallel to the front of an encampment,

ment, they will be extremely useful in stopping the enemy's cavalry and artillery. But, if they run obliquely or in a straight line to it, his troops will get into them, and approach our position without being exposed to fire.—In such cases, therefore, they ought either to be filled up or rendered impassable, as will be more particularly explained hereafter.

§ 162. HEDGES and brush-wood in the front are also serviceable, because they impede the advance of an enemy, without sheltering him from our fire. - But, if many large trees are intermixed with them, they ought to be cut down and left upon the ground, that they may become an additional obstruction.

If, at the same time, the country is so interfected with ditches, ponds, moraffes, &c. that he must necessarily advance in column, our cannon will have their full effect. Of course the batteries ought to be augmented wherever he will have occasion to pass: for by those means we **shall** To choose an Encampment, &c. 145 shall be doing him incredible injury before he can make any attack upon us.

When troops are able to march up to an attack in line, a cannon-shot will only destroy three men; unless it should take them in slank: whereas, if the ground does not permit them to deployer from the column, its effect will be infinitely more terrible. To prove this affertion, I need only observe, that at the battle of Zornsdorff, one shot mowed down 42 men, belonging to the second regiment of Russian grenadiers *.

§ 163. However strong the situation of an army may be, the Commander in Chief of it ought always to be aware of the possibility of a defeat. Of course his rear must be free and open.—At the battle of Zornsdorff the Russians lost 24,000 men, because their rear and flanks were too much surrounded by rivers and morasses

Vol. I. L to

[•] To know the effect of the fire of small arms under similar circumstances, see Vol. V. Sect 1.—Author.

to admit of a retreat. Hence it is evident that fuch a position must be bad, notwithstanding the ground in front may be advantageous in every respect.

The next object of our inquiry, ought to be into the possibility of an enemy's getting round the position, and of attacking the rear of the army: as was the case at the ever-memorable battles of Torgau and Zornsdorff*.—In the first instance, however, the ground was favourable to Field Marshal Daun, wherever he directed his front: but in the second, the situation of the Russians was equally disadvantageous on all sides.

No positions are so completely defective as those which are capable of being attacked in front and rear at the same time t.

§ 164. In the distribution of the differ-

ent

[•] See the detailed account and plan of this battle, Vol. II. Sect. 2.—Author.

See the account of the battle of Maxen, Vol. I. Sect. 1.

Author.

ent kinds of troops within an encampment, it is above all things to be remembered, that they must be able to manœuvre with ease, to make the best use of their arms, and to support each other.—Therefore the rule, or rather the custom, of posting cavalry upon the flanks ought to be in general disregarded.

When the Austrians were encamped upon the high Eulen-Geburge, in the year 1762, their hussars were behind the front.

§ 165. CROATS, free battalions, Jagers, and light infantry of every denomination, ought to be posted in villages, hollow ways, woods, &c.; cavalry, upon the plains; and regular infantry upon the heights. At the same time it may not be improper to observe, that a line of cavalry will always make a more advantageous attack up hill, than when it is descending ; and, that the

case

[•] See the 1st Vol. of Messirs. Craufurds' translation of Tielke's ACCOUNT of the WAR, &c. pages 29 and 161, and their notes upon those passages.—Translator.

case is reversed with the infantry.—Heights ought to be crowned by battalions of infantry, and not by cavalry; because their fire will hinder the ascent of an enemy: but, if some squadrons are posted in the rear, at the distance of two or three hundred paces, they will be ready to receive him as soon as he gains the summit, and to drive him back before he can have had time to make the necessary preparations for a regular attack *.

When a camp or position is intersected by rivers, ditches, or hollow ways, a sufficient number of passes must be made over them; and, if the sides of the hills are too steep, they must be sloped off, and roads made wherever they are wanted: otherwise a free communication cannot be kept up, and of course the troops will be unable to support each other.

§ 166. In a Russian army the Generals are at all times obliged to sleep in tents;

* Vol. I. Sect 3 .- Author.

but,

but, in the fervices of other European powers, they are allowed to have quarters. except when fighting against the Turks: and the camp generally takes its name from the village, in which the Commander in Chief is lodged. - Head - quarters ought to be as near as possible to the encampment, out of the fire of the enemy's artillery, and guarded against a surprise.— It fometimes happens, however, that fuch a fituation is not to be had, and that they must be necessarily established either upon one of the flanks, or in front of the position. In that case they must be covered by a separate corps, placed there for that purpose; as at the Austrian camp near Krazkau, on the 15th of May, 1762.

Notwithstanding the necessity of these precautions, they have been sometimes disregarded by our greatest Generals; and in the year 1761, the King of Prussia would certainly have been made a prisoner by Captain Wallis of the Croats, if his scheme had not been discovered a few hours before it was to have been carried into execution.

L 3 § 167. As

§ 167. As I have now explained what ought to be attended to in the choice of camps, and in the distribution of the troops, I shall proceed to describe the method of marking out the ground.

The Quarter - Master, Quarter - Master-Serjeant, and Camp-colour-men belonging to each regiment, must affemble at an appointed place, and march before the army with a sufficient guard; either under the direction of the Quarter-Master-General, or an Engineer. The directing Officer will provide himself with a good map; and, if he should not be acquainted with the country, he must take guides, with whom he or the junior Engineers will reconnoitre with as much attention as the time will admit of.

§ 168. As foon as the place of encampment is fixed, the directing Officer must consider how the flanks are to be appuyed, and what will be the most favourable direction for the front of the position: secondly, he must either pace off the ground

or

or measure it by the eye, that he may know if there will be room for all the battalions and squadrons of the first line, or, if the line must be broken: thirdly, he must point out the space which each regiment will be ordered to occupy, as well as the intervals between the different battalions: and lastly, he must see that the camp colours are properly placed. If the ground is too narrow, or if there are obstacles upon it which cannot be removed, some battalions may encamp in the rear or en potence: and on the other hand, if it is too extensive, the intervals may be increased. In both these cases, however, it must be remembered, that, if an attack should be made, the troops will labour under great disadvantages, whether the intervals are too large, or whether they are crowded together so as not to be able to manœuvre with freedom.—He must also make minute inquiry into the position, fize, and extent of the different villages which are likely to be convenient for head-quarters; for the quarters of the Generals, Volunteers, and L 4

and Commissaries; as well as for the Magazines.—In this part of his duty, particular attention will be requisite, lest the villages should not be able to contain the troops, horses, waggons, stores, &c. when ordered into them: for it once happened, in the seven years war, that two regiments of cavalry were directed to take up their quarters in a vineyard called the Weissauer, near Lossnitz; because an Engineer concluded it was a village, from having seen the name in his map, and reported it as such.

The interior division of the villages, and of the ground allotted to each regiment, will be left entirely to the Quarter-Masters.

CHAPTER

CHAPTER VIII.

Of the Distribution of Posts, Guards, and Detachments.

§ 169. I N the field there are three kinds of guards.

Ist. Camp or regimental guards, which come under the description of quarter, standard, and rear-guards.

adly. Pickets, which are only ready to march and to strengthen the posts during the night.—In some services the reserve always holds itself in readiness for this duty, and supplies the place of the pickets whenever they are ordered to march.

3dly. Advanced guards.—This is the only species of guard which I need take into my consideration: because the first and second are totally regulated by the Generals and Commanding Officers of regiments.

§ 170. AD-

§ 170. ADVANCED - GUARDS and outposts are intended to secure the camp, and to prevent surprises, or unnecessary alarms; which harass the troops exceedingly. It is therefore a matter of great importance that they should be placed with judgment, and well supported.

Posts and guards of infantry are regular, when composed of grenadiers and musketeers; and irregular, or (as the ancients called them) *light-armed*, when composed of Croats, Jagers, free corps, &c.

Advanced guards of cavalry confift either of heavy or light horse; viz. Cuiraffiers, Carabineers, Dragoons, Hussars, &c.

§ 171. In the course of a dangerous retreat or secret march, it sometimes happens that a post must be necessarily lest in a situation where it will be exposed to the enemy's attacks; without being able to retire to another, or to receive the least assistance. But in every other case, and indeed whenever it is practicable, all the different kinds

Of the Distribution of Posts, &c. 155 kinds of troops which compose the advanced guards must be able to lend each other mutual support.

§ 172. In these cases the Commanding Officers of the different posts generally receive orders to defend themselves to the last extremity. It then becomes them to lay aside every idea of their own preservation: and, in pure consideration of the good of their country and the honour of their Sovereign, they must endeavour, by the most undaunted resolution, to do the enemy all the injury in their power.

§ 173. As it is the principal object of all armies to gain time, whenever they are thus circumstanced; prudence is not less necessary in the distribution of the posts, than courage in the defence of them. They ought therefore to be placed either in situations which are strong by nature, or in such as can be made so by art. Every Officer who is then lest with the command of a post must fight as long as he

he is able.—And when he has discharged that part of his duty, he may show figns of an intention to capitulate, and treat with the party that is fent to him in a tedious and circumstantial manner, that the army may have made some progress before the terms are finally agreed upon. however cannot be done with fuccess, neither will he be able to benefit by any resource that may be within his reach, unless he preserves his presence of mind, and a confiderable share of cool intrepidity. — If his enemy is really brave, he will know how to fet a proper value upon his firmness, and, when driven to the last extremity, he will not hesitate to allow him an honourable capitulation. But, if he has no fuch enemy to deal with, he must die with his sword in his hand *.

Notwithstanding a post may be in the greatest danger, and even without the pos-

fibility

[•] Military history does not produce a greater or a more glorious instance of the effects of courage and prudence, than Xenophon's retreat with his 10,000 Greeks: of which Mons. le Cointe has given a particular account in his work, entitled "Commentaires sur la retraite de dix mille."—Author.

fibility of relief, it becomes the officer who commands it to conceal his fituation, to encourage his men with a prospect of fuccess, to show confidence in their courage, and even to pretend to have promifes of affistance. By these means he will create a spirit of perseverance, which will be of the greatest service to him.—And, when the last push is to be made, he must endeavour to rouse them to the highest pitch of rage and despair, that their defence may be attended with all the obstinacy and horror imaginable, and that the enemy may have reason to repent of his dear-bought victory.—Of this Leonidas, the King of Sparta, gave a noble proof at the Straits of Thermopile *.

§ 174. But, as advanced guards and posts must have support in almost all cases, it is generally given them in the

following

^{*} There are also several instances of heroic intrepidity, both in attack and defence, in the 3d and 4th Sections of the 4th Vol. of my "Account of the WAR," &c.; in the 1st and 2d Sections of Vol. V; and in the 16th and 20th Chapters of Vol. VI.—Author.

following manner; except when a mountainous or interfected country makes it necessary to adopt some other system.—Light cavalry are supported by heavy cavalry; and heavy cavalry, Croats, Jagers, and free corps, by regular infantry.

§ 175. ALL out-posts intended for the security of a camp or position, ought to be placed in such a manner, that no part of the enemy's troops may be able to pass the chain or to approach the army, without being seen and opposed by them. It is therefore essentially necessary that they should be in a state of mutual support, and that their respective vedettes or sentinels should always be within sight of each other.

The number of men upon each post must be regulated by the intention, state, and position of the army; by the strength of the enemy; by his usual method of carrying on a war, and by the nature of the country.

§ 176. WHEN-

or of covering itself behind those of infantry: which always maintain their ground as long as possible, unless they have express orders to the contrary. Upon such an occasion, every officer will have a glorious opportunity of showing his courage, judgment, and prudence in their brightest colours.

In the year 1762, when the Prussians had penetrated the Austrian retrenchments and abbatis near Burkersdorff, during their blockade of Schweidnitz, a Lieutenant belonging to the green regiment * of Loudon defended himself above two hours in the redout, N° 1, with incredible bravery; and when he had expended the whole of his ammunition, he set fire to the small abbatis in his rear, retreated through it with his sew surviving men, and brought them safe into Schweidnitz.

[•] So called from the colour of their uniforms.—Translator.

—This

—This is an example equally worthy of our praise and imitation.

§ 177. EVERY post must fend out small parties, which, at the approach of a superior number of the enemy's troops, give an alarm, and retreat to the places from whence they were detached.

The principal posts (especially if composed of infantry) are to maintain their ground till they receive orders to the contrary: for, if one of them was to march to the support of another, it would occation a dangerous opening in the chain; and no good whatever could accrue, beyond the resistance of a feint, or, at most, a successful opposition one of several attacks.

A prudent General will always inform his posts where they may be allowed to retreat, or from whence they are to receive support *.—But if this should have been

^{*} To prove the ill effects of a want of attention to this particular, I refer my readers to an account of the attack which was made by the Prussians upon the fort N° 2. near Schweidnitz, Vol. IV. Sect. 2.—Author.

at any time neglected, the Officers who command them, must consider it a part of their duty to make themselves acquainted with every circumstance attending their situation, as well as the best means of keeping off the enemy; remembering at the same time, that they are never to retire to any of the posts upon their slanks, but upon all occasions, towards the army: for that is a rule which admits of no alteration.

As foon as an Officer is upon his post, it is necessary that he should acquire an exact knowledge of the country, roads, and passes on all sides of him; that he should consider the different ways by which the enemy may approach or attack him; that he should be constantly upon his guard, not withstanding the distant prospect of danger or the well-known vigilance and attention of his men; and lastly, that he should frequently visit the parties he has sent out, especially during the night, to vol. I.

know if they are strictly obedient to his instructions*.

§ 178. If an Officer supposes his soldiers to be incapable of judging of the propriety of his conduct, he will be greatly deceived. Their sentiments are impartial, and their penetration quick and accurate; particularly when they have had the experience of a few campaigns.—If they observe confusion, fear, or want of decision in his arrangements, a panick may seize even the most resolute of his party, and occasion the inevitable loss of his post.—On the other hand, very moderate soldiers will sight well, if they find they can repose a thorough considence in the courage and prudence of their Commanding Officer.

§ 179. I now proceed to treat of advanced guards and posts, according to the different kinds of troops of which they may be

composed:

^{*} Vide Vol. VI. Chap. X; and the disposition for the defence of the retrenchments near Colberg, Vol. V. Sect. 1.

Author.

of the Distribution of Posts, &c. 163 composed: beginning with Light-ca-

As it is no longer usual for light-dragoons to act on foot, I shall consider them and the hussars in the same point of view.

Light-cavalry are extremely ferviceable, especially when they are under better discipline than Cofacks and Calmucks; who only lay waste the country wherever they go, and subject their own army to want. The rule of opposing the enemy with troops fimilar to those with which he may make his attacks, is to be particularly attended to on this occasion. For if he should have a body of light-horse so superior in numbers to our own, that we are obliged to have recourse to heavy-cavalry for our out-posts; there is no doubt, but that we shall labour under a very great disadvantage; on account of their being totally unfit for that method of skirmishing.

The Austrians became sensible of this in the year 1762.—For, when the King M 2 • of

of Prussia formed an alliance with the Russians, and was reinforced by a pulk of 2,000 Bosniacks or Turkish light-horse, the heavy cavalry of the former did duty in common with their light troops; in opposition to an enemy who always had a superior body of men, properly armed and equipped for such purposes.

§ 180. Guards and posts of cavalry ought never to be in a confined place, from whence they cannot retreat without passing through hollow-ways or other obstacles: or, where the enemy can have it in his power to come up to them without being observed.—Consequently, whenever there are woods in their front, or upon either of their flanks, they will be exposed to the dangers of a sudden attack. If it is impossible to give them a free and open situation, as is sometimes the case in very mountainous countries, they should either have pickets in their front, or be intermixed with infantry.

In Bohemia and Silefia it frequently happened

Of the Distribution of Posts, &c. happened that the Austrian army was thus circumstanced.

§ 181. THE vedettes ought to be placed upon the most elevated parts of the country, that they may discover the distant approach of an enemy; but the posts to which they belong may remain in any hollows or valleys within fight, with a view of sheltering themselves from the inclemency of the weather, and of concealing their strength.—Towards the enemy there may be two or three vedettes in front of each other, especially if the nature of the ground obstructs their view.

The interior management and regulation of these posts rests entirely with their own officers.

§ 182. Posts of Infantry cannot be too well covered.—Intrenchments are best adapted to regular infantry; and woods, hedges, ditches, ravines, houses, &c. to all that come under the description of irregular or light-armed. Of these, none are better

Digitized by Google

better than Croats, when in some degree sheltered, and under the orders of an officer for whom they have regard and attachment.

Croats, Jagers, and free-battalions ought neither to be posted in the open field, nor exposed to cavalry; because they are not accustomed to the close order of regular infantry, and confequently they will be unable to withstand their attacks.—In a wood they always act with peculiar excellence; and, as they are then guarded against cavalry and artillery, it is very difficult to drive them out of it.—Whenever it was practicable, I have covered each of their posts with an abbatis, even when the trees have been brought from the nearest woods for that purpose. And I have occasionally made doorways in them, of about five feet in height, that they might relieve their fentinels without a danger of being purfued too far by the enemy's huffars: for, with the usual openings, they would not have been secure from the enterprifing spirit of those troops. — Of this

§ 183. In the distribution of the posts of regular infantry, I prefer a good retrenchment to any abbatis or village: because, as I have already had occasion to observe in the 7th chapter, the former are eafily opened, and the latter, with the affistance of a few shells as easily set on fire.—No defence is more fafe than a retrenchment, particularly against artillery. —Therefore, whenever it is necessary to retrench a village, I would make my lines at the distance of 150 or 200 paces, either in its front or rear, as circumstances might feem to recommend. — If they were in front, I could make some stand in the village after the enemy had taken possesfion of my works; it would ftill enable me to cover my retreat; and, when fet on fire, it would be a confiderable check to the rapidity of my pursuers.—And, in the M 4 fecond

fecond instance, I could retard the advance of an enemy, by burning it at their approach.

Here it may not be improper to observe, that a village ought never to be destroyed, except in a case of absolute necessity: not only on account of the cruelty of such conduct towards its poor and innocent inhabitants, but because it would indicate an unmanly stretch of power, by which your enemies would gain the entire goodwill of the people of the country.

§ 184. Let your circumstances be what they may, I must again repeat the necessity of a careful examination of the country near every post.—If they are set in woods, the Commanding Officers must reconnoitre every part of them, as well as the roads and avenues which lead towards them: they must make themselves acquainted with all the advantages and disadvantages of the ground: and they must take particular notice of the places on which

which they can make a stand, provided they should be driven from their first positions.

When a large advanced guard is ordered, the Commanding Officer of it should procure a plan of a tract of country between it and the main army of about five miles in breadth, and increase his scale till he can infert distinctly all the woods, villages, rivers, &c. If he should stand in need of further information, he must either endeavour to examine the ground himself, or direct an intelligent officer to do fo.-Sometimes, however, it will not be possible for him or any of his party to reconnoitre: in which case he must content himself with having obtained the best information in his power from the people of the country. By these means he will be enabled to fill up his fketch fo as to have a general idea of the nature of his fituation.—But this part of the subject will be more partigularly explained hereafter.

CHAPTER

CHAPTER IX.

Qf Alarm-Posts.

§ 185. WHEN chains of posts are established for the security of an army in winter quarters, or cantonments, it is of the utmost consequence that the regiments should know where they are to meet and form in case of an attack. These are called Alarm-Posts, and such places are fixed upon for this purpose as will enable the troops to make the best defence. The regiments which lie near the enemy, and particularly the regiments of cavalry, must have alarm-posts wherever there is the greatest probability of their maintaining their ground, till the main body has had time to affemble. Marks must be set up to guide the march, and all obstacles removed which are likely to obstruct its expedition: and when the roads are new or unfrequented, these precautions are the more necessary.

If

If the troops have occasion to pass bridges or hollow ways, they ought also to be well occupied, and totally destroyed as soon as the columns leave them.

§ 186. BEACONS ought to be placed upon the highest parts of the country, that all the posts may have intelligence of the approach of an enemy: and as they will be necessarily exposed to heat, rain, and frost, too much attention cannot be paid to their construction: especially since it has happened upon important occasions, that Officers have been entrusted with the direction of them who were totally unacquainted with the business.—I have myfelf feen bunches of straw which had been fet up as beacons, with common ropes of straw twisted round their poles to the bottom.—Others where tar-barrels had been added, and ropes of the same kind covered with pitch, which foon became equally useless; for the heat of the sun and the feverity of the weather dried up the pitch, broke the barrels, and destroyed the combustible

bustible matter within them.—And I once found a beacon, upon a post which had been of very great importance, without any barrel. Its head, and the rope whereby the fire was to have been communicated to it, were made of hemp and straw with a thick covering of combustible matter. The weather had destroyed their effect, and the rope had been twisted so tight that it was impossible to set it on fire, or even to make it blaze after it had been pulled in pieces.

As fuch ignorance or inattention may be productive of the most fatal consequences to an army, I conceive it to be my duty to point out those methods which I have tried with success, when charged with the duty of a Field Engineer; availing myself only of such materials as were to be found in all places.

Take a small barrel of about two feet in length, strengthen its sides and bottom with iron-hoops, and cover them effectually with straw, that they may withstand the effect of the weather. Melt about

about as much pitch as will fill the barrel over a moderate charcoal fire, allow an ounce of line or rape-feed-oil to each pound of pitch, and in the same proportion add half an ounce of gunpowder, and half a drachm of powdered brimstone. -When they are fufficiently melted and mixed, remove the pan from the fire, and throw in as much hemp or tow as will form the whole into a proper substance. The hemp or tow must be scattered over the furface, and the ingredients wellstirred together, after each handful.-You must then take out the combustible with a trowel, place each lump carefully in the barrel, and scatter a little mealed powder among them. If the air has a free passage between them, as well as at the fides and bottom of the barrel, the fire will communicate to every part, and blaze up with great facility; which will never be the case if the mass is pressed or squeezed together, especially in a hard frost.—A space ought also to be left open, above the combustible matter, into which the fire will



will be conveyed. In this space five or fix holes must be bored, at equal distances, to receive as many supines*, and when they are all tied together within the barrel, it must be filled up with wild-fire. The other ends of the supines must either hang out almost as far as the ground; or, if you have not got a fufficient quantity, they may be again tied together below the bar-In that case you must take as muchhemp or tow as will make two cords of about the thickness of your finger, let them be lightly twifted, and when rubbed over with turpentine and mealed powder, tie one of their ends to the supines, and let the other hang within four feet of the ground. You must then either wrap them up in straw which has been steeped in tar, or melted pitch, and twist them round the pole; or, they must be enclosed in wooden cases or spouts, that they may be effectually defended from the weather.—Instead of the usual top, three or four thin pieces of

wood

[•] A stupine is a species of saucisson, composed of combustible matter.—Translator.

wood ought to be nailed upon the upper edge of the barrel, tied together above it, and then defended or thatched with straw: because such a covering will throw off the snow, which might otherwise form a lodgment upon it, and destroy the effect of the wild-fire.

A guard must be placed at every beacon, and, as soon as one of them is in flames they must immediately set fire to the rest, that every part of the army may be aware of the first approach of an enemy.

PART

PART II. FIELD FORTIFICATION.

CHAPTER I.

Of Retrenchments in general.

\$ 187. NOTWITHSTANDING this branch of the military science is founded upon the rules and principles of Fortification, it is by no means necessary that they should be followed, except when the nature of the country, the object you have in view, and other concurring circumstances should make it advisable to do so: and even then you are by no means compelled to adhere to the same degree of regularity *.—Theorists are too apt to forget that there is a material difference between the formation of retrenchments upon paper and in the field.—A fault which must be attended with dangerous

* See Vol. V. Chap. V .- Author.

Vol. I.

N

conse-

consequences: because, unless proper attention is paid to the nature of the ground, and to the advantages which may be derived from it, there is no doubt, but that the best works will make a very moderate refistance.—For instance, if I throw up lines along the fide or fummit of an elevated piece of ground, my angles must be either falient or rentrant, as its form or the ravines below may feem to require; and I must take care that there shall be the heaviest cross fire, wherever an enemy will be likely to penetrate, as in Pl. 22, 28, and 30. For, if in conformity to the rules of theorism, I was to place any part of my works at fuch a distance from the edge of the height, that I could neither fee nor fire upon my affailants, till they had gained the fummit, or perhaps till they were within a few paces of my parapet, it is evident that I must commit a very great error, and at the same time expose the army to imminent danger *.

§ 188. GREAT

[•] See the note upon the seventh Chapter of the first Book of Folard's Commentaries upon Polybius.—Author.

§ 188. GREAT as this fault is, I have found frequent examples of it, and I cannot account for them otherwise, than by fuppoling the directors of them to have been too secure in the bravery of their troops, or in the facility of repelling an enemy, even after they had gained the ditch. -But experience has shown the absurdity of fuch reasons, and has convinced us that every fudden and unexpected event makes a strong impression upon the mind of a private foldier. If he can fee his enemy and fire upon him at a distance, he will maintain his courage and dispute his advance step by step: but, if he is taken unawares, he will neither repose confidence in the ditch and parapet before him, nor in the best arguments his Officer can make use of.

§ 189. RETRENCHMENTS, and indeed all other means of defence ought to be placed where the troops can command the advance of an enemy, and do him the most material injury with ease to themselves.

N 2

If.

If, when we are in possession of the high banks of a fordable river, or the heights near it, I was to place my retrenchments upon their fummits, with a view of opposing the passage of an enemy, and of fecuring them at the same time from his fire, as in Pl. 22. fig. 3. i, g, and Pl. 30. fig. 5: I should at once defeat the intention of my labour. For he would then gain those places unmolested, which, if fortified, could either have hindered his advance, or have enabled me to do him material injury.-If the hills are very high, as in Pl. 30. fig. 5, he may advance from E to B, and my artillery cannot hurt him; or, in Pl. 22, I shall not be able to see him. from my works, on account of the inequality of the ground, till he has gained q, m, r. Consequently, when he is so near my ditch, those difficulties which ought to have been the greatest, are surmounted. and his attack must terminate with success.—But, if I intrench myself upon the fmaller heights near the river or ravine, according to the 291st paragraph, c, d, Pl. 22.

Pl. 22, and c, Pl. 30. fig. 5, or upon the declivity of a hill where I can fee and rake every ford or pass; without confidering whether I am commanded from the oppofite fide or not: I can dispute his progress step by step, and destroy many of his men, before they can have formed themselves for a regular attack. The higher their batteries are, the less we shall have to apprehend, on account of the uncertainty of shot, when fired in such a direction. (Chap. VI. § 256.)—My principal batteries and works ought nevertheless to be upon the heights above, as in Pl. 22, i, b, g, and Pl. 30. fig. 5, B, as well for the purpose of filencing those of the enemy, as of covering my parapets below. Palifaded or other fecure passes ought also to be made between them, that my troops may be able to retire whenever they find it necessary; Pl. 22. fig. 3, r; Pl. 28, N° 1; and Pl. 30. fig. 5, f.

§ 190. In many refpects great attention must be paid to the prejudice, temper, and N 3 genius

genius of the private foldiers. For we have frequently found that the same men will withstand the heaviest cannonade with undaunted firmness in the open field, and lose their courage when fighting behind a parapet or within a retrenchment, as foon as a few shot come amongst them. It istherefore evident that they should either be placed in complete fecurity; or, when that is impracticable (as in the commanded works which I have described in the foregoing paragraph) that they should be informed of what may happen, and every argument used to keep up their resolution. In fhort, I am always of opinion, that a private foldier is never fo much affected by the greatest danger when he is aware of it, as by a trifling accident or difficulty of which he has had no previous idea. This is the source of that panick terror which spreads itself with astonishing rapidity, and generally occasions the defeat of the post, corps, or army in which it originates.

§ 191. IT

§ 101. It is a general rule in fortification, that a place must be made equally strong on all fides; otherwise the enemy will direct his approaches against the weakest part. — But in field fortification this rule may be laid aside. It is then sufficient that the Commanding Officer should be thoroughly aware of the real strength or weakness of his post.—And in the distribution of his troops he should never neglect those parts, which he may have reason to deem inattackable: for if his enemy is resolute and firm, he will probably make his first attempt upon them. -Of this, the affairs of Adelsbach and Maxen are remarkable inflances *.—In the latter action, the Prussians had but very little idea that the main attack of the Auftrians would have been on the fide of Hausdorff; because no part of their position was fo difficult of access.

In retrenching a post or encampment,

I believe you ought to pay attention to the

• See Vol. I. Soct. 1.—Author.

N 4

kind

kind of troops, arms, and artillery by which you will be attacked; and to confider at the fame time whether you intend to conftruct your works so as to avoid an action altogether, or only to oblige your enemy to advance against some particular place.—In the first instance, nothing must be neglected, which can render an attack impracticable: and, in the latter, you must tempt him, if possible, to march against that part, where in reality you are in a situation to make the best defence.

§ 192. When there is no particular reafon for avoiding an attack, I should make
my works very weak, wherever the enemy would be most exposed to the fire of
my artillery, as at a gradual descent, &c.
or, perhaps I should not fortify them at
all.—Every other side should be at the
same time of great strength, especially
above precipices or deep ravines, where
opposition is only to be made by the fire
of small arms or the bayonet.—For, by
those means, most of my troops would be

at

at liberty to act against the main attack; they would be prepared to expect an ascent, where they might otherwise suppose it to have been impracticable; and they would not be compelled to trust entirely to the bayonet;—a weapon which requires more resolution and sirmness in its use, than soldiers are at all times in the possession of.

§ 193. In the choice and defence of a post, you should take particular care not to subject yourself to attacks on all sides; or in your front and rear at the same time: because nothing would be so likely to create a panick as such a position.—But, if this disadvantage is not to be avoided, the occupied ground should be of considerable breadth, or defended by heights; that the shot which are fired by the enemy against one side, may not reach the men who are acting in the defence of another. At the battle of Torgau the Austrians were attacked in front and rear at the same time.

§ 194. WHEN

\$104. When the enemy has been fo much galled, during his advance against our post, that he is evidently in doubt, whether he shall retire or not; his retreat ought not to be too much obstructed. That is to fay, we ought rather to direct the fire of our artillery against the front, than against the rear of an attacking column: notwithstanding we might be able to reach any part of it: otherwise the troops would press forward with greater rapidity, that they might leave the place in which they found themselves so much exposed. as foon as they were actually in flight, it might be directed wherever it would do the most mischief; and a few shot should be occasionally fired before them, that those in the front might know they were within our reach.—Proper attention to this particular would probably throw a column into the greatest confusion, and increase our advantage in every respect *.

CHAPTER

^{*} A further description of the attack and desence of retrenchments may be found in the fixth Vol. of my Account of the WAR, &c.—Author.

CHAPTER II.

Rules concerning Retrenchments.

what it may, it will be found at all times, that retrenchments are either intended to keep off a superior enemy, or to enable the troops to fight advantageously. Every rule must be favourable to these reasons, and an Officer of quickness and penetration will easily find out the best, and apply them with judgment in all cases.—With a view of giving instruction to the inexperienced, and of avoiding tedious repetitions, I shall insert the general principles, and refer to them occasionally hereafter *.

§ 196. (1). WE must endeavour to give our troops and artillery the best defence in

our

[.] More upon this subject in the third Vol. Sect. 3.

Author.

our power, against the fire of small arms, and particularly against cannon-shot *.

§ 197. (2). WE must make the enemy's approach and attack as difficult as possible, by means of ditches, parapets, palifades, &c †.

§ 198. (3). THE ground must always be cleared within musket-shot of a retrenchment, that the enemy may not find any shelter from our fire ‡.

§ 199. (4). ALL lines must be formed so as to allow the soldiers to fire straight before them. — If the rentrant angle of a redans, (Pl. 4. fig. 1. e, d, c), or if the angle, which the flank c, b, in fig. 2. makes with the line of defence e, f, has less than 90°, the men will fire upon each other; and, if it has above 100°, (as in fig. 1. e, f, g, and fig. 2. n, o, g), the lines f, g,

and

[·] Vol. III. Sect. 3. Chap. II. III. &c .- Author.

⁺ See Vol. III. Sect. 3. and Vol. VI. Chap. X .- Author.

[‡] Vol. V. Chap. VII.—Author.

Rules concerning Retrenchments. 189 and g, q, which stand most in need of defence, will be totally exposed *.

§ 200. (5). EVERY line must be weak, which can only defend its own front, without being flanked by any other or by a battery.

§ 201. (6). ARTILLERY must be placed with judgment, and not too much divided.

—If we suppose our cannon to be at equal distances from each other, opposite the front of an enemy's line of 4,000 paces; and, that they destroy 3,000 men, or about one sile in four (which must be a very favourable supposition), the openings may still be filled up as they are made, and the advance continued without interruption. But, if the same number of cannon are placed in three or four batteries, and each sweeps off 1,000 men, they cannot be filled up. Fear and disorder will get the better of the troops, and they will either retreat

• Vol. VI, Chap. XII. and XVIII.—Author.

immediately,

immediately, or helitate whether they ought to proceed or not: in which case, our cavalry can make a charge upon them, penetrate the openings, and throw the whole body into confusion *.

§ 202. (7). ALL works ought to be proportioned to the number of men and cannon intended for their defence. If they are too small, the troops will obstruct each other, and when the enemy has forced his way into them, they will not be able to perform the manœuvres which are necesfary for his repulse. And, if they are too extensive, the defenders will not be capable of resisting a vigorous attack; consequently, by endeavouring to defend too much, it is probable that the whole may be lost.

\$ 203. (8). A SALIENT angle ought never to have less than 60°, otherwise, much

ground

[•] In the fifth Vol. Chap. VII. and in the fixth Vol. of my Account of the War, &c. I have explained the use of artillery in every kind of retrenchment.—Author.

ground will be undefended in its front, as shown by i, e, b, Pl. 4. fig. 1; and the space within will be too narrow.

§ 204. (9). THE works which are in front of a retrenchment must be so situated and constructed, that, if taken, they shall not cover the enemy from the fire of our principal batteries *.

CHAPTER III.

To retrench a Camp or Post.

which an Engineer may gain or lose much honour: and, as the lives of many brave men are concerned in it, the greatest penetration and reslection ought to be made use of. But when the plan is once fixed, it must be prosecuted with activity, vigour, and perseverance, in spite of every obstacle.

* See Vol. III. Sect. 3, and Chap. IV. - Author.

§ 206. WHEN

- § 206. WHEN retrenchments are not merely formed for the purpose of deceiving the enemy, and of masking our real design, the directing Engineer must take the following points into consideration, as soon as he has been made acquainted with the General's intention.
- 1. Whether the works are meant to keep off the enemy altogether, or only to give the army an advantage, in case of an attack.
- 2. If the post is to be maintained for any length of time or not.
- 3. If magazines are to be covered by them, communications kept up, or a rapid and unexpected advance upon the main army to be prevented.
- 4. The advantage or disadvantage of the situation, and the nature of the soil.
- 5. Their proper extent, in proportion to the number of men by whom they are to be occupied.
- 6. The strength of the enemy, and the possible means of an attack.

7. The

1

- 7. The number and kind of workmen to be employed.
- 8. If, and where, the necessary materials, utenfils, &c. are to be procured, and in what quantity.
- § 207. When the Engineer has sufficiently weighed all these points, he must reconnoitre that part of the country where the retrenchments are to be formed, with great accuracy. If he is in possession of a plan of the ground, he ought to see whether it is correct, or otherwise: and, in the latter case, he must make one, as complete as the time will admit of.—For, by these precautions, he will be enabled to make his sketch of the works with judgment, and the whole of his undertaking will be greatly facilitated.
- § 208. (1). THE more our inferiority of numbers, and other reasons, may make us wish to avoid an attack, or to be apprehensive of the ill effects of one, the more ought our retrenchments to be increased Vol. I.

in strength. The different posts should be situated so as to support each other, and the whole army must be capable of manœuvering with freedom, especially if a battle is to be hazarded.—For instance, if I make trous-de-loups where my cavalry could act against the enemy, or pursue him with advantage, they would be productive of much greater injury than benefit.

§ 209. (2). WHEN a post is to be occupied for any length of time, the Engineer must have abundance of fascines, pickets, gazons, &c.; but, when the General has a contrary intention, time and expence ought to be spared as much as possible.

§ 210. (3). If a post is to be retrenched for the purpose of defending a magazine, of keeping up a free communication between the main army and a fortress, or between the main army and another corps, it is evident that nothing must be neglected which can add to the strength and durability of the works. But, if a temporarry

rary advantage is the only object in view, fuch measures will be unnecessary. First, because an intelligent and expert enemy will probably oblige the corps to quit its position, perhaps without the risk of a battle: and secondly, because it will only be wished that they should enable the troops within them to make a resistance, till the main army has received intelligence of their situation, and put itself into a proper state of desence.

§ 211. (4). The choice of the fituation does not always depend upon the Engineer; for in some cases it is necessary that a post should be left in a particular place, whether the ground is favourable or unfavourable for such a purpose. On those occasions he will have an opportunity of displaying his abilities and professional skill: for, by a judicious construction of his lines, he can affist and correct many of the greatest desects.—The dimensions of his profiles will depend principally upon the nature of the soil.—In sand they must

O 2

be

be stronger, and the ditches deeper and broader than in clay: and upon rock, where there is but a thin covering of earth, it must be pared away till a sufficient quantity is procured for the formation of a parapet.—But I shall say more upon this subject in the 9th chapter.

§ 212. (5). THE General specifies the number of men who are to occupy the retrenchments, and the Engineers must regulate their extent accordingly.—In some cases, however, especially if the posts are small, the whole may be left to their management and direction.

§ 213. (6). It is scarce possible that a post can be well retrenched, unless the Engineer is first aware of the methods in which it may be attacked.—For instance, trous-de-loup should be made, and short stakes driven into the ground wherever cavalry can be expected, strong parapets should be formed against batteries, and weak parapets against small arms.

No

No greater advantage can be required than an obstruction of the enemy's march or advance; especially when he is obliged to form under your fire.—This object may be attained by means of trous-de-loup, ditches, hewn trees, hollow ways, hedges, chevaux-de-frise, barriers, &c. provided they are disposed so as not to afford him any shelter.

§ 214. WHEN the fides of a height are fo steep that the enemy cannot fire upon you during his ascent, retrenchments are superfluous, provided his artillery cannot rake our own.—At any rate, a very weak profile, or mere palisades, will be found to answer your purpose in such a situation *.

O 3 CHAP-

^{*} Although this may feem to contradict what I have already faid in the 192d paragraph, both are to be thus understood:— Upon a steep height, when the enemy cannot make use of his artillery, I consider retrenchments as unnecessary: but, when such a height forms a part of an extensive position, which may be attacked in several places, it ought to be retrenched in the strongest manner, that it may be secure against any desperate push, which he might be otherwise disposed to make in that quarter.—Author.

CHAPTER IV.

Of Workmen.

HEN works must be completed within a given time, it is first to be considered, whether soldiers or peasants are to be employed, and how the necessary utensils are to be procured.

—For, if an Engineer was to form a plan, which could not be completed on account of the want of time and workmen, he would commit one of the greatest errors in military operations.

§ 216. If the labour is to be performed by foldiers, there is no reason to be apprehensive that the works will not be ready at the appointed hour. With countrymen, however, the case is so very different, that it is absolutely necessary they should be brought together by force, and constantly watched; lest any of them should run away. This duty is done by hussars and dragoons,

dragoons, who are fent to the bailiffs, constables, or magistrates with written orders, that they shall get together a certain number of workmen at a given time, with shovels, spades, pickaxes, hatchets, wheelbarrows, mallets, &c.—But as it frequently happens that they fend very old people and children to make up the number, the application ought to be made for more than are actually wanted; particularly upon important occasions. The magistrates will direct how many are to be fent by each village, and the Commanding Officer's orders must be returned to him, that he may fee they have been strictly obeyed.— When every thing is ready, the Engineer will divide the men as he thinks proper, and put them under the care of non-commissioned officers, who will keep them at work and fee that it is properly executed.

§ 217. If circumstances will not admit of a relief of workmen; or, if the enemy has got possession of their habitations, they will undoubtedly endeavour to run

0 4

away.

ì

away. They ought therefore to be locked up every night under a strong guard; and a list made of their names, with those of the villages to which they respectively belong.

§ 218. THE workmen must be proportioned to the quantity of labour, to the time allotted for the completion of the retrenchments, and to the numbers who are capable of being employed at the same time. For whenever there are too many in any one part, they will obstruct each other.—In fuch cases they ought rather to be divided into different reliefs, and the work continued, if necessary, during the night.—When the ditches are very broad, the workmen may be posted in two rows, and if they are narrow, in one. In the first instance, the earth will be thrown by those who are at the outward edge of the ditch to the fecond row, and by them upon the parapet: for which reason the second row ought to be twice as numerous as the first, Pl. 15. fig. 1 and 2. The workmen ought

ought never to be less than two paces or four feet from each other: and two men with shovels should be preceded by one with a pickax.—If, however, the retrenchments are to be completed with more than usual expedition, one man with a wheelbarrow or basket may be added to fix or eight with shovels. For instance, if a square redout is to be formed, whose fides are 80 feet in length, and a space of four feet is to be allowed to each workman; 80 men will be required when they are placed in one row, and 120 when in two.—The cubic contents of the ditch will be found thus: The breadth of the upper part, a, b, Pl. 4. fig. 3, is 12 feet; that of the bottom, c, d, 4; and the depth, 6. Consequently, to find the line c, f, 12+4=16:2=8, or the line required; 8×6 (the depth of the ditch) will also produce 48, or the furface a, b, c, d; and 48 × 4, give 192, the cubic feet to be dug by each man.

§ 219. THE

§ 219. THE various changes of weather. foil, utenfils, and workmen, make it very difficult to fix the time in which a work may be completed. In fummer it is fupposed a man will dig 216 cubic feet of earth in the course of one day; but this is feldom found to be the case: and, notwithstanding Marshal Saxe's affertion to the contrary *, I am perfuaded that if a work is completed in 24 hours, it will be as much as the best and most diligent workmen are capable of doing; even when relieved every four or fix hours, and abundantly supplied with fascines, palisades, pickets, &c. Twentyfour hours are generally allowed for the formation of a weak profile, forty-eight for one of middling dimensions, with a revetement of fascines, and seventy-two for the strongest.

§ 220. For the revetement of a work,

two

[•] M. Saxe fays, at the conclusion of the ninth Chapter of his Reveries, that 288 men will throw up a redout in *frue* hours; of course, if we coincide with Capt, Tielke, such an affertion is inadmissible.—Translator.

two men ought to be allotted to every fix feet, to place the fascines, with one to anchor them and to tread down the earth.—
The same number ought also to be employed in finishing the inside of the parapet; that is to say, one in looking out the twigs and two in weaving them.—These calculations are made upon a supposition that the sascines, pickets, and twigs have been previously prepared, and laid upon the ground.

§ 221. It refults from what has been faid, that, to the men with shovels, there should be one-third of their number with pickaxes; that there should be one-sixth, or one-eighth (if necessary), with wheel-barrows or baskets; and that one man should be allowed to every two feet of the whole extent, to lay the fascines and finish the parapet.—Thus we can at once ascertain, how many men are to be employed at the same time: and of course, if they are to be relieved twice or three times, what

what additional number will then be requisite.

§ 222. WHENEVER there is reason to apprehend that the workmen may be disturbed, either by a real attack or artillery from any of the neighbouring heights, the retrenchments ought to be formed by soldiers; because countrymen will undoubtedly run away as soon as a few shot have been fired.

§ 223. WHEN country-people are fent for, the utenfils they are to bring with them ought to be particularly specified in the order; and it is by no means improper to make application for more than will probably be wanted: otherwise they may find themselves deficient in those which the nature of the ground may render the most necessary.

Translator.

§ 224. IP

^{*} The fense of this paragraph might have been added to § 216, with the greatest propriety and in very sew words.

§ 224. If foldiers are employed, the park of artillery will supply them with utensils of every kind; except when it happens to be at too great a distance. In that case, parties may be sent to collect them in the nearest villages: but this should not be too much depended upon, because the inhabitants will hide all that are serviceable to them, and only give up such as are almost worn out and of no further value.

§ 225. In a fandy foil three-fourths of the workmen generally use spades, and one-fourth pickaxes; in clay, two-thirds use spades, and one-third pickaxes; and upon rock or gravel, one half should have spades and the other pickaxes *.

In this paragraph I have only translated a few lines of the German original, because every other part of it may be found in the 216th, 217th, and 223d paragraphs.—Translator.

CHAPTER V.

Of the Materials which are necessary in the Formation of a Retrenchment.

FASCINES.

§ 226. A CALCULATION must be made of the number of fascines, gabions, pickets, palisades, chevauxde-frise, and other necessary materials, before the work is begun.

If the fide where I intend to add a revetement of fix foot fascines * is forty feet in length and fix in height, fortynine will be required; that is to say, seven for the length, and seven rows for height: because each of them will be squeezed from its original thickness of one foot, into about ten inches. At the end of

* At present these fascines are seldom made use of for the revetement of a battery; because it has been sound that those of twelve seet in length and eight inches in diameter, are made with equal ease, that they can be bound much tighter, and that they are in every respect better adapted to such a purpose.

Translator.

every

every three feet, a picket must be driven through them; that they may remain firm in their proper places *. The banquette must be equal to the height of two sascines.

I can also ascertain the necessary number of palisades and fraises by multiplying their breadth, and the spaces between them, by the whole length of the sides.

§ 227. In fact the artillery ought to direct and superintend the people who are employed in making fascines, and cavalry should carry them wherever they are wanted.—But, as the Engineers are generally obliged to take this duty upon themselves, and to employ people who are totally ignorant of the business; a particular description of them, and of their different dimensions, will neither be unnecessary nor foreign to the purpose.

§ 228. SAUCISSONS and fascines are always composed of thin branches of trees

• See my additional figures c and d, Pl. 4.—Translator.

or

or brushwood, and differ only in length and thickness, which may be increased or diminished whenever it is convenient. But this will be fully explained hereafter. -When they are made, poles of about fix feet in length are driven into the ground two feet afunder, so as to form crosses three feet high, and tied together in the middle with twigs or cord. (Pl. 4. fig. 4.) -It is of consequence that these crosses or fascine-trestles should be of equal height, and at each end a pole ought to be fixed perpendicularly, to limit the length of the fascines; fig. 4. d.—When this is done. as much wood as is thought necessary for a fascine is laid upon the trestles, well fqueezed together with a twitch, and bound with birch, hazel, or other pliant twigs from foot to foot.—Three men are usually employed at each treftle, with two to cut and prepare the materials.

The twigs which are used in binding fascines should be laid over a fire till the sap is dried up, and afterwards twisted till they become perfectly pliant. Fig. f, represents

presents a board, with which the people who make the fascines can know when they are of the intended thickness; and fig. e, the twitch.—This may be either a short chain or rope with two wooden handles.—In regard to the choice of wood, I am of opinion, that birch or fir are preferable to all other kinds: but in general you will be obliged to take whatever is to be met with in sufficient quantities.

§ 229. The number of fascines which ought to be finished within a given time, cannot be ascertained with precision, especially if your men have not been accustomed to the work: neither is it by any means advisable to give peremptory orders on that head, lest they should fend such as will fly open as soon as the pickets are driven through them.—At the same time you ought to consider how the wood is to be procured; if the workmen stand in need of much instruction; and if they can be occasionally relieved.

Vol. I.

P

In

In general a faucisson of 18 feet in length may be finished at each trestle in the course of half an hour; consequently a shorter fascine will require less time: and, when six feet fascines are wanted, saucissons may be made, and afterwards sawn into three equal parts.

- § 230. FASCINES have different names, according to their fize and use, viz.
 - 1. Sauciffons.
 - 2. Battery fascines, or half saucissons.
 - 3. Trench or tracing fascines.
 - 4. Covering fascines.
 - 5. Water fascines.
 - 6. Fagots-de-sappe.

§ 231. (1). SAUCISSONS are composed of the thinnest and most pliant twigs;—they are generally eighteen feet long by ten or twelve inches in diameter: and used either for the revetement of the embrasures, or to form the corners of a parapet.

§ 232.

§ 232. (2). BATTERY-FASCINES or half faucissons are from eight to twelve feet long, and from ten to twelve inches thick.

These need not be very pliant, because they are only intended for the revetement of the parapet and for the banquette.

§ 233. (3). TRACING or trench fascines are used in sieges;—they are generally from four to fix feet long, and eight or nine inches thick.

§ 234. (4). COVERING fascines are made use of to form the tops of magazines and saps.—They ought therefore to be composed of the strongest branches, with the addition of a few hop-poles, that they may be able to bear a considerable weight.

§ 235. (5). WATER fascines are six feet in length by one or two feet in diameter; and, as they are used in water and morasses, stones must be tied up in them, that they may sink to the bottom without difficulty.

§ 236.

§ 236. (6). FAGOTS-DE-SAPPE are three feet long and one and a half in thickness.

—When they are to be made use of in a siege, a pointed stake is fixed in the centre of each; but if they are only intended to fill the gabions, those stakes are unnecessary.

§ 237. FASCINES are anchored in their proper places with long twigs of birch, hazel, or willow, which have undergone the following preparation:—Three pickets are driven into the ground close to each other, as in Pl. 4. fig. 4, g; and, when the twigs have been well-dried over the fire, as explained in the 228th paragraph, the thickest end of each is fastened between them, while the other part is wound round and twisted at the same time, till it becomes extremely pliant. A loop is also made at each end.—If they are not wanted for immediate use, they qught to be buried, or foaked in water; otherwise they will become hard and lofe their pliability.

§ 238.

§ 238. THE thickest end of each twig is put through the loop at the other, to receive the fascine; and, when it has been pulled as tight as possible, a picket is driven into the ground till only an inch of its head is visible *.

§ 239. THE pickets which are driven through the fascines for the purpose of fixing them together, ought to be about one inch thick, and from two to three feet long, that they may pass through two of them and into a third †.

OF GABIONS.

§ 240. THE number, length, and strength of the pickets ought of course to be regulated by the size of the gabions you wish to make, and by the pliability or stiffness of the twigs.

3 § 241.

^{*} See my additional fig. d. Pl. 4.—Translator.

[†] See my additional fig. c. Pl. 4.—Translator.

214 PART II. CHAP. V.

§ 241. SMALL gabions are made with the least trouble, and one man can carry, place, and fill them with ease. They are usually three feet high by two in breadth: but the pickets upon which they are made, ought to be an inch and a half or two inches thick, and four feet long, that they may be driven one foot deep into the ground.

§ 242. Large gabions are fix feet high by three in diameter, and require two men to carry them.—It was once customary to make them even of nine feet in height by four in diameter; but those have long been exploded, on account of the extreme trouble which attended the making, carrying, and filling them.—And, even when epaulements are to be formed, it is found more convenient to place three foot gabions upon others of fix feet, rather than to make use of those of nine feet.

§ 243. THE smallest fized gabions, which are set upon the parapet, for the purpose of

of guarding the foldiers against the fire of small arms (especially when the enemy has a more elevated situation than yourself) are formed upon pickets of one inch in thickness and one foot in length. They are twelve inches in diameter at the top, but only eleven at the bottom: because, when two are placed together, it is intended that there should be room to point the muzzle of a firelock between them *.

§ 244. In the formation of all gabions, you must either describe circles upon the ground of the size of those you wish to make, or prepare round pieces of wood as models. (Pl. 4. sig. 6, a.)—In the sirst case, your pickets are be driven into the ground at equal distances; and in the second, they are to be put through the notches which have been cut for that purpose. A small gabion will require seven or eight pick-

Translator.

^{*} Although the muzzle of a firelock might be squeezed through a space of two inches in breadth, I believe it would be much more convenient and advantageous, if these gabions were not more than nine inches in diameter at the bottom.

You must weave a few twigs round the upper ends of the pickets to prevent their slying open, sig. 6, b: then, beginning at the bottom, keep working upwards till you come near that part, and let the whole be driven down with a mallet before you sinish the top. Lastly, both ends are to be secured by twigs wattled through the sides, as explained in sig. 6, c.—The twigs of willow, birch, hazel, alder, poplar, and beech trees, are almost equally useful in making gabions.

Four men ought to be allowed to each gabion, with two axes, a bill, a mallet, and a fpade; two of whom will collect and choose the wood, while the others are employed in making it.

§ 245 WHEN workmen are diligent, a three-foot gabion may be made in the course of half an hour,

§ 246. To make the hurdles, Pl. 4. fig. 5, which are used in attacks, to cover the ene-

py's

my's trous - de - loup, and to enable the troops to stand with fafety upon a morals; you must drive stakes into the ground, at equal distances, upon a line marked for that purpose, and wattle them as described in the 244th paragraph. Remembering only that the thinnest ends of the twigs must be wove round the first and last stakes; otherwise they will not be of equal strength and thickness in every part.—As foon as a hurdle is finished, pull it up from the ground, and faw off both ends of the stakes upon which it has been made.— These stakes ought never to be less than two or three inches in thickness.—Their length and number will of course depend upon the intended fize and strength of the hurdles. In general, they are from four to fix feet long, and about eight, ten, or twelve inches afunder.

§ 247. WHEN the revetement of the interior talus of a parapet, or of a work en cremaille, is to be formed by twigs wattled upon stakes; it is only necessary to secure the the top after the manner of the gabions. If you have an abundant supply of materials, and can allow one man to every two paces, the whole revetement may be finished in the course of one day; which is seldom practicable when fascines are to be made use of, unless they have been prepared beforehand and are ready upon the spot.—In a sandy soil this kind of revetement is always preferable for the interior talus; because it is very difficult to anchor sascines, and they generally give way.

§ 248. As the method of making chevaux-de-frise, Pl. 4. sig. 11; barriers, sig. 12; palisades, sig. 8; and fraises, sig. 9, and 10, may not be properly understood by the carpenters, who are always charged with such business; I shall proceed to explain what is most necessary to be attended to: but without entering into a detailed description of them. Common chevaux-de-frise (sig. 11.) are twelve feet long, and when placed, four feet high. The beams, through which the spikes or teeth

teeth pass, are six inches thick.—At one end, there is an iron ring, and at the other, a swivel, for the purpose of hanging them together. Their teeth are of hard wood, an inch and a quarter in thickness, shod with iron at each end, and about six feet sive inches long *. The holes which receive them are one soot as under, and bored in such a manner, that the teeth of one row shall always be half a foot from those of the other.

Formerly chevaux-de-frise were in general use in almost all armies; and they are still common among the Russians, especially when opposed to the Turks, as a defence against their light cavalry. During the march of a Russian army, the beams are carried in the waggons and the teeth by the soldiers.

The principal use of chevaux-de-frise is to enclose the gorge of a sleche, or the entrances into a retrenchment. In the

Digitized by Google

last

^{*} These chevaux-de-frise are perfectly proper as a desence against infantry; but those which are used against cavalry ought to stand six seet above the ground, consequently their teeth must be nine seet long.—Author and Translator.

last case, one end generally turns upon a post, while the other is supported by a wheel; that it may be opened with the greater ease and convenience.

§ 249. THE barriers which are sometimes placed cross the ends of villages, streets, defiles, or roads leading through a retrenchment, are constructed after the manner of chevaux-de-frise; but with stronger teeth.—They may be made either to lift up at one end, or to wheel round as -described above.—The first method is the most common in open or fortified towns, and the latter in passes through a retrenched position.—Whenever the openings are twenty-two feet wide or upwards (as is generally the case in large retrenchments), the barriers ought to turn upon a post fixed in the centre; and, in that case, there should he a wheel at each end.

When barriers are made with teeth, it is to be remembered that they should only have three rows of them *; that the sol-

diers

[•] See my additional figure c, Pl. 4.—Translator.

Ĺ

diers may be able to keep off the enemy with more ease, and to prevent his cutting them down.—If the teeth cannot be shod or pointed with iron, they must be very strong, and well fixed in the beams.

§ 250. Palisades should be from two to three feet deep in the earth, and seven feet above it; and fraises are usually eight or ten feet in length, that one end may project from two and a half to three feet beyond the edge of the berm, while the other is well fixed in the parapet. The former should be four, or four inches and a half in thickness, but the latter need not be quite so strong.—Both are pointed at one end.

When palifades are placed in ditches, their length must depend entirely upon the depth of those ditches; because they ought never to be above a foot higher than the counterscarp, lest they should be shot away by the enemy's artillery. They must be three inches distant from each other, and strengthened by rafters nailed about

about a foot and a half below their tops. But more will be faid upon their use and application in the 293d, and three following paragraphs.

CHAPTER VI. Of Artillery and their Portée.

§ 251. BEFORE I give a particular account of the use and construction of works in the field. I think it necesfary to make some mention of the portée of cannon, according to the direction in which they are fired; and of the confequences of heights commanding each other: because these are matters which cannot be too well confidered or underflood, when a post is to be chosen or retrenched.

Shot will have different names, according to the direction of the cannon out of which they are fired, viz.

1. Horizontal and vifir * shot.

Digitized by Google

[▶] Messrs. Craufurd have explained the meaning of this German term, in the table of diffances, &c. which they have added to the first volume of their translation of Capt. Tielke's Ac-COUNT of the WAR, &c .- Translater. 2. Ascending,

- 2. Ascending, when the gun is elevated;—and,
 - 3. Descending, when it is depressed.

Each of these may be again divided into point-blank or curved shot.

§ 252. (1). WHEN a cannon is planted in fuch a manner that the bore, or rather the axis of the bore, is in a direct line with the object at which you fire, the shot will be horizontal; and although the mark may be higher or lower, the shot will be pointblank, provided it can fly fo far in a fupposed straight line. These shot always have the greatest degree of force; and a battery can never be faid to be properly placed against any fixed object, unless it can be reached by them. But, as it is well known that a cannon-ball never flies in a straight line, on account of the attraction of the earth, the opposition of the air, and other physical reasons which need not be mentioned here; I shall only observe, that the cannon ought to be more or less elevated, in proportion to the required length of its flight, flight. An angle of 45° will give the greatest extent of range; but at the same time the strength and certainty of the shot will decrease according to the elevation of the cannon *.—If a cannon is fired at the elevation of one degree, it is called a visir shot, and may be considered here as horizontal without impropriety; because this small elevation is merely given with a view of counteracting a depression of the ball, and of enabling it to hit a distant object.

All horizontal or point-blank shot do incredible mischief when they take the head of a column or the flank of a line. Of which a sufficient instance has been given in the 162d paragraph.

§ 253. (2). WHEN a cannon is elevated from one to forty-five degrees above its horizontal position, the range of the shot

must

^{*} It is evident that these lines ought not to have been inserted in this paragraph; and I believe it has been found that an angle of about 43° 30' will give the greatest amplitude of range.—Translator.

must be curved; unless it reaches the intended mark during its ascent.—To hit a distant object is at all times attended with difficulty, especially if it is much higher than your own battery; because you are under the necessity of taking aim above it, to counteract the effect of the air upon the rapid motion of the ball: and, exclusive of this disadvantage, it is to be remembered that you can only strike one point.

These considerations induce me to give the preference to howitzes; except when you wish to loosen the walls of a work, that they may be afterwards battered down with the greater facility.

\$ 254. CURVED shot may have a vast amplitude of range; but when they hit the intended mark, more is to be attributed to accident, than to the particular skill of the artillery-men by whom they were projected: and if they are productive of any confusion or mischief, where a number of troops are crowded together in a confined space, they do all that can be re-

quired or expected.—I am therefore of opinion, that this method of firing is an idle expenditure of ammunition, which might be otherwise applied with real advantage to the service.

§ 255. I HAVE added the following table, to flow how far different pieces of cannon are capable of carrying in proportion to their calibres; and I conceive such an addition to be by no means unnecessary; because it will prove whether the position we intend to occupy is within the reach of the enemy's batteries or not. — It has been found by experience that the length of the bore, the quality of the powder, the weather, and many other causes, will alter the flight of almost every ball which is fired out of the same kind of ordnance, with the fame charge, and in the fame direction: confequently, these calculations can only point out the probable extent of their range.

A TABLE,

To thow how far each kind of cannon of powder equal to half

	The Cannon.	Vifir or point blank.	Englich feet.	With an elevation of 45°.	English, feet.	Oj 2
	Whole cartauns, or 32-pounders - 5	from 1,200 to 1,400 Rhinland feet.	from 1,236 to 1,442	I 4,400 Rhinland feet.	14,837	ar imery
Q 2	24 pounders - Sixteen-pounders -	1,020 to 1,920 Rhin. feet.	from 1,051 to 1,978	from 12,180 to 14,400 Rhin. feet.	from 12,550 to 14,837	
	Quarter cartauns, \ or 12-pounders \}	from 1,080 Rhin. feet.	1,978 from 927 to 1,112	19,200 Rh. feet. from 10,560 to 12,000 Rhin feet	19,783 from 10,880 to 12,364	<i>DEII</i> 1 (
4	Regimental 8 - }	from 780 to 960 Rhin. fect.	from 803 to 989	from 8,640 to 10,800 Rhin. feet.	from 8,902 to 11,128	77 666.
3 25	Four-pounders	720 Rh. feet.	741	7,200 Rhin. feet.	7,419	
6.	Two-pounders	360 Rh. feet.	370	3,600 Rhin. feet.	3,709	22/

- § 256. THE following reasons will show the disadvantages you labour under, whenever you are obliged to fire at an object below your battery, and they will prove that those disadvantages increase in proportion to the necessary depression of the cannon.
 - 1. Your shot can only hit one point.
- 2. The cannon and their men must be exposed.
- 3. The construction of the guns seldom admits of sufficient depression.
- 4. Their portée is necessarily diminished; and
- 5. They are always uncertain, especially when the object is near them.
- § 257. By an enfilading fire it is either meant, that your artillery can take the enemy in flank or in rear.—In the first case, the shot are generally fired en rico-chet*, and they do the greatest execution.

a. The

When shot are fired en ricochet, the cannon must have such
 a charge of powder as will merely throw them out of the muzzle
 of

- a. The fire will be horizontal, when the battery and the object at which you fire are of equal height.
- b. If the object is higher than the battery, the range will be curved.
- c. If it is lower, the enfilade will be extremely dangerous, and the enemy cannot defend himself without the greatest difficulty.

When your batteries enfilade the enemy's rear, his fituation is particularly hazardous, because it very rarely happens that he can cover himself: especially if you can enfilade his flank at the same time.

§ 258. The last description of fire which I shall take notice of, is, when your lines are constructed in such a manner, that the fire of two or more batteries cross each other at certain points. These are termed cross-fires, and they are of the greatest ser-

of the piece; for instance, instead of three our four pounds, there must not be more than four, six, or eight ounces.—Every ball will then bound forcibly along the ground, and do incredible mischief wherever it goes.—Author.

 Q_3

vice

vice both in attack and defence: because they silence all the enemy's batteries within their reach, and soon bring down their works. While the heaviest simple fire upon their front will only loosen and injure the walls.

CHAPTER VII.

Of Heights commanding each other.

\$ 259. WHAT I have already faid upon this subject in the 142d paragraph, and upon the fire of artillery in the preceding chapter, will be sufficient to prove that the usual apprehension in such cases is generally carried too far. If there is but little difference between our own heights and those which command us, we shall be exposed to considerable injury; because cannon-shot will rake them completely (Pl. 30. fig. 1, B): but, if they are much more elevated, and do not extend upon our flanks, we cannot labour under any material disadvantages,

vantages, beyond the difficulty of concealing our movements, and the idea of danger, which will probably spread itself among the soldiers, when they see an enemy so much above them. On that account, however, his superiority is much more imaginary than real; for he will find great difficulty in pointing his cannon; his shot will only hit one point, and immediately bury themselves in the ground: as may be seen in Pl. 30. prof. 3.

§ 260. Consequently, when an attack is made upon a steep height, the fire of enemy's artillery will almost lose its effect as soon as you are near the foot of it. By the profiles 3 and 5, in Pl. 30, it is proved that you will be completely under his fire within c and e; because the guns are not capable of further depression: and, if there are hillocks in front of the main height, as at B in prof. 3, you can push on the attack with vigour till you reach them, and then give your men rest in security.

Q 4

As

As I have now pointed out the difadvantages which the enemy must labour under in the defence of such heights, I shall proceed to fnow that the affailants will have still greater difficulties to encounter, and that they will be exposed to very confiderable danger.—In the first place, when you attack a height, your cannon will have little or no effect, unless you can command it from others; and, if the enemy retires a few paces from the edge, all your shot will pass above him. Pl. 30. fig. 2.—It is therefore evident, that artillery should not be used upon such occasions, and that every thing must depend upon expedition, and a firm reliance on the bayonet: 2dly, Your cavalry will be unferviceable when the ascent is steep: 3dly, Your infantry will be obliged to referve their fire during the advance, that the ammunition may not be fguandered without effect: and laftly. Your troops will be fo much fatigued when they gain the fummit, that they will probably be driven back without difficulty.

§ 26I.

§ 261. WHENEVER there are heights near our position from whence it can be commanded by the enemy's batteries, we must construct our lines so as to avoid an ensilade, in case he should take possession of them, and endeavour to cover ourselves by epaulements.

§ 262. If the front of our position is covered by a fordable river, whose opposite banks are higher then those which we occupy, it will be considerably to our advantage to intrench ourselves upon the side of the declivity in the manner described in the 291st paragraph.—By those means we shall impede the enemy's passage, and be at the same time too far below his batteries to have much cause of apprehension.—Should it be necessary, we can also add to our security by making the parapet higher than usual, with two or three banquettes, as in Pl. 30. sig. 5, c, and by covering the embrasures with strong sascines.

§ 263,

234 PART II. CHAP. VIII.

§ 263. HEIGHTS with a gradual descent are by far the most favourable to the defenders, because the enemy must be continually exposed to fire during his attack. Pl. 30. fig. 4.

CHAPTER VIII.

Observations upon Lines, Angles, and Polygons.

\$ 264. THE ditch and parapet are the effential parts of every retrenchment. The ditch furnishes materials for the parapet *; and both are intended to be very considerable obstacles in the way of an enemy during his advance against us. Consequently they ought to be of sufficient dimensions to answer those purposes. This advice is by no means unnecessary; for, singular as it may appear, it frequently happened in the seven-years war, that even cavalry penetrated into retrenchments in spite of such obstacles.

[•] See DITCH, Vol. V. Sect. 3. and Chap. VIII,—Author.

One

Observations upon Lines, Angles, &c. 235.

One of the several instances, which came within my knowledge, may, with propriety, be laid before my readers; because I happened to be an eye-witness of the fact.

§ 265. WHEN the Austrians were marching to the relief of Dresden in 1760, M. Zeschwitz, at the head of his squadron, forced his way into a large inclosed retrenchment near the Weissen-Hirsch, upon the 19th of July, and took possession of it.—M. Zeschwitz was at that time Captain of cavalry in the Austrian service.

§ 266. As the parapet ought to defend us from the enemy's artillery, it must be thick enough to resist all cannon-shot *.

At the fiege of Colberg, a cannon-ball came through one of the parapets and took off the head of an artillery-man who was standing near me. — Such circumstances tend very much to create fear and discontent among the troops.

[•] See PARAPET, Vol. V. Sect. 3, and Chap. VIII.—Author. § 267.

§ 267. UNLESS parapets flank each other. the fire from them will not be stronger than that of lines drawn up in the open field; neither will the troops derive any advantage from fuch a fituation, beyond that of being covered. And, as their affailants will then be able to present a larger front than themselves, even with an equality in point of numbers, I believe even that advantage will prove much more imaginary than real.—It is confequently evident that fuch parapets must be too weak, and that the fire of two or more lines ought always to cross each other: which cannot be effected but by means of falient and rentrant angles.

§ 268. WHEN a ditch is of fufficient depth and breadth, it is of itself capable of doing much service. Because, if we suppose the assailants to have got into it, after having forced their way through our fire, they will still be unable to make use of their muskets in storming the work, while we can either fire with great advantage,

Observations upon Lines, Angles, &c. 237

or have recourse to the bayonet.—And if it is at the same time strengthened by palifades, your lines will be almost in perfect security, especially with a fraised parapet, provided the troops behind them can be persuaded to maintain their ground.—But experience has repeatedly proved to us, that, in spite of the best palisades and fraises, all works are usually deserted as soon as the enemy makes his appearance upon the edge of the ditch.

This is one of those circumstances for which I am at a loss to assign any well-grounded reason, unless it proceeds from causes similar to those which will be explained in the sequel: for custom and prejudice always have a considerable influence over the minds of private soidiers.

§ 269. In the exercise of troops it is customary, and indeed almost reduced to an established rule, that, after a few rounds, the defenders must either retire from their works, or lay down their arms, as soon as the enemy comes near them. Consequently,

quently, the foldiers form an idea, that the case will be similar upon actual service. The assailants are therefore inspired with courage and considence of success, while those who are to sustain the attack take it for granted they must give up the point.—Another cause may proceed from the opinion too generally entertained among soldiers, that the sirelock is only of use in keeping the enemy at a distance from them *.

§ 270. As prejudice is found to operate fo strongly upon the minds of common men; perhaps M. Saxe's idea of

In the latter part of the original paragraph, Capt. Tielke recommends flails as inftruments peculiarly adapted to the defence of a retrenchment; but as such an idea appears to be equally whimsical and ridiculous, I have taken the liberty to omit a translation of it.—And indeed, if we admit the full extent of what he has said before, it should seem that resistance is seldom or ever to be made when the assailants have gained the edge of the ditch, and that the bayonet is almost an unmecessary appendage to the firelock.—But experience has repeatedly shown, that the minds of brave men are very rarely influenced, in so shameful a degree, by any custom or prejudice whatever, and that the enemy may be driven back by the bayonet, even after he has gained the parapet. Of which, he has himself given a remarkable instance in the 271st paragraph.

Translator.

arming

Observations upon Lines, Angles, &c. 239 arming one rank with long pikes, would, if adopted, be of more fervice than the bayonet in the defence of a parapet.-General Schmettau was of the fame opinion: for when the Turks befieged Belgrade in 1739, he was defirous of putting fifty men with pikes into a redout of much confequence; from a perfuasion that they would do very great execution with them *. If the troops employed in the defence of a work, could be brought to place a firm and manly confidence in their bayonets, there is no doubt but that they would be effectually enabled to keep off the affailants, and to throw them headlong into the ditch, as foon as they should venture to mount the parapet.

§ 271. THE last siege of Schweidnitz produced the following specimen of what brave men are capable of doing in the defence of a common retrenchment.—One of

the

GARN," during the campaigns of 1737, 1738, and 1739, published at Leipzig, ann. 1772.—Author.

the fleches, which had been newly thrown up in front of the fortress, was stormed seven times by the Prussians without effect. In one attempt they had actually forced their way upon the parapet, but were repulsed by the heroic conduct of Captain Brady and his soldiers; and, although they had carried on the sap so near the work itself, that their gabions were placed even upon the edge of the glacis, they were torn down with hooks, and the post was gloriously maintained till after the town had capitulated *.

In the year 1761, the Russians were also under the necessity of making regular approaches against Werner's corps, when it was retrenched near Colberg †.

§ 272. OF all rentrant angles, those of 90° are the best, as may be seen by Pl. 4. fig. 1.—For instance, the line a, b, is defended and flanked by the line b, c; and, as b, c, is at right angles with a, b, the

fhot

[•] See the operations on the 18th, 26th, and 27th of August, Vel. IV. Sect. 4.—Author.

[†] See Vol. V. Sect. 1. and 2, and Pl. 1.—Author.

Observations upon Lines, Angles, &c. 241 fhot which are fired from the one must fly parallel to the other; consequently their ditches and the ground between them will be effectually raked. — If the angle is obtuse, or above 90° , as e, f, g, the lines of fire, f, k, e, i, are no longer parallel to f, g; of course, they can neither defend the ditch nor the space f, g, k; and if the angle is acute, or under 90° , the defenders may fire upon each other, and the ditch will be as ill defended as in the former case.—C, d, e.

§ 273. A SALIENT angle should not have less then 60°. First, because the exposed space in front of the points e and c will be greater in proportion to the acuteness of the angle; and 2dly, because the inside of the work will be so narrow, that there will neither be room at the point for infantry, nor even for a piece of artillery.

§ 274. I THINK it will appear, from what has already been faid, that the best star-Vol. I. R forts

242 PART II. CHAP. VIII.

forts cannot be very strong.—Their salient angles are generally too narrow within, and the desence of the lines must be imperfect; because the shot can never sly parallel to them, unless the soldiers sire obliquely, and with the greatest nicety: and these are points which must not be looked for in the time of action.

§ 275. A TRIANGLE is by far the most inconvenient polygon, on account of the acuteness of its angles; and those who wish to learn the formation of such works, may examine the 5th plate of M. de Clairac's treatise on field-fortification, fig. 2*.

The generality of square works will only have a simple or front-fire, with a considerable exposed angle at every point.—M. de Clairac recommends a method of defending the square by means of slanks, which may be seen in the same plate, sig. 3. I

.

diflike

^{*} See Fleches and Triangular Figures, Vol. VI. Chap. XI.—Author.

dislike his idea, and am decidedly of opinion that it is much better to adopt any other figure of a more convenient shape, and with a more perfect defence *.

The methods of cutting off the angles of a square, with a view of increasing its strength, or of forming its sides en cremaille, will be taken notice of when I explain the construction of works +.

In a case of necessity, a stank defence may be given to a pentagon; but it is by no means so well adapted to such a purpose as the hexagon and other polygons; which I shall take into consideration hereafter ‡.

[•] See SQUARE-WORKS, Vol. VI. Chapter XI.—Author.

⁺ See Muller's translation of the Field-Engineer of M. le Chevalier de Clairac, Chapters I. and II.—Translator.

[‡] See Pentagon, Vol. VI. Chapter XI.—Author.

CHAPTER IX.

Of the Profile.

the contents and strength of every part of it.—A good profile is therefore of the greatest importance in building fortresses and in the formation of every species of retrenchment; for it is as evident that a well-proportioned profile will improve a very moderate design, as that the best design will become weak if executed upon a bad profile.—In all cases the profile ought to be thus regulated: first, by the view with which the work is formed; secondly, by the nature of the soil.

§ 277. THE intent of a work implies, whether it will have occasion to resist the fire of artillery, or of small arms; and whether it is to be of long or short duration. At the same time it must be particularly remembered

remembered by the Engineers, that nothing but the impossibility of erecting batteries against it, should induce them to make their parapets too weak. For, according to the present mode of carrying on war, it very rarely happens that a post is attacked, or indeed that any military project is carried into execution, without the help of artillery.

§ 278. When works are only intended to give a temporary defence, they may be formed entirely of earth; but, if they are to be of long duration, they ought to have a good and well-anchored * revetement of fascines: unless the want of time and materials should make it necessary to adopt some other method.—I was once under the necessity of constructing works in so servere a frost, that the ground could not be dug up without pickaxes; and, as it was neither possible for me to form the interior talus with the lumps of earth

R 3

while

[•] The method of anchoring fascines has been explained in the 237th paragraph.—Translator.

while they were in fuch a state, nor to procure fascines for that purpose, I had recourse to another expedient, viz. I drove stakes into the ground at the distance of about four feet from each other, and laid boards behind them, which I got from a neighbouring village. I made the parapet rather higher than usual, that it might be of fufficient height when the frost was at an end, and added a temporary banquette of boards placed upon fquare pieces of wood, that it might be afterwards removed without trouble. These works were not as pleafing to the eye as those which are made in the usual manner; but they effectually answered the purposes required of them.

If you wish to throw up a permanent work with more than usual expedition, and have no fascines in readiness, the revetement of the talus may be formed with twigs wattled upon stakes, as before explained; or with branches laid loosely behind them. In the first case, the twigs of willow

willow or birch are preferable to all others, and in the second, branches of fir.

§ 279. THE neatest and best method of forming the revetements of a work is with clods of earth of about a foot square. For if they are laid upon each other with the grown sides downwards, and fastened together with wooden pegs, they will soon unite themselves into a compact body and acquire incredible sirmness.

OF THE DIFFERENT SOILS.

§ 280. THESE are either; (1), clay or stiff earth; (2), sand; (3), rock or gravel; and (4), morass.—Each of them will require a different profile, which I shall en-

* Here the author seems in some measure to contradict what he has said at the beginning of the last paragraph; therefore, I think it necessary to add a few words by way of explanation. In one case, he means to say, that works may be expeditiously thrown up, as a temporary desence, without any revetements whatever; and in the other, that a very durable and permanent revetement may be made with clods of earth, if they are properly cut and placed. Consequently, the works which are recommended in this paragraph, are not in a state of persection for several months after they have been formed.—Translater.

R 4

deavour

248 PART II. CHAP. IX.

deavour to explain in as few words as poffible.

I. OF THE PROFILE IN A CLAYEY OR STIFF SOIL.

§ 281. Retrenchments in such a soil are more durable than in any other, and thrown up with greater expedition; because it is neither necessary to add a revetement of clods or fascines, nor to give the profile so much length of base as in a loose soil *.—It has been sound by experience, that balls from one to sour pounds will always bury themselves in clay about sour or sive seet deep; those of six or eight pounds, about six or seven seet, and those of twelve pounds, about eight or nine seet: consequently the parapet need not be above twelve, sourteen, or sixteen seet in thickness †.—Every other dimension

and

[•] See Capt. Tielke's note upon the 283d paragraph.

Translator.

[†] See Vol. V. Sect. 3, and Chap. VIII.—Author.

and proportion may be seen by the profiles in the 4th and 5th plans *

The profiles A, B, C, are thrown up against heavy artillery; D, E, F, against small arms: B, D, have only one banquette, A, E two, and C, F, would require three; but, instead of the first and second, the ground is gradually sloped off.

The last-mentioned profiles are formed with a view of sheltering us effectually from the enemy's fire when he has an elevated situation, and of giving us the command of more ground than we could otherwise have had. It is of course understood that no banquette must be made in those places where cannon are planted. The glacis of each profile is made with the superfluous earth, which is thrown out of the ditch: in A, C, F, they are three feet high; in D, E, two; and in B eighteen inches.

-All

^{*} In the original work the author fays he has only marked the dimensions upon the first profile, because they can be easily found by the scales which are annexed to each plan. For the convenience of my readers, I have added figures to all of them; consequently a translation of those lines would have been unnecessary.—Translator.

-All their banquettes are a foot and a half high and three feet broad. The interior talus of each parapet is one foot, and the exterior talus is equal to half the flope: therefore, in the profile A, it is 3 feet; in B, 2½; in C, 3½; in D, 2½; in E, 31; and in F, 4.—In A, the basis of the parapet is 16 feet; in B, 151; in c, 164; in D, $8\frac{1}{2}$; in E, $9\frac{1}{2}$, and in F, 10. — The height of the parapet above the banquette must never exceed four feet and a half, and when you fire from a height into a valley, it may be still lower. Pl. 8, u. may also be necessary upon other occasions to give the parapets less than four feet and a half in height, as will be shown in the 352d paragraph. The fuperior talus of the parapet must be regulated by the glacis and the ground in its front, because it is of the utmost consequence that the enemy shall never get under your fire; which would undoubtedly happen if it was too inconfiderable. In A, B, C, D, there. is a flope of 1 ½, and in E, F, of 1 foot.—In A, the top of the ditch is 21 feet in breadth; in . in B, 18; in C, 27; in D, 11; in E, 14; and in F, 17: in A, E, their depth is 7½ feet; in B, D, 6; and in C, F, 9: and their breadth at the bottom is, in A, 13½ feet; in B, 12; in C, 18; in D, 5; in E, 6½, and in F, 8.

§ 282. These and the subsequent profiles are without covert-ways; because, in field works they are unufual, and feldom of the finallest advantage. If they are not occupied, they only affift the affailants in gaining the ditch; and, if they are occupied, a determined enemy will force his way into them fword in hand, cut down your men, or perhaps get possession of the work itself, by means of a rapid and vigorous pursuit, in case the defenders should be permitted to make their retreat: - but if the counterscarp is well palifaded, and made with one, two, or three banquettes, as in v, Pl. 8; you will acquire a more horizontal fire from thence than from the parapet: and of course the strength of the work will be greatly augmented.

Whenever

252 PART II. CHAP. IX.

Whenever you wish to form a covertway, you must take in about twelve or fourteen feet of ground, after the ditch has been traced; raise a parapet upon its outward edge, with or without a banquette; and add a glacis of twenty-five, thirty, or perhaps forty feet in length, Pl. 17. fig. 3, k, b.—This parapet and glacis must be in a line with the superior talus of the main parapet, that they may be effectually raked by the fire from thence; and before each rentrant angle there must be a fmall place of arms. Palifades ought, also to be placed close behind the interior talus i, with the addition of a strong lath or spar about three or four inches below their tops, which will increase their strength and give the troops a convenient rest for their firelocks.

In Pl. 16. fig. 2, I have added a covertway to one of M. Clairac's têtes-de-pont, with a falient angle in front of the curtain or fortie *; which I conceive to be much

^{*} See Covert-way, Vol. V. Sect. 3, and Chap. VIII.

Author.

more

more convenient than a flêche or ravelin. For those works would effectually obstruct the fire from the great flanks, which ought to command the whole of the ground in front, unless they were sunk below the surface; and, in that case, the men who occupied them would be in continual danger of the fire of the main parapet, particularly during the night.

2. OF THE PROFILE IN A SANDY SOIL.

§ 283. WHENEVER retrenchments are to be thrown up in fuch a foil, an interior revetement is indifpenfably necessary; and indeed, if they are intended to be durable, or if the enemy can bring artillery against them, an exterior one will be equally requisite: unless you can procure as much good earth or turf as will cover the surface, and prevent its being washed into the ditch, or blown away by the wind *.

Digitized by Google

[•] It has hitherto been customary to give the profiles in such a soil a very unnecessary degree of strength; for late trials have proved that sand will always resist cannon-shot sooner than the stiffest clay.—In sand a revetement of planks is preserable to any other.—Author.

The

The plans 6 and 7 show the dimensions of every part, and the proportion they bear to each other.—G, H, I, are erected against artillery, and K, L, M, against musketry.— The parapets of G, H, I, are 12 feet thick. The whole basis of G, is 18 feet; that of H, 19;; and that of 1, 21. Two feet are allowed in each for the interior talus, and the exterior talus is formed by the natural fall of the fand when thrown up from the. ditch; that is to fay, of equal breadth and height. Confequently o has a flope of 4 feet; H, $5\frac{1}{2}$; I, 7; K, 5; L, $6\frac{1}{2}$; and M, 8. —The scarp and counterscarp of the ditch are made by the fame rule: but, when the exterior talus of the parapet is to have a revetement of fascines, it will only require a flope equal to half its height.—The top of the ditch of G is 21 feet in width; of H, 25; of I, 30; of K, 15; of L, 191; and of M, 24. The bottom of G is 9 feet; of H, 10; of I, 12; of K, 3; of L, $4\frac{1}{4}$; and of M, 6.—The depth of G is 6 feet; of H, 71; of 1, 9; of K, 6; of L, 71; and of M, 9.

§ 284.

§ 284. As it is also necessary that works should be thrown up for an expeditious and temporary defence against cavalry and light-troops, or to secure our rear from a surprise; I have added some profiles which appear to me to be best adapted to such purposes.

N, in Pl. 7, is formed in fand: its ditch is four feet and a half in depth, 9 in breadth, and brought to a point at the bottom; which must be an advantageous method when the ditches are not deep, because the enemy can neither stand in them, nor assist each other in getting into the work. The parapet has no banquette, and its basis is nine feet in length.

The profile o shows the dimensions in a good soil. The basis of the parapet is 6 feet; the top of the ditch is $7\frac{1}{2}$ feet in width, the bottom 3; and the depth $4\frac{1}{2}$,

p represents a small parapet, supported by palisades. The earth is dug out of a ditch of six feet in breadth, and three in depth.

The

The strength of these parapets, and the depth of their ditches, may be increased at any time, provided the berms are of sufficient breadth.—They are particularly serviceable in covering the debouches of villages or farm-yards, the gorges of retrenchments, and in joining detached works. The chevaux-de-frise, Q, may be also applied in the same manner, and the earth that is taken out of the ditch in their front will fill up the lower part as far as the centre beam. This ditch is four feet in width and two in depth.

3. OF THE PROFILE IN A ROCKY SOIL.

§ 285. In this inftance, every profile must be made as the nature of the ground will allow. The ditch cannot be deep; consequently it must be increased in breadth, till a sufficient quantity of earth can be procured for the parapet;—or, if the rock should not be above a foot below the surface,

furface, a fecond ditch may be made within the work, (Pl. 8, v).—Sometimes, however, both these ditches will be insufficient, and in that case, more soil must be brought from some other place.—Trunks of trees can also be laid behind the exterior talus, with a covering of earth of about a foot in thickness.—Your parapet will then be well formed; your troops will be free from danger on account of the splinters; and, if a space of 14 or 18 inches is lest between the interior talus and the second ditch, the natural ground will form a convenient banquette. Pl. 7, R, s, T.

REMARK.

§ 286. It is by no means unnecessary that these parapets should be one and a half, or perhaps three seet higher than usual, and that they should have two or three banquettes; to counteract the disadvantages of so shallow a ditch.

Vol. I,

S

§ 287.

§ 287. The profiles R, w, in the 7th and 8th plans, are only intended as a defence against small arms; s, T, U, V, X, Y, against artillery: and, as their construction is different from that of parapets in general, I shall take them successively into consideration.

The profile R, in Pl. 7, has a basis of 7: feet, and it is only 3 feet high, that the troops may be enabled to fire more conveniently down the side of the hill upon which it is formed. The earth is taken from the ditch behind it; which is 5 feet in width, 2 in depth on the side nearest the parapet, and 2! on the other, with a small channel or gutter to carry off the rain.—

For, whenever ditches are made within a work, there should be a slope of 1, or 1! foot from the parapet, that no water may lodge near it.

The profiles s, T, are thrown up against cannon, and the only difference in their construction is, that in the first, the necessary height of the parapet is gained by the depth of the ditch, and in the second by

its

its breadth.—u is also thrown up against cannon, and with the same view as the profile R.—v is formed where the earth is only one foot in depth, and its front is defended by chevaux-de-frise, which are either fixed to the ground or to the parapet.—It is to be remembered, however, that chevaux-de-frise should not be placed before a work or ditch, if they are likely to be hit by the enemy's artillery; because their shot will immediately destroy them, and the splinters will wound the soldiers who are behind the parapet.

The profiles w, represent two expeditious methods of forming parapets against musketry by means of gabions. In one they are placed horizontally, and in the other perpendicularly.—Sand and woolfacks, or casks filled with dung, may be used in the same manner.—x shows how works may be formed with sand or woolfacks, and a covering of earth, to resist a cannonade. — A parapet might also be formed with planks or rafters, so as to withstand the heaviest fire of artillery, if

their flope was equal to fix times their perpendicular height. The upper ends ought to be supported by trestles, upon which bundles of straw or wool-facks have been laid with a view of increasing their elafticity; and their banquettes may be made of wood *.- The principal objection to this kind of parapet is, that the enemy can march over it with great facility.

§ 288. A PARAPET might also be made upon rock, or a traverse formed cross a street or bridge, by means of strong wooden boxes, containing fand, earth, woolfacks, &c.—When they are used as parapets, (as was the case in the camp near Hohen-Gersdoff, in the year 1762), the materials with which they are filled ought to project eighteen or twenty inches above the wood on the infide, that the troops behind them may not be wounded by splinters. But, if they are only

intended

[•] My additional fig. f, represents the profile of such a parapet, according to Capt. Tielke's description.—Translator.

intended to act as traverses, that precaution is unnecessary, and their height must be increased.

In the year 1759, the Austrians formed feveral of these traverses in the New-Town, when they took Dresden from the Prussians. Pl. 9, sig. 1st and ad.

4. OF THE PROFILE IN A MORASS, OR SWAMPY SOIL.

§ 289. Whenever it is impossible to dig up the ground in consequence of its extreme wetness, a parapet may be formed either with fascines or with the boxes described in the last paragraph. But if the water should only spring up by degrees, as is generally the case, your works will have the advantage of a wet ditch, and of course a better defence.—In both cases, hurdles or planks should be laid within the retrenchment, wherever they may be required; and, if the water should stand above the ground, they must have a foundation

dation of beams or fascines, otherwise they will not be sufficiently raised.—Their banquettes may be made either with fascines, planks, or rafters.

In the 9th plan I have given the profiles of three parapets, which are all of sufficient strength to resist a cannonade.—z is formed with the earth that has been taken out of its ditch: tz, by means of gabions silled with fascines, and a covering of earth or mud: and zz, shows a method of using water sascines, to gain a soundation in very wet ground. Its parapet is made entirely of gabions silled with sand or woolfacks.

§ 290. When the Austrians intended to take Dresden by storm, in the year 1759, they provided themselves with such floating batteries as I have represented in the 9th plan, sig. 3.—But, as they never had occasion to make use of them, I cannot speak with certainty as to their goodness; however, I am inclined to think they might be

Digitized by Google

of use in surprising and putting an enemy into confusion; especially in the night.

In the year 1746 Count Gages, who was at that time General in the Spanish army, made twenty-four floating batteries; each of which consisted of six boats, well fastened together with beams, and surrounded by a strong parapet. They contained 400 men, exclusive of artillery: and with them he carried a considerable body of troops down the Lambro, cross the Po, drove off the Austrians who were posted on the shore, and threw three bridges over the river *.

At the fiege of Colberg in 1758, when the Russians found it impossible to procure the necessary materials for a bridge, they had an idea of passing the main ditch upon floats of timber, which were secured on all sides with strong beams †. But, the day before their plan was to have been carried into execution, the Prussian succours arrived, and obliged them to march

S 4

away.-

[·] Krieg's Bibliothek, 3 Versuch, page 261. - Author.

⁺ See Vol. II. Sect. 2. - Author.

away.—I was defirous of feeing whether this dangerous undertaking would have fucceeded or not; because I was almost convinced in my own mind, that those brave men would have been facrificed to no purpose.

§ 291. It frequently happens that you are obliged to make your ditch behind the parapet, as in trenches; and, indeed, it is fometimes advantageous to do fo.—But this fubject will be more minutely explained hereafter: therefore I shall only point out two objects at present, which ought to be particularly attended to, viz.

- 1. Steps must be made at each sortie, or the earth gradually sloped off for the convenience of the soldiers.
- 2. A small gutter must be cut in the bottom of the ditch to carry off the water, as in Pl. 8, u*.—Sometimes the want of a descent may make it necessary to let these gutters pass under a part of the works:—

In

^{*} More profiles may be found in Vol. III. Pl. 6; Vol. V. Pl. 4, 5, and 6; and Vol. VI. Pl. 12.—Author.

In that case, drains must be made, with a covering of planks or fascines, before the parapet is thrown up.

§ 292. As it is always more probable that retrenchments will be taken by ftorm, than that they will be battered down by artillery; they ought to be strengthened with palifades, fraifes, trous-de-loup, and abbatis.—When fraises are to be made use of, the parapet will require a berm of two feet in breadth, and they must be nailed upon a rafter of fix inches square, as in Pl. 10. fig. 1, a. Their points should have a descent of two inches, while the other ends are buried three feet deep in the ground, and fastened to a second rafter or beam to prevent their being torn away, B.—They ought therefore to be laid before the parapet is finished, and afterwards covered with earth, Pl. 15, 0, p, q.—The principal reasons for depressing their points are, first, that the enemy's cannon-shot may be the less likely to break them; and fecondly, that his shells, instead of lodging ing upon them, may roll back into the ditch. In some cases, however, their points are elevated, as is shown by y in Pl. 8*.—Fraises are generally sour inches thick, and seldom less than nine seet in length, that they may project sour seet beyond the edge of the berm. They are pointed at one end, and sastened about eight inches asunder, with very long nails.

§ 293. Palisades are cut out of stems or arms of trees, of about fix or seven inches in diameter; and their length depends in all cases upon their intended application.

If they are used as tambours, (Pl. 23. fig. 5.), or for the purpose of barricading gorges or débouchés, they ought to be nine feet long: that, when their ends are two feet deep in the earth, they may remain seven feet above it.—Sometimes they are placed perpendicularly and sometimes obliquely, as in Pl. 4. fig. 8; but in either case they must not be exposed to the

[•] See Fraises, Vol. V. Sect. 3.—Author. enemy's

enemy's cannon: confequently they are feldom of much fervice in the open field.

§ 204. In Pl. 10, fig. 2, the palifades b, have an oblique direction, and are in some measure covered by the earth which has been thrown out of the trous-de-loups. A circumstance which ought at all times to be attended to, otherwise they will soon be fhot away by the enemy's artillery.— In the present instance, their points are not more than four feet above the ground; which is equal to the perpendicular height of the hillocks by which they are defended.—With these precautions they will be extremely ferviceable.—I have also made use of palifades at the foot of a height with equal advantage, when they did not interfere with the fire of our own batteries; and in some cases, if they were not much exposed, I have placed two rows of them about a foot afunder: the first sloping very much towards the enemy, while the fecond stood in a perpendicular direction.— By which means they could not be cut down,

down, and it was equally impossible for any troops to get over them.

For these reasons I recommend a general use of palisades in hilly situations; and, when they are not in danger of cannon-shot, I would prefer a double row of them to any parapet.

§ 295. THE tops of palifades ought never to be more than three or four inches above the counterscarp: consequently, if the ditch is of fufficient depth, they may ftand perpendicularly, otherwise they must have an oblique position.—But in either case, I disapprove of their being in the middle of the ditch; because they are then a confiderable hinderance to the fire of your flanks, and in some measure a defence to the enemy while he is cutting them down.-Whereas if they have the position of e in Pl. 10, fig. 1, or of a in fig. 2, every difadvantage is done away.— In the first instance the enemy cannot fland in the ditch till they are removed, and in the fecond, he will not be able to

get

get into it without exposing himself to danger. If they are placed under the scarp of the parapet, an oblique position is undoubtedly the most favourable; fig. 1, d.

Whenever palifades are to be used, you should make a gutter of two feet in depth, and as soon as they are put into their proper places, the earth must be thrown in again and well rammed down on both sides.

§ 296. The palifades which are placed behind a parapet (Pl. 17, fig. 3, i), ought never to be above five feet higher than the banquette; and, as I have already observed, a strong lath or spar must be nailed along the inside of them, about half a foot below their tops, for the joint purposes of binding them together and of giving the troops a convenient support for their firelocks.

The author of the "Amusements militaires" is of opinion that these laths or spars ought to be nailed on the outside rather than in the manner above mentioned. tioned. Because in that case, he says, a cannon-shot will only carry away one, or at most two palisades, while in the other it may destroy three times that number. I much doubt the validity of such a reason, and am persuaded that my method will give an enemy the greatest difficulty in tearing them down.

If you are either obliged to make your ditch within the work, or to form a work without the help of a ditch, as in the profiles u, v, w, and x, in Pl. 8, palifades may be placed behind the parapet.

§ 297. In Pl. 10. fig. 2, I have only shown the application of trous-de-loup, because their construction will be accurately described in the 15th chapter.

§ 298. The counterfcarp of a ditch may be defended either by chevaux-de-frise * or by an abbatis; in which case the stems of the trees ought to be buried in the ground. Pl. 10. fig. 2, e †.

CHAP-

[·] See CHEVAUX-DE-FRISE, Vol. V. Sect. 3 .- Author.

⁺ See Vol. V. Plans 4, 5, and 6.—Author.

CHAPTER X.

Of the Methods of marking out Lines, Angles, and Figures upon the Ground.

§ 299. THIS is usually done by the eye, and an experienced officer will find no difficulty in marking out a required angle at first sight, especially if it is a rectangle.—And on account of its superior defence, it is generally preferred to all others.—In throwing up retrenchments, an error of three or four degrees is of little consequence: but if much accuracy is required, the Engineers ought always to make use of a line.

TO MARK OUT, TRACE, AND MEASURE A STRAIGHT LINE.

§ 300. The extreme points are marked with stakes, and, close to the cord which is extended between them, the turf is cut away with a pickaxe or spade. But if this

is

is to be done in the night, a white object must be fixed upon each stake or pole, and a rope of straw should be used instead of a common cord.—If the line is very long, more stakes will be requisite.—In that case, the Engineer who stands at one end must fix his eye upon the opposite pole or stake, and direct his affistant to move to the right and left till his pole or stake is entirely hid by that in the centre. -In this manner a straight line of any length may be marked out with accuracy: and if knots are made upon the cord at the distance of a rood, perch, or yard from each other, its length will be known at the same time.

TO ASCERTAIN THE POINT ON WHICH TWO LINES WOULD MEET IF PRO-LONGED, AND TO KNOW THEIR ANGLE.

§ 301. WHEN the lines a, e, and b, c, in Pl. 10. fig. 3, have been measured, a perfon

fon must be sent forward, we will suppose from \mathbf{x} ; who will continue in the direction of that line, till he finds himself also in a line with bc. He then puts down his stake at d.—For the sake of greater certainty and expedition, another person may keep his eye fixed upon him from b.

TO FORM A RECTANGLE UPON THE GROUND.

§ 302. DIVIDE your cord or chain into as many equal parts as may be necessary: carry three of them along the line A B, Pl. 10. fig. 4, leave one end in B; with five of the parts make a sweep at E, and with four, make another sweep from A. Thus the sides of your triangle will contain three, four, and five equal parts; and confequently the angle A must be a rectangle, or an angle of 90°.—By these means all squares and parallelograms may be formed: for, if we suppose the given line A B, in fig. 5, to be divided into seven equal Vol. I.

parts, we need only carry four of them from A, and five from x, as before defcribed, and the point is found through which the fide A c, must pass.—When the same operation is made from y and B, the third side is given; and of course the fourth, or the side c D.—The same methods may be used in marking out all redouts, or in fixing the direction of the streets in an encampment.

If extreme accuracy is required in raising a perpendicular upon a given line, you may make one end of it the centre of a circle, carry two equal parts along the circumference on each side the point of intersection, and draw a straight line between them *.

^{*} Measure a few feet upon your given line back from one of its extreme points, as from A to b, in my + fig. G, carry the same length from A to c; make one sweep from b, and another from c, for the point x: which must be perpendicular to A.— Consequently the line A x, will be perpendicular to the given line A H.—In my opinion this is the most simple method, and with the least attention it is scarce possible that the operation should be inaccurate.—Translator.

TO FIND THE PARALLEL OF A GIVEN LINE.

§ 303. ERECT two perpendiculars upon your given line at any distance from each other, let them be of equal length, and the line which is drawn from one to the other will be parallel to the given line.—The same method is used in marking out the sides of a ditch, and all other parallel lines belonging to a parapet.

TO DESCRIBE A CIRCLE. Pl. 10. Fig. 6.

§ 304. Fix one end of your cord in A, and if the diameter is to be fix feet in length, fasten a pointed piece of wood or iron at the end of three feet, and you will describe the circle required.

T 2

TO FORM AN ANGLE OF 60° UPON A GIVEN LINE.

PL. 10. FIG. 7.

§ 305. Divide your cord into three equal parts, fix one end of it at A, the other at B (the exact length of one of those parts), let it be pulled tight, and drive in a ftake at the centre c.—Thus you will have an equilateral triangle, and of course each angle must contain 60°.

TO MAKE AN ANGLE OF 100° UPON A

PL. 10. FIG. 8.

§ 306. CARRY fix parts of your cord or chain along the line A B, make a sweep with feven of them from the point A, and another with ten from B, which gives the point c.—The angle B A C, will then contain 100°.

TO FORM AN ANGLE OF 108° UPON A GIVEN LINE.

PL. 10. FIG. 9.

§ 307. LET four parts of your cord or chain be carried along the line A B, make one fweep with nine from B, another with feven from A, and the angle B A C, will contain 108°.—The proper angle for the formation of a pentagon.

I conceive it to be unnecessary to add more angles, because they are seldom of use; and whenever they are required, those which I have already given may be increased or diminished by the eye.

TO FORM A TRIANGLE-ISOSCELE UPON A GIVEN LINE.

PL. 10. FIG. 10.

§ 308. Each angle of an equilateral triangle contains 60°: therefore if the base is shorter than the other two sides, it is evi-T 3 dent dent that there must be one angle under 60°; or, if it is longer, that there will be one above 60°. To execute this upon the ground, you must divide your given side into a certain number of equal parts.— For instance, if the base AB, is 42 paces in length, and divided into ten equal parts (for the overplus is of no consequence), you may take nine of them, or 36 paces for the other two sides; and the angle which is formed by them will have 68°: or, if you take only eight, seven, or six, it will consequently be the more obtuse.—With eight parts the angle c would contain 77° 30'; with seven, 91° 30'; and with six, 111° 30'.

TO FORM A SQUARE UPON ANY GIVEN SIDE.

§ 309. As a square contains two triangles, it may be easily formed upon the same principle.

The sides of a square bear nearly the same proportion with their diagonal, as ferven

To mark out Lines, Angles, &c. 279

ven to ten: consequently, if we suppose the length of a given line to be 42 paces:

7: 10:: 42: X.

7)420(60=x. Therefore if I form two equiangular triangles upon the diagonal line of 60 paces, whose sides are 42 paces each, I have the square required: Pl. 11. sig. 1.—It is true this calculation will not be perfectly accurate, because the proportion is somewhat below seven to ten; but, as extreme nicety is not requisite, the diagonal line may be shortened in proportion to the length of the sides.—Other methods of forming a square have been already explained in the 302d paragraph.

THE FORMATION OF A RHOMB OR LOZENGE.

§ 310. A RHOMB is formed in the same manner as a square, and the base of the triangles may be as long, or as short as you please.—Pl. 11, sig. 2, and 3.

TO

TO FORM A PENTAGON UPON A GIVEN SIDE.

PL. 11. FIG. 4.

\$ 311. A PENTAGON contains three triangles, and we will suppose the given line
a b to be thirty paces in length. Therefore, if a b is divided into six equal parts,
each of them must contain five, which
being multiplied by ten, will give the diagonal lines a c and b c; and, when the
length of the given side is carried from c
to e, and from b to e; from c to d, and
from a to d, the pentagon is formed with
sufficient accuracy, and may be made
more perfect by a small reduction of the
diagonals proportionable to the length of
the sides.

A pentagon may also be formed by laying down an angle of 108° upon both ends of the given line, according to the 307th paragraph.

TO FORM AN HEXAGON UPON A GIVEN SIDE.

PL. 11. FIG. 5.

§ 312. LET the diagonal line be twice the length of the given fide, make two equilateral triangles upon each half of it, c d b, c b g, a c f, and a c e; draw a line between the four points e, d, f, g, and you will have the hexagon required.

An hexagon may also be formed with greater expedition and accuracy by carrying the radius of your circle (ab, fig. 6.) fix times round the circumference, which will always divide it into fix equal parts.

As I have now described the figures which are generally made use of in the construction of star-forts, I consider it unnecessary to enter into an explanation of such polygons as are seldom or perhaps never required for such purposes.

OF THE FORMATION OF STAR FORTS.

§ 313. According to the following proportions, let fall a perpendicular from the centre of each fide of your figure; that is to fay, if it is a square, the perpendicular must be equal to one-seventh or one-eighth of the length of the fide; if a pentagon, to one-fixth; and if an hexagon, to one-fifth. -Draw a line from the ends of each face to that of its perpendicular (fig. 6, 7, and 8); or, if it should be necessary, you may measure off one-third of the length of the new faces on each fide the points c, which will give the points d, d; and, by forming the equilateral triangles d, e, d, your works will have double the number of flanks.

PL. 11. FIG. 9.

§ 314. TETES-DE-PONT may be formed in the same manner.—For instance; throw up

up a falient rectangle a b c, regulate the length of the faces c d, and c e, according to the number of men intended for the defence of the work; make the line e g parallel to c d, d f parallel to c e, and give them both the necessary length. Draw the line g i parallel to c b, f b to a c, i l to e g, and k b to f d.—Thus you will have an excellent Tête-de-pont, and a figure which would be equally serviceable upon other occasions; because it has a rectangular defence at all points.

§ 315. SECONDLY: you may mark out a triangle a c b, Pl. 12. fig. 1. Let c be either a rectangle, or not more than 93° ; divide its fides into three equal parts and mark them with pickets. Let fall a perpendicular from the fecond pickets, equal to one-fourth of one of those divisions, as described by d b, and i e; draw the lines c i g, and c b f, set off the flanks f k, and g k, perpendicular to c a, and c b, lengthen them till you find yourself in a line with d, and e; then draw the faces k m, and

In,

In, give them one-third of the length of a c, or a b, and from m n continue your lines to a b.

§ 316. THIRDLY: form a triangle a b c, Pl. 12, fig. 2, whose falient angle c, shall have 68° (§ 308); divide its two fides into three equal parts, mark them with pickets, and measure a line from d to e.—Then let fall the perpendicular f g, from the centre of that line, equal to half its length, which will give you the flanks dg, and g e.—Set off from a and b, along the base, one-fixth of the fides of your main triangle, let the lines kb, and li, be drawn from the third pickets, measure off ten paces from k and l, for the points m, n, and from thence you may continue the lines to ab.—The flanks aa, and bp, must be equal to the breadth of the ditch, and will give you a complete command of it. The figure shows that they are at right angles with ca, and cb.

TO

TO FORM A TENAILLE, WHICH MAY BE USED AS A TETE-DE-PONT.

PL. 12. FIG. 3.

§ 317. Make the line ab of any length. I will here suppose it to be fifty paces, let fall a perpendicular equal to one-sourth, one-sixth, or one-eighth of it from the centre, and draw the lines ac, and bc.— Form an angle of 90° at a, and another at b, for the sides ad, be, and let them be as long as circumstances may require. Then set off angles of 90° at d and e, for the flanks eg, fd; and lastly, draw the lines gi, and fb, perpendicular to ge, and fd.—These lines are to be continued to the banks of the river, or to whatever you may wish to defend.

TO FORM A HORNWORK, WHICH MIGHT BE USED AS A TETE-DE-PONT.

PL. 12. FIG. 4.

§ 318. THE only difference between the construction of this and the foregoing tenaille,

naille, is, that when the faces ac, and bc, are formed, you must divide them into two equal parts, k, l; lengthen them with one-fourth more to mn, and draw the flanks kn, lm, and the curtain nm.—Such a work is usually about fifty or fixty paces from the bridge, or whatever object you may wish to defend; and the line ab must be parallel to them.

A REDANS WHICH MIGHT BE SERVICEABLE EITHER AS A TETE-DE-PONT OR COM-MON RETRENCHMENT.

PL. 12. FIG. 5.

§ 319. Make the line ab as long as may be necessary (perhaps thirty paces), form a triangle upon it, whose salient angle c shall have 77° (§ 308); at a and b set off angles of 100° (§ 306), and let the slanks da, eb, be equal to half the length of the saces ac, and bc: form the lines df, and eg, at right angles with be, and ad, give them twice their length, and set off the second slanks at angles of 100° from g and

and f.—Thus you may proceed till you reach the object which is to be covered.

TO FORM A REDANS. Pl. 12. Fig. 6.

§ 320. FLECHES are thrown up about 300 paces afunder. Their falient angles usually contain 91° 30', and their bases are from fixty to eighty paces in length, as explained by a, b, c.—A rectangle is laid down at a, and half the length of the face carried along that line to d, where another angle of 100° is formed for the line de; which is equal to a c.—The rectangle e is then formed, and the flank e f is precifely fimilar to a d.—Thus the fides of two flèches will form a rentrant angle at their junction; before which an equilateral triangle b i, should be formed, whose sides are not to be less than ten or fifteen paces in length, to cover the entrance at g.

CHAP-

CHAPTER XI.

To regulate the Construction of Parapets and Retrenchments, according to the Number of Men intended for their Defence; to distribute the Workmen, &c.

BEHIND a parapet foldiers are usually formed two deep. One pace is allotted to each file, and four or five paces to each field-piece. Therefore, if I am ordered to throw up a square redout for 300 men with two field-pieces, I can find the necessary length of their sides in the following manner:—Three hundred men will make 150 file; consequently, they will require 150 paces;

The cannon - 10, and The fortie - 8

Total - 168:4=42

paces, or the length of each fide. But as the banquette will take off two or three paces, I ought to add that number to the length length of the fides, which will increase them to about forty-five paces.

REMARK.

§ 322. THE space within ought also to be large enough to enable the men to move and lie down; which may be easily ascertained by the following calculation.

Every foldier requires 18 square feet, and each field-piece 216; therefore, if the number of men are multiplied by 18, and 216 by the number of field-pieces, the necessary dimensions are found.

Whenever a redout is to be formed according to this calculation, you need only extract the square root of the whole, and you will have the required length of one side (provided they are equal), or one-fourth of its circumference.

If you wish to know the inward contents of an old redout, which has either the shape of a rhomb or long square, the length must be multiplied by the perpendicular height. If it is triangular, the base Vol. I. U must

must be multiplied by half the height; and if circular, one-fourth of the diameter by the circumference, or one - half of the cumference by the whole diameter *.

In the fecond part of M. Boehm's Magazine for Engineers, page 337, there are algebraical forms, written by an Engineer in the Danish service, by which the number of men necessary for the defence of every species of work may be ascertained with the greatest accuracy, without any tedious calculations †.

- * See Vol. III. and the latter part of Sect. 3.—Author.
- + Soon after the publication of my Field Engineer, this officer fent me his calculations; but, as I was well aware that many of my readers would not be able to apply them, and that a very exact knowledge of the contents of a work is seldom required in the field, I have never given them a place in my publications. In this edition, however, I have explained as much of them as can be necessary for my present purpose. Those who understand algebra will be highly satisfied with his demonstrations, and I think the method which he proposes, will make errors much less frequent.

In the fifth Vol. of my Account of the WAR, &c. Sect. 3, and Chap. VI. a part of my calculation is erroneous; for, instead of eighteen Rhineland square feet, or three and a half Rhineland square paces, I have inserted nine paces. I must therefore request that the end of that sentence may be disregarded, and that this may be considered as the just calculation.—Author.

A Rhine-

A Rhineland rood * is fometimes divided into twelve Rhineland feet, and fometimes into ten decimal feet or five paces.

A pace is equal to 22, or two decimal feet. Eighteen square Rhineland feet (the space to be allowed to each man) contain = 12 1 Rhin. decimal square feet, or $\frac{2}{3}$ = $3\frac{1}{5}$ fquare paces. The length of twelve Rhineland feet, or five paces, will be neceffary for each cannon at the parapet: and altogether it will require a space of 216 Rhineland square feet = 150 Rhineland decimal feet, or 37 ½ fquare paces.— Confequently, if 3 are multiplied by the number of men, and 37 ± added for each gun, you will at once know whether the inward space is sufficiently large or not; and, by extracting the fquare root, you will have one fide of the fquare.—In all other regular polygons, if you multiply the root by four, and divide the fum into

U 2

^{*} A Rhineland rood is equal to 12 feet, and a Rhineland foot is an established measure in Germany, especially in military operations. With an English foot it bears the proportion of 1440 to 1391 \(\frac{1}{2}\).—Translator.

as many parts as there are fides in the work, the product will show the length of each in paces. — Therefore, when five paces are substracted for each gun, the remainder will give the whole number of men, if in one rank; and half their number, if in two.

Hence it is evident, that no enclosed redout can be made for less than fifty men in each rank, provided they are to lie down in it: and even this is disadvantageous; for it has been found by experience, that large works are by far the most useful, if the extent of the sides does not weaken the fire from the parapet: because in every confined space the enemy's shells will do incredible mischief.-Whenever the foldiers are to be formed two deep for the defence of a work, and to lie down in it, it cannot be formed for less than 184, and in that case there will scarce be room for the smallest reserve.—But, if it is thrown up for 200 men, with two pieces of cannon, you need only make the parapets long enough for the number of files and the

the guns: for the inward space will then be abundantly large.

§ 323. To know how many men will be necessary for the defence of a finished work, you need only measure one of its sides, provided they are equal, and then multiply its length by the remaining number.—But if they are unequal, all of them must be measured; and when you have substracted the necessary space for each field-piece, multiply the paces by two, and you will have the question required.

We will suppose, for instance, that the sides of a square redout, in which sour sield-pieces are to be placed have, been sound to measure 300 paces: consequently 75, or the length of each side—5 for its sield-piece = 70 × 4 = 280 paces or siles; which being again multiplied by 2 = 560 (if two deep), and allowing a reserve of 40 men, the whole will amount to 600.—

If, at the same time, you wish to find its internal contents according to the rule

U 3 which

which I have mentioned in the last paragraph, it will appear, that $75 \times 75 = 5625$ — 150 for the cannon = 5475 : 37, the necessary room for each man = 1752. Almost three times as many men as are wanted for the defence of the parapet.

- 2. If all the fides are found to measure 100 paces, the defenders may be posted two deep, and there will be room for them, but none for a reserve.
- 3. If they exceed 120 paces, there will be fufficient room for the men two deep, and for a confiderable referve.

It is to be observed, however, that inflead of encamping the men within an
enclosed work, where confusion would be
unavoidable in case of an attack, it is much
better that they should remain on the outside of it: or, if that is impracticable,
that a wooden shed or house should be
built in the centre, which would effectually
cover the men from the severity of the
weather, and keep their arms and ammunition from injury in a wet season.

§ 324.

§ 324. When the plan of a work has been proportioned to the number of men intended for its defence, or to any other circumstances which the peculiar exigence of the case may seem to point out; the lines which have been explained in the foregoing chapter are to be considered as the internal length of the parapet (f f, Pl. 15. sig. 1 and 2.) to which all the others must be parallel, and at such distance from each other as the profile may require.—When this is done, the workmen are to be placed two paces as a funder, at the line c c, sig. 1, which marks the counterscarp of the ditch.

The earth, when dug up, must be thrown as far as possible towards the internal line of the parapet.—If the ditch is broad, the same number of workmen should be placed at the line or scarp, b, b, b, sig. 2, and half that number at the counterscarp, c, c, c.—Care must be taken that the sides of the ditch shall not be too steep, and particularly those of the scarp; that they may be able to support the weight of the parapet.

U 4

.

The

The best and safest method is to begin by digging out as much of the middle of the ditch as the profile may direct: that is to fay, only between c c and b b, leaving the fides perpendicular; and then to form the flope of the scarp and counterscarp, foot by foot.—Whatever earth may not be wanted for the parapet, will form a glacis; which will be equally ferviceable in giving you a more effectual command over the enemy, and in adding to the depth of the ditch.— If any earth should remain after the formation of the glacis, it may be used for the banquette; if not, a sufficient quantity may be taken from the middle of the work; especially if it stands upon a height.

Whenever the banquettes are not formed entirely with turf, they should have a revetement of fascines.

§ 325. When a new work is building, the fascines are usually laid at the same time, and anchored as before explained. But as this cannot be done when a revetement is to be added to an old parapet, they must

must be fixed entirely with pickets: which are driven in such a manner, that about two inches of their heads remain above each row of fascines, as an additional support for those which are placed upon them *.—The pickets for the lower rows of fascines ought in that case to be about two feet and a half in length, for those in the middle about three feet and a half, and for the upper rows five feet.—If the soil is good, some three foot pickets may also be driven horizontally through the sascines by way of greater security.

§ 326. If you are under the necessity of adding a revetement to the exterior talus of an old work, which has no berm; the fascines must be continued from the bottom of the ditch to the top of the parapet. But, if a new work is thrown up, a berm of a foot and a half or two feet in breadth will afford a secure resting - place for the first row of them, and at the same time prevent the loose earth from rolling down.

• See my + fig. c, Pl. 4.—Translator.

§ 327·

§ 327. When the revetement is carried on with the work, all the pickets may be two feet and a half in length, and the usual anchors must be fixed at the end of every three or four feet; beginning with the third row from the bottom.—But in some cases, when an expeditious, rather than a durable method is to be adopted, common boughs of trees will in great measure supply the place of anchors; provided they are cut with hooks to take hold of the fascines, while their other ends, unstript of their twigs and leaves, are buried within the parapet.

§ 328. The first row of fascines ought to be laid as flat as possible, and buried about three inches deep in the earth.—A fascine of twelve feet in length will require four pickets, which must be driven through it at equal distances, and always between two bindings; otherwise they will probably fly open. The bindings of every row ought also to be in an exact line above each other,

other *, and as foon as a few rows are fixed in their places, the earth must be filled up behind them and well rammed down.

§ 329. In laying and anchoring the fascines for the revetement of a work, three men will be sufficient for every twenty-four feet: who are to be provided with two wooden mallets, a saw, and a bill or hatchet.

§ 330. THE interior revetement ought never to begin at the banquette, but at the bottom of the parapet. Therefore, whenever one or more banquettes are found in an old work, they must be previously cleared away.

§ 331. WHEN thin branches of trees are wattled upon stakes in the manner already explained, they may be of much service in the formation of a revetement, provided it is not intended to be of long duration: because it will be completed with tolerable expedition, and

• See my + fig. c, Pl. 4.—Translator.

less

less wood will be required than when fafcines are made use of.—And if you should ever be obliged to add fuch a revetement to the exterior, as well as to the interior talus of a work, (for it is feldom done except in a case of necessity) the berm must be three feet in breadth, otherwise there will not be fufficient hold; and in a fandy foil it may be also advisable to have recourse to anchors. These stakes must be of equal length, one foot distant from each other, two feet deep in the ground, and driven with a flope proportionate to that of the parapet.—That this may be done with eafe and regularity, a certain number of them ought first to be placed at the distance of three or four feet from each other, to guide the direction of those which are to fill up the intermediate spaces.—The embrafures and banquettes ought in all cases to have a revetement of fascines or turf: which latter method is particularly advantageous for the embrasures, because it cannot be fet on fire.

§ 332. WHENEVER a sufficient quantity of turf or clods can be procured, a revetement formed according to the 279th paragraph, will make ample amends for a scarcity of wood, if they have a slope of at least one foot in five, to enable them to support the weight of the parapet.

CHAPTER XII.

Batteries.

§ 333. THE word battery has three fignifications,

Ist. It implies a number of cannon placed together in the open field, without either parapet or platform.

2dly. The small platforms for single cannon in retrenchments; and,

3dly. The platforms which are formed for heavy artillery in fortresses and sieges. But as this belongs immediately to the service of the artillery, I shall pass over it, and only take the first and second into confideration.—

fideration.—Batteries in field-works, are again divided into two kinds: that is to fay, (1), they may be formed with embra-fures; or (2), the earth may be raised so as to enable you to fire over the parapet *.

§ 334. If none but regimental field-pieces are to be made use of in a work (as is generally the case), nothing more is necessary than that the ground should be levelled where they stand; or perhaps, in some cases, that a few beams or sleepers should be placed under them, according to either of the following methods.

§ 335. (1). WHEN much expedition is required, you may take three planks of about eight or nine feet in length, and let them into the ground till they are level with its furface; Pl. 13, fig. 1.—Upon these, the wheels and trail of the gun will rest, both when it is fired and after its recoil. But if the soil should be very soft, it may be also necessary to rest the planks

[•] This is usually termed a barbet-battery.—Translator.

upon

upon strong wooden pickets, of two, three, or four feet in length.

In either case, pickets should be driven down on each side, for the purpose of fixing them in their proper places; as may be seen by sig. 1, 2, and 3.

§ 336. (2). If the cannon should be very heavy, two strong beams must be buried in the earth; as before described; (Pl. 13, fig. a; a, b): and the trail will rest either upon a third beam (c,d), or upon a common plank.

§ 337. (3). The third method requires more time and materials.—When the place on which each cannon is to stand, has been carefully levelled; you must let three or four beams or sleepers into the earth, (Pl. 13, fig. 3 and 5); fix them as before described, either with or without a foundation of pickets, according to the nature of the soil (fig. 4, a a; and fig. 6, dd); and then add a covering of boards.—These boards

boards may be fastened either with nails or wooden pegs.

The length and breadth of the platforms will of course depend upon the size of the cannon: for regimental field-pieces they are usually about sixteen seet in length by six or eight in breadth; and for 12, 18, or 24 pounders, about twenty-four seet by ten.

§ 338. If the cannon are to be occafionally fired in an oblique direction, the platforms must be broader behind than in the front (Pl. 13, fig. 5). In general, a difference of *four* or *fix* feet is fully sufficient.

§ 339. WHEN the fire is to be entirely confined to one small object; such as a ford, hollow-way, &c. the front of the platforms may be sunk about fix or eight inches: which will diminish the effect of the recoil, and enable you to bring up your cannon with more ease (fig. 6, b c). But if you wish to fire obliquely, this method is inadmissible: because it would alter the direction

tion of the piece, and make it impossible for you to take a regular aim.

Whenever the front of a platform is lowered, a strong piece of wood should be placed as at e^* , about fx inches from the parapet, to receive the first shock, when the cannon is fired; and to guard it against the pressure of the wheels.

§ 340. The genouillere a, b, c, d, fig. 9, or that part of the parapet between the platform and the embrasure, is from $2\frac{1}{2}$ to $3\frac{1}{2}$ feet in height; as the cannon may require. The embrasure is $1\frac{1}{2}$ or 2 feet in width at the platform, by 5, 6, or 7 feet on the outside, to give you a more ample command of country, and its bottom is also lowered about a foot towards the field; (cb, fig. 9).—Consequently it will be only $1\frac{1}{2}$, 2, or $2\frac{1}{4}$ feet above the edge of the ditch.

* The artillery call this piece of wood a hurter, from the French word heurtoir. It is usually nine feet in length, and about nine or ten inches in thickness.—Translater.

Vol. I.

 \mathbf{X}

§ 341.

§ 341. THE merlon b, d, e, f, fig. 8, must be at least fix feet thick, otherwise it will not resist the shot which may be fired against it *.

§ 342. In general, powder magazines are only formed behind batteries of heavy artillery; but in some cases they may be equally necessary in field works.—They are usually holes dug in the ground, lined with boards or straw, and covered with planks and earth.—Their entrances are made in the rear, and in general, (especially if the soil is swampy) the barrels are placed upon square pieces of wood or benches. Pl. 13, sig. 7.

If, at the same time, it should be necessary to make such magazines bomb-proof; they must be first covered with strong beams bc, afterwards, with two rows of fascines, and lastly, with at least two feet depth of earth. Or, instead of fascines, a

covering

To avoid an unnecessary repetition of the latter part of the 231st paragraph, I have here omitted a few lines of the original work.—Translator.

covering of straw, of ten or twelve inches in thickness, will be found to answer the same purposes, and perhaps its superior elasticity may make them still more secure.

§ 343. (2). BARBET - BATTERIES are much used in Field Fortification, and approved by many officers of experience.

A parapet without embrasures will undoubtedly withstand the fire of the enemy's artillery better than any other, and enable you, at the same time, to fire in any direction: but, on the other hand, it will neither afford the cannon nor their men a sufficient defence, according to the present mode of attack; because the gabions, which are usually placed upon the parapet for that purpose, are by no means capable of resisting a cannonade.

§ 344. For these reasons, Lalways disapprove of barbet-batteries, except when a work is formed upon an uncommanded height; or when the ground slopes from X 2 it,

it, so as to keep it entirely out of the reach of a horizontal fire.

§ 345. THE platforms in a barbet-battery must be raised with earth, as high as is necessary to enable you to fire over the parapet, and their dimensions will depend entirely upon the size of the cannon, their recoil, and the different directions in which it may be necessary to fire them.—The appareille a, b, c, d, sig. 12, is made for the convenience of drawing up the cannon to the parapet.

These platforms are sometimes made on the sides of a work, but generally at the salient angles. In that case, a part of them must be cut off, as at e, f, g.

§ 346. SUNK batteries are extremely useful upon heights which are exposed to the fire of artillery, and wherever our position is higher than that of the enemy. During their formation, the workmen are sufficiently covered, a very considerable part of the usual labour is saved by the natural ground,

ground, and a ditch is altogether unnecessary; because the upper part of the parapet may be formed with the earth which has been dug up within the work.—And when completed, their peculiar advantages are equally obvious.—In the first place, the artillery and their men are in great measure concealed; 2dly, the outside of the parapet is not more than half as high as usual; and lastly, they give an excellent horizontal fire.

The Austrians formed several of these batteries upon the rocks at Plauen near Dresden, in the year 1759.

§ 347. A RICOCHET battery is made with the usual platforms, and either with or without a ditch. Their only peculiarity consists in the formation of the embrasures: because, as it is only intended that the shot shall form a curve when they come out of the mouths of the cannon, they are cut from the outward edge of the superior talus of the parapet down to the genouillere, genouillere, and are consequently invisible to the enemy, a b, Pl. 13.. fig. 11. And, if howitzes are to be made use of in this method of firing, the same rule is to be adhered to.

Fig. 10, shows the plan of such a battery, and fig. 11, its profile.

§ 348. That the embrafures may not be discovered or aimed at by the enemy's artillery, it is fometimes usual to place blinds in them, even with the exterior talus of the parapet, as foon as the cannon have been fired.—To make these blinds or masks, you must first bore holes in square pieces of wood to receive the pickets, upon which green willow twigs are wattled; and when that is done, they are cut into the exact fhape of the embrafures by means of a model or board.—And, if the enemy's jagers or riflemen are near your battery, the infide of them should be lined with wood, that their shot may not pass thro, while your men are loading the guns.

X

§ 349-

§ 349. In all batteries there should be a small banquette on each side of the embrasures, that the men who are employed at the guns may be able to see the effect of their sire. Pl. 13. sig. 8 and 10, gg; and sig. 12, b.

§ 350. WHENEVER the enemy's shells come within your batteries or retrenchments *, the moveable traverses in Pl. 32 will be extremely useful: because your troops can always find sufficient shelter by running round to one of the opposite sides.—For instance, if they should fall into a or b, they will be in security in c: and vice versa.

Fig. 6, shows the construction of the frames, which are placed about five feet as funder to receive fascines of eighteen feet in length; and fig. 7, their position after they have been filled †.

END OF THE FIRST VOLUME.

[·] See Vol. VI. Chap. IX. - Author.

⁺ A more enlarged description of batteries in general, and of the use of artillery, may be found in the fifth Vol. of my Account of the WAR, &c. Chap. VII.—Author.

TAB. I. AND TAB. II.

The Proportions which the Feet and other similar Meafures in the undermentioned Places bear (1.), to the *Pié* Royal, or Paris Foot, when divided into 1,440 Parts, and (11.), to the Rhineland Foot when divided into 1,000 Parts.

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	I. Proportions to the Paris foot.	Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Aix-la-Chapelle Alexandria -	The foot The ordinary	1,285	923 6
Michaudila -	The large	1,533	1,101 7
Amsterdam -	The mean of ele- ven inches -	1,258	904 📆
· /	The fmall	1,253	900 5
. (The rood	16,315	11,726 2
Anspach	The foot	1,320	948 7
Antioch		1,892	1,359 1 4
Antorf		1,265	909 70
Antworp		1,266	909 %
Augsburg		1,313	943 7
Avignon		. 1,100	790 10
Babylon	The half cubitus } facrus }	1,633	1,173 7
·	The fmall	1,631	1,172 1 0
Vol. I	Y.	`	Balil

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	II. Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Bafil {	The foot	1,322	950 3
pan {	The rood	21,152	15,202 7
•	The large foot -	1,294	930
Bavaria }	The mean	1,280	920
ι	The fmall	986	708 7
Berlin	The common -	1,373	986 3
Bern		1,300	934 10
Befançon		1,371	985 4
Bologna		1,682 6	1,200 10
Brabant		1,266	909 3
Brunfwick - {	The large	1,265	909 10
Brumwick - {	The fmall	1,260	905
Bremen {	The large	1,288	925
Bremen {	The finall	1,282	921 4
Brescia	Braccio	2,075	1,491 4
Breflau{	The large	1,266	909
Breslau{	The small	1,260	905 6
Briel {	The large	1,486	1,068
Puer {	The small	1,475	1,060
Danishan S	The large	1,226	881 -2
Bruges{	The fmall	1,113	800
Bruffels	The foot	1,290	927 30
Burgundy		1,513	1,087
Buxtehude -		1,290	927 10
Cagliari	Palma	898	645 40
Cairo	Derab	2,459	1,767
	I .		1

Calenberg

-						1
Towns, Countries, &	cc.	The Fe	iot, &e		Proportions to the Paris foot.	Proportions to the Rhine-land foot.
Calenberg Carrara - Castello -	-{	The foot The rood Palma The foot	-	-	1,295 20,736 1,081 1,370 1,253	930 18 14,903 18 776 985 900 18
Castile -	-{	Palmos The rood Toefas	-		940 3,710 7,518	675 6 2,666 1 5,403 1 6
China -	1	The field- Kongpu, of builders Mathemat The Merce	or the foot ical	}	1,417 1,431 1,477 1,500	1,018 1/8 1,028 1/8 1,061 1/6 1,078 1/8
Cleves -		The foot	_	_	1,310	941 10
Cologne -	-	•		_	1,220	876.2
Constantinopl	le {	The large The small	·•	•	3,140	2,256 3 2,242 3
Copenhagen	-{	The large	foot -	-	1,391-3	93316
Cracow -	-{	The large The fmall	-	-	1,580	1,135 16
Denmark	F	The large The mean The fmall The rood The fathor	-		1,403 10 1,391 10 1,399 13,913 8,347 10	1,008 7 1,000 933 6 1,000 6,000
	•	Y	2	•		Danzig

Foot - foot - foot - foot - arge - mean - inall -		I. Proportions to the Paris foot. 1,275 1,272 19,080 1,392 1,583 1,596	11. Proportions to the Rhine-land foot. 916 4 914 7 13,713 4 13,713 7 13,
foot - arge -	1 1 1 1 1	1,272 19,080 1,392 1,583	914 ² 6 13,713 ⁴ 6 1,000 ¹ 6 1,137 ⁸ 6
arge - mall - oot - arge - mean - pace - athom - rod of two tes -		1,460 1,050 1,275 1,255 2,459 1,313 1,351 6 1,350 6,758 8,109 6 13,516 22,300	1,049 10 754 10 916 10 902 1,767 10 943 10 971 10 970 10 4,857 10 5,828 10 9,714 10 16,027 10
		4,054 ** 1,251 17,514 1,313 12,150 2,430	2,914 3 899 3 6 12,587 3 6 8,730 3 6 1,746 3 6 1,854 3 6
	ces - coole - coot - cood -	ces	res 13,510 poole 22,300 pard 4,054

Franconia

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &cc.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	II. Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Franconia - {	The foot	1,391 3	1,000
	The rood	16,696	12,000
. (Royal foot	1,440	1,035
France	Toise, of six royal feet }	8,640	6,210
· t	Perch	25,920	18,629 5
Frankfort on \	The large foot -	1,281	920 7
the Mayne. [The small	1,270	912 5
<u>`</u>	The large	2,163	1,554 10
Geneva}	The small	2,160	1,552 -5
Genoa	Palma	1,113	800
1	The foot	1,085	779 1 6 6
	Pace, according to Piccard -}	8,216 6	5,905 100
	According to Cassini}	8,250	5,929 100
	According to Maupertuis -	8,246	5,926 69
Geometrical -{	The mean, according to Bouguer -	8,223	5,910 16
	The mean, according to Maupertuis	8,223 5	5,910 100
	According to both the means	8,223 2	5,910 31
	The old foot	1,460	1,049 1
Germany -	The common la- } bourers foot - \$	1,263	907 10
•	Y 3		Gibraltar

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.		Proportions to the Paris foot.	II. Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
63. 1	The Control			
Gibraltar	The foot -	-	1,253	900 10
Gieffen		~	1,320	948 -7
Goes{	The large -	-	1,329	955 1 6
Contra	The fmall -	-	1,327	953 70
Gotha	The ordinary	-	1,275	916 4
Goettingen -		-	1,290	927 76
Grenoble		· -	1,512	1,086 7
_	The large -	-	1,449 10	1,042
Greece{	The mean -	-	1,358	976 -
l	The fmall -	-	1,350	●970 ³
Groeningen -	The ordinary -	-	1,295	930 15
Haag		-	1,440	1,035
Halle		_	1,320	948 - 7
TT		_	1,270	912 8
Hamburgh - {	The rood -		20,320	14,604
(The large foot	_	1,295	
Hanover - }	The small -	_	1,290	930 18
5 1	The large -	_	1,267	927 16
Harlem}	The small -	_	1,266	910 16
Hebraical	The ancient	_		909 - 3
Herforden -	The ordinary	_	1,590	1,142 8
Heydelberg -	- Columnia	-	1,310	941 1 6
	The ordinary	-	1,235	887 -6
Hildesheim -}	•	-	1,242	892 7
Holstein	The rood	- (19,872	14,282 7
TAOMENT	The foot	•	1,323	950 28
			•	

Inspruck

promise to the territory			
Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	II. Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Inspruck{	The large The finall The rood	1,408 1,407 28,350	1,012 1,011 $\frac{3}{16}$ 20,376 $\frac{2}{10}$
Italy{	The geometrical foot}	1,231	884 10
Koenigsberg {	The ordinary - The finall	1,364 1,363	980 fo 979 fo
Leiden	The ordinary - The large	1,390	999 1,004 1
Leipzig	The mean The finall	1,252	899 1 8
Lions	The builders The ordinary -	1,253	900 1 6 1,088 2 6
Lisbon	The large The finall Palmos crav	1,501 1,387 1,000 1/2	1,078 ³ 5 996 ³ 6 719 1 6
L	The finall palmos The large foot	972 1,266	698 1. 909 1.
Louvain - { London*, see E	The fmall	1,265	909 2
· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	The large	1,291	927 💏
T	The mean	1,291	92/18
Lottringen -	The small	1,270	912 10
L	The rood	19,840	14,259 70

Here I have omitted some lines, and refer my readers to the word.

England "to avoid unnecessary repetition.—Translator.

Y 4

Lubeck

•	·	·	
Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	Proportions to the Rhine-land foot.
Lubeck	The foot	1,290	927 - 7 - 7
Luneburg -{		1,290	927 2
٠ (The rood	20,640	14,834 7
Liege	The foot	1,275	916 4
Magdeburg -		1,257	903-4-
Manheim		1,286	924 1 8
Mantua	Braccio	2,062	1,482 -
Maffon	The foot	1,482	1,065 -2
Maestrick		1,245	,894 18
Mayence		1,335	959 -5
Malines		1,239	890-5
Mecklenburg -		1,290	927 -2
Mellen		1,238	889 - 3
Middelburg -{	The large	1,336	960 -2
l	The fmall	1,330	955 - 30
Milano {	The foot	1,760	1,265
l	Braccio	2,166	1,556 -
Moscow	The foot	1,483	1,065-%
ſ	The large	1,274	915 7
Mumpelgard {	The finall	1,273	914 %
l	The rood	20,384	14,650-6
Munchen -{	The large foot -	1,280	920
	The small	986	708 -7
Naples	Palma	1,169	840 2
Neufchatel -	The foot	1,330	955 3
Numberg -{		1,347	968.10
	The rood	21,552	15,490
			l .

Oldenburg

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
. Oldenburg	The foot	1,313	943-7
Ofnabrug		1,238	889
Padua		1,570	1,128,4
Palermo	Palma	1,073	7712
Paris *, see Fran	ice.		'' ''
Parma	Braccio	2,423	1,741 -5
Pavia		2,080	1,495
Persia	Arish	4,310	3,097 7
Piacenza	Braccio	2,423	1,741 5
Pommerania -	The foot	1,295	930-8
D (Barros	5,016	3,606
Portugal{	Cavidos	3,060	2,199 1
Prague	The foot	1,338	961-7
Ratzeburg -		1,290	927 -2
Reggio	Braccio	2,348 -5	1,687 3
<i>7</i> • (The foot	1,391 3	1,000
Rhine, &c{	The rood	16,696	12,000
Riga	The foot	1,215	873 3
Rimini	Braccio	2,410	1,732 2
Rival	The foot	1,187	853
ſ	The ancient	1,403 10	1,008 7
Rome	The large foot of Veipasian, of which 625 make a stadium	1,571 .2 6	1,129 %

[•] Here some lines are omitted, to avoid a repetition of what the author has annexed to "France."—Translator.

Rome

-							
Towns, Countries, &c.		Т	he Foot	i, de		Proportions to the Paris foots	Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Rome -		cit The	fmall ent foo new builde)t - _	- } -	1,320 1,306 9,900	948 7. 938 7. 7,115 1.
	1	The	large . ſmall			990 977	711 1 1 8 702 1 6
Rostock -	-	The	foot	_	-	1,282	921
Rotterdam	-	_		_	-4	1,385	995 👈
Rouen -		-	-		_	1,200	862 10
	ſ	The	large	_	_	3,187	2,290 6
Ruffia -	1	I .	fmall	-	•	2,386	1,714 2
Kuina	- {	The	Englis	ſh -	_	1,350	970 13
	L	The	Rhine	land	_	1,391 3	1,000
Saxony -	-	The	rood	-	_	19,004	13,658 -
Samos -	-	The	foot	-	-	1,534	1,102 5
Sardinia	S	Palm	a di S	ardeg	na	1,113	7 800
	l		sa di C	_	ri	898	645
Savoy &	S	ľ	large :	foot	-	· I,211	87014
•	l	The	ſmall	-	-	1,200	862 3
Silessa -	-	The	rood	•	-	19,147	13,761 🚣
Scotland -	-	The	foot	-	-	1,359	976 8
	ſ	1	large	-	-	1,320	948 7
Sweden	J	The	fmall	-	-	1,316	945 18
P. It Amore		The	fathon	n -	-	7,896	5,675
	L	l	rood	-	-	21,056	15,133 7
Switzerland	-	The	foot	-	-	1,330	955 16
Şedan -	-	-	-			1,230	884
							Siam

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	Proportions to the Paris foot.	Proportions to the Rhine- land foot,
Siam	Ken	4,260	3,061
Spain	The foot Palmos	1,253	900 4
Spani	Toefas	940	675
Stade	The foot	7,518	5,403 15
Stettin	The loot,	1,290	927 70
Stockholm -		1,253	9∞ ಕ್ಕ
Stockholli -	The	1,316	94518
Same Comment	The country	1,309	940 1 6
Strasburg	The town	1,282 7	921 70
C	The fmall	1,240	891 2
Stuttgard	The foot	1,268	91170
Toledo{	The large	1,253	900 10
L	The fmall	1,206 6	867 -
Turin{	Braccio	2,270	1,631 -5
· ·	The foot	1,432	1,029 TE
Ulm{	The large	1,350	970
L	The fmall	1,281	920 7
Urbano	The foot	1,570	1,128 4
Utrect {	The large	1,210	869 7.
L	The fmall	1,209	868 😷
Venice	The foot	1,540	1,106 %
Verden		1,290	927 = 25
Verona		1,540	1,106.%
Vienne	The fmall	1,430	1,027 \$
Vienna {	The large	1,420	1,020 6
rienna{	The fmall	1,400	1,006 12
	i		

Wittenberg

Towns, Countries, &c.	The Foot, &c.	I. Proportions to the Paris foot.	II. Proportions to the Rhine- land foot.
Wittenberg -	The foot	1,255	902
Wurtenberg -	The large rood - The fmall Rhine- land D°	1,304 20,870 16,696	937 1 6 15,000 12,000
Zelle	The foot	1,290	927 2
Zirik-zee -{	The large The fmall The large foot -	1,376 1,374 1,340	988 9 987 5 963 1
Zurick{	The mean The fmall The fathom The rood	1,331 1,330 8,260 13,300	956 78 955 18 5,936 78 9,559 18

REMARKS upon these TABLES.

I.

A LINE, a superficies, or a solid, may be divided into any number of parts; and the size of those parts will always be proportionate to their number, provided they are all equal.

II.

THE foot, when confidered as a line, may be either decimally or duodecimally divided: first into 10 inches, each inch into 10 lines, and each line into 10 parts; or, secondly, into 12 inches, each inch into 12 lines, and each line into 10 parts.—The former, however, is the most usual and convenient method.

III.

THE Paris foot is longer than the Rhineland foot, and when the former is divided into 1440 parts, the latter will only contain 1391 3. Therefore, as 1391 3 are to 1440, so is the Rhineland to the Parisian foot, and vice versa.

In,

326 REMARKS upon these TABLES.

In Geometrical proportions, the product of the two Extremes is equal to the product of the Means; consequently, 13913 Par. feet = 14400 Rhin. feet.—

Therefore the Par. foot is = $\frac{14400}{13913}$ Rhin. foot, or $\frac{447}{13913}$ Rh. foot; and, on the other hand, the Rh. foot is = $\frac{13913}{13400}$ Par. foot.

By the decimal arithmetic, the Par. foot will be equal to $1 + \frac{3}{1000}$ Rh. foot, and the Rhin. foot will be equal to $\frac{36618}{10000}$ Par. foot.

Duodecimally, the Par. foot is equal to 1 Rh. foot, o Inches, 5 Lines, and $\frac{4}{10}$ of a Part; and the Rh. foot is equal to 0 Par. foot, 11 Inches, 7 Lines, and 1 $\frac{3}{10}$ of a Part.—And Decimally, the Par. foot is equal to 1 Rhin. foot, 0 Inches, 3 Lines, and 5 Parts; and the Rhin. foot is equal to 0 Par. foot, 9 Inches, 6 Lines, 6 Lines, 1 Parts.

IV.

IN Tab. I, the measures are compared with the Par. foot when duodecimally divided into 1440 parts; and in Tab. II, with the Rhin. foot when decimally divided into 1000 parts.

٧.

As 1373 : 1220

or,

As 986 * 876 *

REMARKS upon these TABLES. 327

= 1220 Ber. seet, or that 986 $\frac{1}{10}$ Col. seet = 876 $\frac{1}{10}$ Ber. seet.—Consequently, a Berlin soot will be equal to $\frac{1373}{1220}$ C, soot; or to $\frac{986\frac{1}{10}}{876\frac{1}{10}}$ C. seet; or to $\frac{11000}{100000}$ C. seet,

Or fecondly,

As 1270: 1290
or,

As 912 $\frac{8}{10}$: 927 $\frac{2}{10}$ Therefore 1270 Goet. feet

1290 Ham. feet, or 912 $\frac{8}{10}$ Goet. feet = 927 $\frac{3}{10}$ Ham. feet.

Hence I Hamb. foot = $\frac{1270}{1290}$ G. feet; or to $\frac{912\frac{3}{10}}{927\frac{2}{10}}$ G. feet; or to $\frac{9145}{10000}$ G. feet.

Vİ.

The measures in the first table have been selected from various works, but particularly from Krusen's Hamburgischem Contoristen, and from the "Recueil de "Tables

328 REMARKS upon these TABLES.

"Tables Logarithmiques, Trigonometriques et autres Ne"ceffaires dans les Mathematiques Pratiques," &c. de
Berlin; and whenever I have found a difference in the
accounts, I have marked them under the heads of
Large, Mean, and Small.—Their proportions to the
Rhineland foot have also been made with the greatest
accuracy.

TABLE

T A B L E III.

A Comparative View of the Measures of different . Countries.

Ells.	PLACES.	Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The ELL.	Aix-la-Chapelle -	2,960
	Alexandria	3,000
	Altona {	3,06 5 2,540
	Amsterdam {	3,150 3,060
	Anspach	2,720
	Antwerp {	3,078 3,034
•	Augsburg {	2,702 2,626
	Bamberg	3,235
	Bantzen, or Budissen -	2,553
	Bayreuth	2,662
	Berlin	2,956
	Brabant	3,065
	Brunswick	2,530
	Bremen	2,564
	Breslaw - {	² ,553 2,438
	Cairo	3,000
¥or. I.	i z	Carlíb ad

ELLS.	Places.	Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The ELL.	Carlíbad {	3,002
		2,623
	Cassel	2,488
	Coblentz	2,474
	Cologne {	3,080
	l	2,545
The Pik.	Constantinople - {	2,966
The ELL.		2,872
I HC LLL.	Copenhagen	2,782
	Cracau -	2,735
•	Danzig	2,544
	Drefden - {	2,509
•	Dublin	2,506
		5,069
•	Edinburgh	4,212
	Elbingen	2,505
	Emden	2,972
•	Linnen	5,069
	England \ Woollen	3,110
	L Tapestry	3,041
	Erfurth {	2,437
		1,790
	Erlangen	2,924
	Frankfort on the Mayne }	2,392
•	Frankfort on the Oder	2,941
	Freyberg {	2,512
	1.0,000	2,506
		1 Geneva

Ells.	Places.	Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The Ell.	Geneva {	5,275
	Cardian	5,070
	Goerlitz	2,499
	Goettingen	2,588
	Hague	3,060
	Halle {	2,956
		2,532
	Hamburg }	3,065
	Hanover -	2,540 2,580
		2,580
	Hoff {	2,506
The Pik.	Jerusalem	3,041
The ELL.	Inspruc	3,485
	Ireland.	See England.
	Konigsberg	2,548
The Pik.	Lacedemonia	2,027
The ELL.	Langenfalza	2,562
New Ell.	Leipzig	2,506
	Lauben	2,499
The ELL.	Leiden	3,028
	Lions	5,205
	Lubec	2,558
	London	See England.
	Luneburg	2,580
	Liege -	2,445
	Magdeburg	2,956
	Z 2	Malt

Ells.	Places.	Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The ELL.	Malta	0.005
THE ELL.	Manheim	9,935
	Mantua	2,47 3 2,062
		-
	Morocco	2,233
	Marseilles	5,187
mi C	Mayence	2,433
The Cobid	ľ	3,041
The ELL.	Malines	3,034
	Minden	2,566
	Modena	2,838
	Moscow 5 -	3,154
	Munchen	3,701
•	Munster	3,584
	Naumburg	2,506
	Neuenburg in Swit- { zerland {	4,932
	Norway	2,782
	Nurenberg	2,924
	Ostend	3,100
	Silk	5,275
* (Paris Cloth	5,264
	Linnen -	5,240
	Parma	2,423
	C Royal -	4,190
	Persia Common -	2,793
	Poland	2,735
	l	Pragu

Ells.	Places.	Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The ELL.	Prague	2,619
•	Presburg	2,474
	Regensburg	3,595
The Pik.	Rhodes	3,351
The ELL.	Riga	2,430
CANNE.	For the Measure-	9,264
BRACCIO.	For the Meajure- ment of Linnens	2,814
CANNE.	7	8,820
Braccio.	In Commerce -	3,759
PALMA.	Rome	1,103
	-	990
. '		977
OLD ELL.	lil	2,640
	Rostock	2,564
,	Rotterdam	3,060
Arschine.	Russia	3,154
The ELL.	Salzburg \ \ \frac{Silk}{7} -	3,559
<u> </u>	Saizburg { Linnen -	4,458
Rasi -	Sardinia {	2,433
Palma -	Sardinia {	1,113
Rasi -	Savoy -	2,433
The ELL.	Silesia	2,553
	Scotland	See England.
	Sweden	2,632
	Switzerland	2,662
CANNE -	Sicily {	8,584
PALMA -	1	1,073
	Z ₃	Smirna

Elis.	PLACES.		Compared with the Paris Foot, when divided into 1440 Parts.
The Pik.	Smirna -	-	2,966
The ELL.	Speyer _	-	2,440
	Stade -	-	2,580
	Stettin -	-	2,885
•	Stockholm -	-	2,632
	Stralfund -	-	2,580
	Strafburg	5	5,272
	Stratburg	1	2,386
	Straubingen -	-	3,585
	Thoren -	_	2,525
CANNE.	Toulon -	_	8,596
The ELL.	Treves -	_	2,474
The Pik.	Tanlan	6	2,966
THE TIM.	Turky	$\{ $	2,873
Rasi -	Turin -	-	2,674
The ELL.	Ulm -	_	2,520
BRACCIO.	Wanisa S Woollen	_	2,956
DAACCIO.	Venice { Silk -	-	2,782
New Ell.	Warfaw -	_	2,735
The ELL.	Vienna -	-	3,445
	Wissmar -	_	2,584
	 Wittenberg	5	2,985
	1	$\{ $	2,506
	Wurzburg -	-	2,573
•	Zelle -	-	2,580
	Zittau	-	2,526
	Zurich -	-	2,660
	ł	ł	Masfirms

Measures

Germany.
<u>.</u>
Mines
the
\$
peculiar
leafures

	g Ells.	Lines.	3 1000	8 16	5.484	4 2 4 8	8 9 8 1	6 1500	1 5 6 I	117
	According to Leipzig Ells.	Inches.	12	0	13 5	13	9		11	
T S.	Accordin	Ells. I	٤	<u>ო</u>	<u>က</u>	, w	8	n	<i>ب</i>	8
CONTEN	afures.	Lines.	31000	11 305	4 1000	3 19	1 100		3 100	2 1 8
၁	According to Paris Meafures.	Inches.	н	11	el	61	II	01	ı	1
	ording to	Feet.		5	1	1	8	ላ	1	1
	Acc	Toifes.	H	i	H	н	١	1	H	H
			In Freyberg, according to Weidlerm, Oppel, and Kastnerm, 6 1550000		u I	According to the Supposition of others, 6,40,500 Rhin. Feet	<u> </u>		In Joachimstal, according to Weid- Lerm, 6 13500 Rhin. Feet -	According to the Supposition of others, 6 12002 Rhin. Feet -
			•	E K *	TI	Y C F	T =	PUL Te	•	

• The Lachter is nearly equivalent to an English Fathom. TRANSLATOR.

Z 4

TABLE

TABLE IV.

A Comparative View of the Miles in different Countries.

NAMES OF PLACES.	The Mile, &c.	The Paris foot = 1412 1414	The Rhineland foot $= \frac{1391}{1440}$	Common Paces of Equator = 15 Ge- 7 Parifian feet. ographical M.les, or 341,656 Par. Ft.	10,000 parts of a Degree of the Rquator == 15 Go- ographical M.les, or 341,656 Par. Ft.
ALEXANDRIA -	The Stadium - {	805	833	345 270 3	0.0023
J	The large	21,737	22,498	9,3154	0.0634
} VIIVETU	The fmall	19,100	19,768	8,1855	0.0557
	The large mile -	011,11	11,499	4,7613	0.0324
April	The mean	6,046	6,258	2,5917	0.0176
- > VIGANT	1	5,135	5,315	2,2003	0.0150
	The finall	3,625	3,752	1,5537	9010.0
Archory	The large mile -	42,795	44,292	18,3407	0.1250
~	The finall	42,251	43,730	18,107	0.1233
	The large	36,810	38,100	15,7755	0.1074
BAVARIA \	The mean	26,335	27,257	11,2867	0.0768
~	The finall	22,577	23,367	9,675	0.0659

•	•	The large			,	
BOHEMIA -	ا ب		23,941	24,779	10,2603	0.0600
ı	~	I he imali	20,1 28	20.843	8 6004	
Boulogne -		The mile		Ct. ()-	40500	0.0588
British			5,481	5,673	2,349	09100
DKANDENBURG		1 , 1	24.087	26.010		
BRUNSWICK -	,	1	1-100	717600	14,9947	0.1021
Ruscins		1	32,594	33,735	13,968	0,0941
POTORIA E		Inc Leucas	19,324	20,000	\$ 200	7
BURGUNDY		The mile	1 1 0	,	410760	4050.0
	•	F	1/2391	18,000	7,4537	80300
CATALONIA	~	I ne large	19,602	20,288	8.400	0 0
	~	The fmall	811.41	1	Lankin	7/50.0
		1 1 1 0 0 0 1 L	0116/1	17,717	7,3367	0.0500
	_	I lie great Ly -	1,7713	1,8337	7503	0.00.0
	_	The fmall I'v -	1 110	2	1667	760010
CHINA	<u>~</u>	The D.	6 #+c•	1,500	621	0.0042
	_	1 111 F 4 11	14,493	15,600	6,2113	0.0423
	ر	I he Can	144,028	10000	, 01109	- 6
	•	The large			711670	0.4230
Druger -		Tic raige	52,854	54,704	22,651\$	0.1542
	~	I ne mean	34,236	35,435	14,6724	0.1000
	7	The fmall -	00.00			
Haven	,	The CL	23,100	24,000	9,937	0.0677
•	-	דווכ מנשמכנום	24,154	25,000	10,3515	50200
				•		

The Paris Foot The Rhineland = $\frac{1440}{1444}$ Foot = $\frac{139^{1\frac{1}{2}}}{1440}$ e Mile -		The Paris Foot = \frac{1440}{1444} 5,250 4,956 4,693 5,710\frac{2}{7} 17,132 19,020 19,324 5,349
Mile - Mile - an of I Do of [ards -] 1e, or 3 }	The H	The Mill, &c. The large Mile - The mean of of the final Doof of the final final of the
1 00 5 7 7 7 8 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	The lar The 1760 The Sea It Sea It Sea It The Le It Sea It The It	

						J
NAMES OF PLACES.	The Mile, &G	The Paris Foot = 1440	The Rhineland Foot	Common Paces of Equator = 15 Ge- ² Parifian Feet. ographical Miles. or342,636 Par. F.	ommon Paces of Equator = 15 Ge- g Parifian Feet. orgaphical Miles, or 342,636 Par. Ft.	7
GOTHLAND {	The large Mile -	45,648	.47,246	19,5637	0.1332	
7	The fmall	28,530	29,528	12,227.7	0.0833	
GRISONS	The Mile	42,795	44,292	18,3407	0.1250	
	The Stadium _	6 04	625	2587	0.0017	
Greece .	ן וור סנמתותווו	473	489	202	0.0014	
HAMBURG	The Mile	23,118	24,000	9,937	0.0677	
HESSE	1	31,072	32,160	13,3167	0.0907	
	The large	23,188	24,000	9,937	0.0677	
•		21,397	22,146	9,170;	0.0625	
HOLLAND {	The mean	18,033	18,664	7,7287	0.0526	
		17,387	17,995	7,451\$	0.0508	
	The fmall	17,118	17,717	7,3367	0.0500	
HUNGARY	The large Mile -	34,236	35,434	14,672‡	0001.0	

HUNGARY IAPAN INDIA INDOSTAN IRELAND ITALY	w min		Mile	~ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	25,698 24,454 19,603 11,584 11,421 11,584 8,566 7,608 7,288 6,847 5,711 5,711	26,597 25,310 20,289 11,989 11,989 8,866 7,876 7,543 7,087 5,907 5,906	11,0137 10,4807 8,4017 4,8947 4,9647 3,6717 3,1237 2,9347 2,4457 2,4457	0.0714 0.0572 0.0572 0.0333 0.0338 0.0230 0.0222 0.0213 0.200 0.0166
LAPLAND LIVONIA LITHUANIA	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	The fmall The large The fmall The large	1 4 1 1		18,007 15,216 22,012 19,020 27,536	18,637 15,749 22,782 19,685 28,500	7,717 1 6,521 1 9,433 1 8,151 1 11,8017	0.0525 0.0444 0.0642 0.0555 0.0804

NAMES OF PLACES.	The Mile, &c.		The Paris Foot = 1440	The Rhineland Foot = 13914	Common Paces of 7 Paristan Feet.	The Rhineland Common Paces of Equator = 15914 2 Parinan Peet. graphical Miles, or 342,636 Par. Ft.
		T	00, 10	28 4 50	11.780+	0.0802
	The mean	~	22,824	23,623	9,7815	9990.0
LITHUANIA - {	1		19,563	20,248	8,384	0.0571
	The fmall -	ı	17,118	17,717	7,3367	0.0500
London	1666 + Yards	•	4,693	4,857	2,0117	0.0137
The Circle of I Lower RHINE	The Mile -	ı	19,324	20,000	8,2815	0.0563
	The large	ı	33,012	34,168	14,148	0.0963
Moravia }	The fmall -	,	28,530	29,529	12,2277	0.0833
MILAN	The Mile -	t	5,187	5,369	2,223	0.0151
Modera	,	,	5,187	5,369	2,223	0.0151
NAPLES	•	ı	5,187	5,369	2,223.	0.0151
	The Hour -	ı	17,422	18,032	7,466‡	0.0508.
NETHERLANDS - 4	The Sea Mile	•	17,132	17,731	7,3427	0.0500

Norway -		The Mile	28,986	30,000	12,422	0.0846
NURENBERG		1	24,155	25,000	10,4247	0.0705
PARIS .	•	The Hour Mile -	13,694	14,173	5,8685	0.0399
PARMA -	•	The Mile	5,187	5,369	2,223	0.0151
	_	Farfangas	18,116	18,750	7,764	0.0529
Desert	$\overline{}$	The small Mile -	17,132	17,731	7,3427	0.0500
- Visua -		Paralangas	15,418	15,958	6,607	0.0450
•	_		15,406	15,945	6,602‡	0.0450
	_	The large	19,179	19,850	8,219‡	0.0560
Portan		The mean	17,132	17,731	7,3427	0.0500
• OFFICE			811,71	17,717	7,3367	0.0500
	_	The double	34,236	35,434	14,6727	0.1000
PORTUGAL -	4 ;	The Mile	20,554	21,273	8,808,	0090:0
		The large	26,335	27,257	11,2867	69200
PRUSSIA .	~	The mean	25,409	26,299	10,8894	0.0742
		\	24,206	25,053	10,374	0.0707
	-	The fmall	23,850	24,685	10,2213	9690.0

NAMES OF PLACES.		The Mile, &c.	The Paris Foot = 1440	The Rhineland Foot 13913	Common Paces of 7 Parifian Feet.	10,000 Parts of a Degree of the Equator = 15Geo- graphical Miles, or 342,636 Par, Ft.
RHODES -	,	The Stadium	449 583	465 318	192 291	0.0013
	-	Vefpafian ->	682 248	706 126	292 29	0,0020
		The ancient Sta- 5	570 746	590 722	244 51	0.0017
ROME -	· · ·	dium {	567	587	243	0.0016
		of 8 Stadia -	4,536	4,695	1,944	0.0133
		The new Mile -	4,755	4,922	2,037	0.0139
0	_	The Mile -	3,622	3,749	1,5527	9010.0
KUSSIA -	~	Werstes of 1500 5	3,290	3,405	1,410	960000
	ب	Arschines 1	3,285	3,400	1,407%	9600.0
SAXONY .	~	of the Ancients, of 33,274 Dref-	976:75	500'09	24,846	2691.0
	_	den Ells -				157.0

0.1373	4 180 . 0	0.0610	0.0560
20,1615	11,9475	8,960‡	8,2324
48,691	28,854	21,640	19,882
47,044	27,878	20,908	19,210
The Common Mile of 27,000 $Dref$ - den Ells \int The mean of	16,000 Drefden Ells, ufed in meafuring the Frontiers, and marked by Mile Stones	The Geographical Mile of 12,000 Drefden Ells, eftablished by Augustus	The hunting Mile of the Elector Augustus, of 11,025 Dresden Ells
	`	1	

Vol. I.

A a

SAXONY -

NAMES OF PLACES.		The Mils, &c.	The Paris Foot = 1440 = 1444	The Rhineland Fox = \(\frac{1391}{1440}\)	Common Paces of Equator 57 Parifian Feet. graphical Miles, or 342,636 Par. Ft.	10,000 Parts of a Degree of the Equator : 15Geo- graphical Miles, or 342,6 36 Par. Ft.
	-	The large Mile -	27,321	28,277	11,709	0.0797
ç		The	24,433	25,288	10,4717	0.0713
VITESIA -	_	THE HICAN	19,945	20,643	8,547	0.0582
	_	The fmall	19,789	20,481	8,481	0.0578
	_	7 11.0 12.2.0 11.18	8,566	8,866	3,6717	0.0250
		I ile large ivilie - {	8,559	8,859	3,668+	0.0250
SCOTLAND	-~	The mean 5	6,847	7,087	2,9347	0.0200
		~	5,797	9,000	2,4843	69100
	نـــ	The fmall	5,586	5,782	2,394	0.0163
SUABIA		The Mile	42,795	44,292	18,34c3	0.1250
Current	<u>ب</u>	The large Mile -	45,563	47,158	19,527	0.1329
Sweden :	~ ·	The finall	32,900	34,052	14,190	0.0960
SWITZERLAND -	_	The Mile	25,764	56,666	11,0415	0.0752
SICILY		•	5,477	8,669	2,3477	09100

0.0240	5.550.0	0.0381	0.0571	00500	0.1332	0.0833	0.6345	8510.0	0.0150	0.0149	0.0141	99100	0.0133	0.0833	0.0952
3,5207	8,1537	5,5937	8,3847	7,3367	19,5637	12,2277	93,169‡	2,3284	2,2024	2,2005	2,0703	2,4457	19,5633	12,2277	13,9747
8,501	169,61	13,509	20,248	17,717	47,246	29,528	225,004	5,625	5,320	5,315	2,000	906,5	47,246	29,528	33,750
8,214	19,025	13,052	19,563	17,118	45,648	28,530	217,395	5,434	5,140	5,135	4,831	5,706	45,648	28,530	32,608
The Ly : -	The Legas -	ot 5000 Varas	The Sea Mile -	The fmall -	The large Mile -	I he imali	I he Mile	1	The large Rerri _ 5	7	The fmall	The Sea	The large	The fmall	The Mile
SINA	,	SPAIN		ر	SUDERMANIA {		ARTARY	•		TURKEY }			UPLAND {	7	WESTPHALIA -

ACCORDING to Dodson's Tables, the proportion of the fractions, $\frac{1+4+0}{1+4+4}$ to $\frac{1+3+1}{1+4+4}$ is considerably nearer the proportion of the Paris to the Rhineland foot, than that of 1440 to 1391; but it is evident that the Calculator has used the latter ratio in this, as well as in the preceding tables.—For instance, as 1440: 1391; :: 833: 805, (the Alexandrian Stadium) and so of others. If the fractions, $\frac{1+4+0}{1+4+4}$ and $\frac{1+3+0}{1+4+0}$ are not misprinted, they are certainly taken from some author, as expressing the ratio of the Paris and Rhineland soot, though not adopted by M. Liebe *; and even that ratio is not so accurate as it might have been.

Another observation may be made on his mode of dividing the Paris foot, as explained in the remarks of Tab. I. and Tab. II; for he there tells you that the Parisian foot may be duodecimally divided into 1440 parts, and to that end he multiplies the 144 lines by 10.—Now, I say, that cannot be deemed duodecimal arithmetic.

I have compressed the Calculator's remarks on Tab. I. and Tab. II. into a narrower compass, but without omitting any useful or explanatory passage; and in the latter part of Tab. III. I have found it equally expedient to reject an account of some ancient measures, as tedious and uninstructive.

Translator.

• See the Author's preface.

Digitized by Google



714



